
 

Download this agenda via the free modern.gov app on your iPad, Android Device 
or Blackberry Playbook.  For information relating to this meeting or to request a 

copy in another format or language please contact: 
Governance Support, Town Hall, Castle Circus, Torquay, TQ1 3DR  

 

Email: governance.support@torbay.gov.uk - www.torbay.gov.uk  

(1) 

 
 

Friday, 18 August 2023 
 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

A meeting of Planning Committee will be held on 
 

Tuesday, 29 August 2023 
 

commencing at 2.00 pm 
 

The meeting will be held in the Burdett Room, Riviera International Conference 
Centre, Chestnut Avenue, Torquay TQ2 5LZ 

 
 

Members of the Committee 

Councillor Jacqueline Thomas (Chairwoman) 

 

Councillor Billings (Vice-Chair) 

Councillor Cowell 

Councillor Mandy Darling 

Councillor Fox 

 

Councillor Joyce 

Councillor Maddison 

Councillor Pentney 

Councillor Tolchard 

 

 

 

Together Torbay will thrive 

https://itunes.apple.com/gb/app/mod.gov/id508417355?mt=8
https://play.google.com/store/apps/details?id=uk.co.moderngov.modgov&hl=en
http://appworld.blackberry.com/webstore/content/26429152/?lang=en&countrycode=GB
mailto:governance.support@torbay.gov.uk
http://www.torbay.gov.uk/


(2) 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
AGENDA 

 
1.   Apologies for absence  
 To receive apologies for absence, including notifications of any 

changes to the membership of the Committee. 
 

2.   Minutes (Pages 4 - 7) 
 To confirm as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting of this 

Committee held on 24 July 2023. 
 

3.   Disclosure of Interests  
 (a) To receive declarations of non pecuniary interests in respect of 

items on this agenda. 

 
For reference: Having declared their non pecuniary interest 
members may remain in the meeting and speak and, vote on 
the matter in question. A completed disclosure of interests form 
should be returned to the Clerk before the conclusion of the 
meeting.  

 
(b) To receive declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests in 

respect of items on this agenda. 

 
For reference: Where a Member has a disclosable pecuniary 
interest he/she must leave the meeting during consideration of 
the item. However, the Member may remain in the meeting to 
make representations, answer questions or give evidence if the 
public have a right to do so, but having done so the Member 
must then immediately leave the meeting, may not vote and 
must not improperly seek to influence the outcome of the 
matter. A completed disclosure of interests form should be 
returned to the Clerk before the conclusion of the meeting.  

 
(Please Note: If Members and Officers wish to seek advice on 
any potential interests they may have, they should contact 
Governance Support or Legal Services prior to the meeting.)  

 
4.   Urgent Items  
 To consider any other items that the Chairman decides are urgent. 

 
5.   Singleton Gardens, Torquay (P/2022/1186) (Pages 8 - 86) 
 Erection of 7 apartments, 2 attached dwellings and 

extensions/refurbishments to an existing dwelling; plus associated 
landscaping and access work. 
 

6.   Molly Malones, Paignton (P/2023/0190) (Pages 87 - 101) 
 Erection of roof canopy with rooflights and glazing to enclose 

existing terrace; construction of WC building; new decking area to 
North and installation of solar panels. 
 
 
 
 



(3) 

7.   43 Thatcher Avenue, Torquay (P/2023/0390) (Pages 102 - 112) 
 Roof alterations from hipped to flat roof, to create first floor 

extension with first floor balcony to the front, replacement 
balustrade to the existing terrace and changes to fenestration. 
 

 Public Speaking  
 If you wish to speak on any applications shown on this agenda, 

please contact Governance Support on 207087 or email 
governance.support@torbay.gov.uk before 11 am on the day of the 
meeting. 
 
We are trialling hybrid meeting arrangements to give registered 
speakers the opportunity to either attend the meeting in person to 
give their views or to attend the meeting remotely via Zoom.  If you 
would like to attend the meeting remotely to speak you will be 
provided with a Zoom link to join the meeting.  We also ask that you 
provide a copy of your speech to 
governance.support@torbay.gov.uk, before 11 am on the day of the 
meeting, so that the Clerk will be able to continue to read out your 
speech if you lose connection or cannot be heard in the physical 
meeting.  Remote attendees who lose connection may still be able 
to follow the meeting via the live stream on the Council’s YouTube 
channel. 
 
Councillors who are not members of the Planning Committee will 
also be able to join the meeting via Zoom and must use their raise 
hand function to declare any interests. 
 

 

 Site Visits  
 If Members consider that site visits are required on any of the 

applications they are requested to let Governance Support know by 
5.00 p.m. on Wednesday, 23 August 2023.  Site visits will then take 
place prior to the meeting of the Committee at a time to be notified. 
 

 

 Live Streaming  
 To encourage more people to engage in our public meetings the 

Council is trialling streaming our Planning Committee meetings on 
our YouTube channel in addition to recording the meetings and 
publishing the recording on our website.  To watch the meeting live 
please visit https://www.youtube.com/user/torbaycouncil. 
 
We are also using hybrid meeting arrangements to enable 
registered speakers to either attend the meeting in person or to 
attend the meeting remotely via Zoom.  Anyone attending the 
meeting remotely must register their intention to do so by 11 
am on the day of the meeting and provide a copy of their 
speech to governance.support@torbay.gov.uk by this deadline.  
If anyone attending the meeting remotely loses connection the 
meeting will continue and their speech will be read out by the Clerk 
and they will have the option to follow the meeting via the YouTube 
live stream. 
 

 

mailto:democratic.services@torbay.gov.uk
mailto:governance.support@torbay.gov.uk
https://www.youtube.com/user/torbaycouncil
mailto:governance.support@torbay.gov.uk


  
 

 

Minutes of the Planning Committee 
 

24 July 2023 
 

-: Present :- 
 

Councillor Jacqueline Thomas (Chairwoman) 

 

Councillors Billings (Vice-Chair), Mandy Darling, Fox, Joyce, Barbara Lewis, Pentney and 
Stevens 

 
(Also in attendance: Councillor Brook) 

 

 
13. Apologies for absence  

 
An apology for absence was received from Councillor Darren Cowell. 
 
It was reported that, in accordance with the wishes of the Conservative Group, the 
membership of the Committee had been amended to include Councillor Hannah 
Stevens in place of Councillor Tolchard and Councillor Barbara Lewis in place of 
Councillor Katya Maddison. 
 

14. Minutes  
 
The minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 26 June 2023 were confirmed 
as a correct record and signed by the Chairwoman. 
 

15. Former Torbay Holiday Motel, Totnes Road, Paignton (P/2022/0771)  
 
The Committee considered an outline application relating to the demolition and 
redevelopment up to 30 dwellings with detailed access (matters of appearance, 
landscaping, layout and scale reserved, as revised by plans received 28.04.2023). 
 
Prior to the meeting, Members of the Planning Committee undertook a site visit and 
written representations were available on the Council’s website.  At the meeting Mr 
Michael Drake of Eden Property Group addressed the Committee in support of the 
application. 
 
At the meeting the Planning Officer advised that the proposed access point plan had 
been altered to address highways’ concerns and that the revised plan now had the 
support of the Highway Authority.  This would also form part of reserved matters for 
consideration by the Planning Committee at a later date. 
 

Page 4

Agenda Item 2



Planning Committee   Monday, 24 July 2023 
 

 

In accordance with Standing Order B4.1 Councillor Brook addressed the Committee 
and was generally supportive of the application particularly since access concerns 
relating to Beechdown Park had been addressed in revised plans. 
 
Resolved (unanimously): 
 
Approved subject to: 
 
1. the conditions outlined in the submitted report with the following amendment: 
 
 Revised Condition 9. Connectivity 
 
 Notwithstanding the information provided with the planning application, details 

of the following matters (including swept path analyses) shall be submitted to 
the local planning authority for its approval in writing: 

 
(a) Access and egress to/from Beechdown Park and Beechdown Court for 

vehicles, including waste vehicles, emergency services and (in relation 
to Beechdown Park only) mobile home deliveries;  

(b) A pedestrian/cycle link to the existing public footway within the northeast 
corner of the site;  

(c) A pedestrian/cycle link to the southern boundary of the site; and 

(d) A phasing plan for the delivery of the access/egress and links.  
 

Approval of the details and phasing plan to be obtained from the local planning 
authority in writing before any development is commenced.  The access/egress 
and links shall be provided in accordance with the approved details and 
phasing plan and shall be maintained thereafter for the duration of the 
development. 
 

Reason for variation to Condition 9: to secure appropriate connectivity and 
permeability and to protect existing amenity, support sustainable modes of local 
travel and/or access to the countryside, in accordance with Policies SS11, DE1 
and TA2 of the Torbay Local Plan. 

 
2. the completion of a S106 Legal Agreement to secure heads of terms in 

accordance with the adopted Planning Contributions and Affordable Housing 
Supplementary Planning Document, on terms acceptable to Officers; 

 
3. the following additional Conditions:  
 

(a) reserved matters to be submitted to the Planning Committee for 
consideration within a two year period from the date of the decision; 

 
(b) set back distance (positive and active frontage) to be addressed within 

reserved matters; and 
 

(c) a requirement to incorporate and secure landscape and appearance 
enhancement to Beechdown Court and associated parking area to 
comply with the Collaton St Mary Masterplan; and 

Page 5



Planning Committee   Monday, 24 July 2023 
 

 

 
4. the resolution of any new material considerations that may come to light 

following Planning Committee to be delegated to the Divisional Director of 
Planning, Housing and Climate Emergency, including the addition of any 
necessary further planning conditions or obligations. 

 
16. 3 Keysfield Road, Roundham, Paignton (P/2023/0446)  

 
The Committee considered an application for reserved matters to application 
P/2021/0808 (demolition and formation of 14 apartments).   The reserved matters to 
be discharged related to landscaping (to include biodiversity enhancement measures). 
 
Prior to the meeting, Members of the Planning Committee undertook a site visit and 
written representations were available on the Council’s website.   
 
Resolved (unanimously): 
 
Approved subject to: 
 
1. the informative set out in the submitted report; and 
 
2. the resolution of any new material considerations that may come to light 

following Planning Committee to be delegated to the Divisional Director of 
Planning, Housing and Climate Emergency, including the addition of any 
necessary further planning conditions or obligations.  

 
17. 43 Thatcher Avenue, Torquay (P/2023/0390)  

 
The Committee considered an application for roof alterations from hipped to flat roof, 
to create a first floor extension with first floor balcony to the front, replacement 
balustrade to the existing terrace and changes to fenestration. 
 
Prior to the meeting, Members of the Planning Committee undertook a site visit and 
written representations were available on the Council’s website.  At the meeting Kim 
Walker of Taylor Whitehouse Planning addressed the Committee against the 
application.  
 
Resolved: 
 
That the application be deferred to obtain further information as follows: 
 
1. whether the proposed thickness of the floor can be reduced and revised plans 

submitted; 
 
2 whether the proposed height of the ceiling can be reduced and revised plans 

submitted. 
 
 
 
 

Page 6



Planning Committee   Monday, 24 July 2023 
 

 

Reasons: 
 
The current design has a detrimental impact to the street scene as a result of the 
massing and height of the current proposed structure. 
 
 
 
 

Chairwoman 

Page 7



 

Application Site 
Address 

Singleton Gardens 
Meadfoot Sea Road 
Torquay 
TQ1 2LQ 

Proposal Erection of 7 apartments, 2 attached dwellings and 
extensions/refurbishments to an existing dwelling; plus 
associated landscaping and access work. 

Application Number  P/2022/1186 

Applicant Mr R Bishop - O.J. Developments Ltd. 

Agent Mr D Metcalfe 

Date Application 
Valid 

31/10/2022 

Decision Due date 30/01/2023 

Extension of Time 
Date 

01/09/2023 

Recommendation  Conditional approval subject to the conditions detailed 
below and subject to the completion of a Section 106 
Agreement to secure affordable housing contributions. Final 
drafting of conditions and addressing any further material 
considerations that may come to light following Planning 
Committee, to be delegated to the Divisional Director of 
Planning, Housing and Climate Emergency, including the 
addition of any necessary further planning conditions or 
obligations. 

Reason for Referral 
to Planning 
Committee 

The application has been referred to Planning Committee 
due it being of a major nature. 

Planning Case 
Officer 

Verity Clark 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 8

Agenda Item 5



Location Plan: 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 9



Site Details 

The site, Singleton Gardens, is a residential dwelling with land on the northern edge 

of Meadfoot Sea Road. The residential dwelling is modest in scale within a large plot. 

The site is enclosed by stone and rendered boundary walls. The land rises to the north 

towards Lincombe Drive, with a copse of trees set above the northern extremity of the 

site boundary. To the north-west of the site are two large villas (Singleton and 

Meadfoot Lodge) with extensive grounds and directly to the north west is Meadville 

which is a modern building in use as flats.  To the east lies an array of private houses 

of varying ages and types. To the south of the site, on the opposing side of Meadfoot 

Sea Road are large villas with extensive grounds.  

 

The site is located within an existing residential area, is designated as Flood Zone 1, 

is situated within the Lincombes Conservation Area and is subject to Area Tree 

Protection Order (1973.001). Within the Lincombes Conservation Area map, the 

dwelling, greenhouse and an outbuilding are noted as other key buildings of 

architectural importance which make a significant contribution to the townscape. The 

site is adjacent to ‘Singleton’ (Grade II listed) and ‘Palm Grove’ (Grade II listed) is 

located on the opposite side of Meadfoot Sea Road and to the north west the nearby 

Meadfoot Lodge and wall and gate piers to the west of Meadfoot Lodge are Grade II 

listed. 

 

Description of Development 

The proposal seeks permission for the formation of seven apartments and two 

attached dwellings with a revised access and parking provision. The proposal includes 

the demolition of existing outbuildings, namely the greenhouse and a pitched roof 

outbuilding. Alterations and extensions to the existing dwelling are also proposed to 

include a single storey and two storey extension. 

 

The proposed apartment block would involve a mixture of two (1x), three (5x) and four 

(1x) bedroom apartments, which would have four storeys. The proposed apartment 

block would have an asymmetrical frontage and would be sited in the rear section of 

the plot, attaching to and built into a re-built horizontal stone dividing wall. The 

proposed apartment block would be finished in render, zinc effect vertical cladding, 

with powder coated aluminium openings and dark grey metal rainwater goods.  

 

The proposed attached dwellings would both be two storeys, with a section of single 

storey adjacent to Meadfoot Sea Road. Both units would feature three bedrooms. The 

proposed dwellings would have a flat roof with one integral garage serving the northern 

attached dwelling. The proposed finish of the dwellings would include limestone at 

ground floor level, with the first floor finished in zinc effect vertical cladding, with 

powder coated aluminium openings and a solid vertical larch plank doors serving the 

integral garage. The single storey flat roof will feature a sedum roof. 

 

Page 10



The proposals would have a new vehicular access from Meadfoot Sea Road and the 

existing southern boundary wall adjacent to Meadfoot Sea Road will be demolished 

and rebuilt in stone. The proposal will retain the existing north, east and western 

boundary walls. The site would provide a total of 14 on-site parking spaces; one of 

which would be within an integral garage serving one of the attached dwellings, 7 

within the courtyard, and 7 within the undercroft of the apartment block. The 

apartments would be served by 1 car parking space each, the attached dwellings 

would be served by 2 parking spaces each, the existing dwelling would be served by 

2 parking spaces and 1 visitor space would be provided within the courtyard.  

 

A detailed landscaping scheme is proposed with new trees (including 5 replacement 

apple trees), planting beds and gardens. 

 

Relevant Planning History 

 

Pre-application enquiry DE/2019/0015: Development of 8 apartments with parking. 

Summary - The principle of residential development in this location is considered 

acceptable however, as discussed, there are a number of concerns relating to the 

proposal’s design and layout; impact on neighbours; along with a workable parking 

and manoeuvring area. Should a planning application be submitted, planning officers 

are unlikely to support a proposal along the lines indicated in your submission. It is 

likely that the matters raised could be addressed if the scale and bulk of the proposed 

development was reduced in line with comments provided by the Council’s Interim 

Heritage Advisor, which would decrease the amount of residential units and parking 

required, and subject to acceptable impacts on neighbours. 

 

Pre-application enquiry DE/2020/0042: Construction of six dwellings. Summary - The 

principle of residential development in this location is considered broadly acceptable 

subject to wider policy considerations. As discussed, there are a number of concerns 

relating to the proposal’s design and layout; impact on neighbours; along with a 

workable parking and manoeuvring area. Should a planning application be submitted, 

planning officers are unlikely to support a proposal along the lines indicated in your 

submission. It is likely that the matters raised could be addressed if the design was 

sensitive to the heritage assets, along with decreasing the amount of parking 

proposed, and ensuring that the scheme has an acceptable impact on adjacent 

occupiers. 

 

P/2021/0802: Formation of 9 apartments & 2 semi-detached dwellings with access, 

garages & parking. Demolition of existing outbuildings. Alterations & extensions to 

existing dwelling to include 2 storey extension to side. Refused 18/03/2022 for the 

following reasons: 

 

- Given the siting, scale and design of the proposal, it is considered the proposal 

would fail to reflect local distinctiveness as well as failing to relate acceptably 

Page 11



to the heritage assets. The proposed siting, scale and design of the semi-

detached dwellings is suburban in character and would be dominant in the 

street scene. As such they would be inappropriate and out of character with the 

context of the site and surrounding area and fail to respect the local character 

and would lead to less than substantial harm to the setting of the 'Palm Grove' 

listed building. The proposed scale and design of the apartment block fails to 

provide a quality design, respect the local character in terms of design, scale 

and bulk, and in terms of reflecting the identity of its surroundings. It would 

present itself as an overtly dominant mass within the locality that would be 

highly visible within the Lincombes Conservation Area. The proposal in its 

totality would result in an incongruous addition that would cause demonstrable 

harm to the heritage assets that is not outweighed by sufficient public benefit. 

The proposal is considered to fail to conserve or enhance the distinctive 

character and appearance of the Lincombes Conservation Area and would lead 

to less than substantial harm to the heritage asset. The proposal is considered 

to be contrary to Policies DE1 and SS10 of the Adopted Local Plan 2012-2030, 

Policy TH8 of the Adopted Torquay Neighbourhood Plan 2012-2030 and the 

guidance contained within the NPPF, in particular Paragraphs 130, 134, 199 

and 202. 

 

- The proposed development would provide a poor quality residential 

environment by reason of the trees adjacent to the western boundary in relation 

to the proposed apartment block, in particular apartments 3, 6 and 8, some of 

the habitable rooms would have limited access to natural light given the trees, 

which would result in the creation of an environment injurious to the amenity of 

future residents, contrary to Policy DE3 of the Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-

2030 and the National Planning Policy Framework, in particular Paragraph 130. 

 
- The proposed works are in close proximity to a protected tree within the 

Lincombes Conservation Area. As insufficient information has been provided it 

cannot be confirmed that the proposal would have an acceptable impact on the 

protected tree and the contribution it makes to the surrounding streetscene, and 

therefore whether the proposal would be in accordance with Policy C4 of the 

Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030. 

 
- The proposal, in the absence of a completed S106 Legal Agreement, fails to 

secure the necessary provision of affordable housing, contrary to Policy H2 of 

the Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030 and the National Planning Policy 

Framework, in particular Paragraphs 63 and 65. 

 

Pre-application enquiry DE/2022/0068: Formation of 7 apartments & 2 semi-detached 

dwellings with access, garages & parking. Demolition of existing outbuildings. 

Alterations & extensions to existing dwelling to include 2 storey extension to side. 

Summary - The principle of residential development in this location is considered 

Page 12



broadly acceptable subject to wider policy considerations. The design presented is 

considered to represent a positive design solution to the concerns previously raised. 

From the floor plans presented it appears that the apartments on this side of the 

building feature multiple openings on different elevations and the siting has been 

moved away from this boundary. This has likely addressed the second reason for 

refusal. We would expect arboricultural information to be submitted in support of the 

application to address the third reason for refusal. The last reason for refusal related 

to affordable housing provision. Policy H2 seeks affordable housing contributions on 

greenfield sites of three dwellings or more. For nine dwellings it would have an 

affordable housing target of 15% which is usually sought through a commuted sum. 

Should a planning application be submitted detailing the proposed apartment building, 

semi-detached coach houses and extension to the existing dwelling, planning officers 

are likely to support a proposal. 

 

Relevant Planning Policy Context  

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 places a duty on 

local planning authorities to determine proposals in accordance with the development 

plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  The Planning (Listed Buildings 

and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires that special attention shall be paid to the 

desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of the Lincombes 

Conservation Area and sets out the general duty as respects listed buildings, which 

requires Local Authorities to have special regard to the desirability of preserving the 

building or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest which 

it possesses. The following development plan policies and material considerations are 

relevant to this application: 

 

Development Plan 

- The Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030 ("The Local Plan") 

- The Adopted Torquay Neighbourhood Plan 2012-2030 

 

Material Considerations 

- National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 

- The Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 

- Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) 

- Planning Contributions and Affordable Housing SPD 2017 (transitional 

agreement applies as the application was submitted prior to the adoption of the 

2022 SPD) 

- Lincombes Conservation Area Map 

- Published standing Advice 

- Planning matters relevant to the case under consideration, including the 

following advice and representations, planning history, and other matters 

referred to in this report: 

 

Summary of Representations  

Page 13



The application was publicised through a site notice, newspaper advert and neighbour 

notification letters. At the time of writing approximately 164 letters of objection and 45 

letters of support have been received. The following provides a summary of the main 

issues identified: 

 

Objections include: 

 

 Lack of affordable housing provision 

 Destruction of green space 

 Ecological and biodiversity impacts 

 Climate emergency 

 Lack of biodiversity net gain 

 Extent of hard surfacing 

 Design and visual appearance 

 Destruction of walled garden 

 Impact on historic importance  

 Traffic 

 Increase in second home ownership/ holiday letting use 

 Loss of potential use as a community garden, associated community projects 

and involvement 

 Proposal will not add to the local community 

 Luxury flats are not required 

 Site should be restored to former use 

 Importance of green space 

 Question if the proposal is the best use of the land 

 Impact on the Conservation Area 

 Wildlife impacts 

 Out of keeping with detached villas in the area 

 Not in line with central government policy 

 Destroys heritage and tourism 

 Overdevelopment 

 Parking provision insufficient 

 Brownfield sites should be considered for development 

 History of the site and its links to Singleton Manor 

 Quality of the heritage assessment 

 Overlooking 

 Loss of light 

 Daylight and overshadowing of the properties and amenities 

 Buildings overly dominant within its setting 

 Visual appearance of bin store 

 Building lines 

 Materials out of keeping 

Page 14



 Quality of ecological surveys 

 Ecology reports not undertaken in line with best practice 

 Internal floor areas  

 Development will not protect the special historic interest 

 Could set a precedent 

 Proposal does not preserve or enhance conservation area 

 Garden grabbing 

 Previous reasons for refusal applicable 

 No demonstrable public benefit 

 Failure to publish DRP comments and pre-application advice 

 Restricted and tight turning  

 Not in compliance with NPPF, Torbay Heritage Strategy and policies in Torbay 

Local Plan and Neighbourhood Plan   

 Two new buildings on the plot are excessive 

 Impact on tourism 

 Noise 

 Increased traffic 

 Facilities, services and road infrastructure not sufficient for increased housing 

 Proposal is out of character 

 Impact on trees and gardens 

 Destruction of historic stone walls, landscaping and original garden 

 Impact on listed buildings 

 Community use of the site 

 Heritage crime 

 Impact on historic environment 

 Heritage significance of the site 

 Site should be considered curtilage listed 

 Lack of conservation area appraisal 

 Lack of professional and ‘sound’ assessment 

 Proposal will break up sense of place 

 Potential of site for restoration and horticulture 

 Proposal will not improve Torquay 

 Number of storeys should be reduced from 4 to 3 

 Out of date reports and surveys 

 Need for sensitive reinstatement of collapsed wall on Lincombe Drive and new 

entrance on Meadfoot Sea Road 

 Poor quality 

 Too many units 

 Water run off 

 Over population 

 Light pollution 

 Incongruous urban form of development 

Page 15



 Safety 

 Impact on NHS 

 Too big 

 Loss of trees 

 Not sufficient access 

 Impact on local business that rely on on-street parking 

 Contribute to housing crisis 

 Coach houses position forward of the predominant building line is dominant in 

the streetscene 

 Design does not reflect local distinctiveness 

 Large scale development 

 Massing of apartment block 

 Visually intrusive 

 Coach houses in this location interrupt the character and appearance of the 

streetscene and erode the quality of this part of the conservation area 

 Cycle storage insufficient 

 Proposal results in less than substantial harm 

 Five year housing land supply and ability to resist development 

 Unsympathetic design 

 Full residential use should be encouraged in any permission with short term lets 

and Air B&B banned 

 Destroy open vista 

 Wall along Meadfoot Sea Road contributes to vista and character 

 Development out of line with existing properties 

 Job creation temporary and few and cannot guarantee they will be recruited 

locally 

 Does not provide housing which is needed 

 Density 

 Impact on historic perimeter wall 

 Anti-social behaviour from disagreements over inconsiderate parking which will 

result 

 Different architectural approaches 

 Ability of emergency services to access development 

 Block views 

 Lack of garden space 

 Too much infill already 

 Height 

 Visual barrier to trees at the back of the site 

 Too large 

 Not identified for development in Local Plan or Neighbourhood Plan 

 Economic climate could result in modifications to proposal 

 Scale 

Page 16



 Highly visible 

 Lack of carbon reduction 

 Inaccurate development description 

 Further information/clarification required from consultant arborist and Council 

tree officer 

 Value of fruit trees/ ancient orchard 

 Arboricultural reports inadequate/incorrect and reporting disagreed with 

 Shade impacts from trees 

 More planting should be offered 

 Criticism of Torbay Design Review Panel 

 Trees removed without consent 

 Failure to comply with the Wildlife and Countryside Act 

 Weakens sense of place 

 Criticism of internal officer advice on conservation, assessment and appraisal 

 Information supporting listing of site 

 Benefits of community garden 

 Proposals should comply with the Environment Improvement Plan 2023 

 Impact on designated and undesignated heritage assets  

 

Comments in support include: 

 

 Good development 

 Practical 

 Needed development 

 Mixed properties 

 Makes use of a neglected site 

 Fitting for the area 

 Overall improvement with more superior accommodation to the area 

 Provides housing 

 Bring jobs into the economy 

 More residents to support local businesses 

 Commercial and residential construction stimulates growth 

 Low carbon footprint 

 In keeping with area 

 Design 

 Large plot that should be developed 

 Adds value to area 

 Generate income for Council and local businesses 

 Improvement on previous proposal 

 Removal of wall which is a long term danger to pedestrians 

 Sympathetic to neighbouring properties and surrounding area 

 Little site coverage 

Page 17



 Sit comfortably amongst surrounding properties 

 

Summary of Consultation Responses 

 

Torquay Neighbourhood Forum:  

 

Response dated 27/02/23: 

 

The Forum notes that over 100 Objections have been placed on the Planning Portal, 

including from the Wellswood Community Partnership. The Application was discussed 

at the Steering Group Meeting on 22 February, and it was agreed to submit a 

Consultee Response Objecting to the proposed development.  

 

An earlier development proposal (P/2021/0802) for 9 apartments and 2 dwellings was 

rightly Refused owing to non-compliance with a number of Development Policies. It is 

the opinion of the Forum that this new Application fails to address the concerns and 

Policy non-compliances related to the previous Application, P/2021/0802.  

 

The proposed Development is out of keeping with other properties in the Lincombes 

Conservation Area, which comprises a significant number of larger properties in open 

green spaces. The Forum is also concerned about the environmental impact of 

removal of trees, and adverse effects on protected species. The environmental 

assessments are out of date.  

 

The attached Development Policy Checklist shows non-compliance with 31 

Development Policies. On that basis, the Neighbourhood Forum requests that this 

Application be Refused. If you are minded to Approve the Application, then the Forum 

requests that it be referred to the Planning Committee for consideration. 

 

Torbay Council’s Drainage Engineer: 

 

Response dated 9/12/22: 

 

1. The developer has submitted a surface water drainage layout, drawing number 

818.12 and the hydraulic design for the surface water drainage (DW25804). 

Unfortunately, the drainage design does not correspond to the drainage layout 

shown on drawing number 818.12. The drainage design that has been 

submitted relates to the previous planning application for this site 

(P/2021/0802). 

 

2. The surface water drainage drawing identifies the manhole cover and invert 

levels, however the drawing does not include the pipe lengths, pipe diameters, 

pipe gradients and pipe numbering used within the hydraulic modelling. In 

addition, a drawing is required showing the impermeable area discharging to 

Page 18



each pipe length within the hydraulic model. These are required in order to 

check that the input data to the hydraulic model corresponds with that on the 

drawing. 

 

3. The developer must supply the hydraulic model to show that the surface water 

drainage has been designed in order that there is no risk of flooding to buildings 

on site or any increased risk of flooding to property or land adjacent to the site 

for the critical 1 in 100 year storm event plus 50% for climate change. 

 

 

The developer must address the issues highlighted above before planning permission 

is granted for this development. 

 

Response dated 27/03/23 following the submission of further information: 

 

Further to your email dated 17th March 2023 attaching the revised surface water 

drainage design in for the above planning application, I can confirm that providing the 

surface water drainage is constructed in accordance with the submitted documents, I 

have no objections on drainage grounds to planning permission being granted for this 

development. 

 

Environment Agency: 

 

No response received. 

 

Torbay Council’s Senior Tree Officer/ Green Infrastructure Manager:  

 

Response dated 20/04/23: 

 

Development Proposal:  

Erection of 7 apartments, 2 attached dwellings and extensions/refurbishments to an 

existing dwelling; plus associated landscaping and access work.  

 

Address:  

Singleton Gardens, Meadfoot Sea Road, Torquay, TQ1 2LQ  

 

Purpose  

I visited the site on the 12th April 2023 and entered the site by prior agreement with 

the landowner. I was accompanied by Dan Vickridge, Green Infrastructure Manager.  

The purpose of the site assessment was to review the application submissions and 

additional information pertinent to the planning application and development proposal. 

My role is to consider this information in light of public and consultee comments and 

representations made in relation to the planning application.  

 

Page 19



Findings  

I have specifically reviewed the layout based on the Proposed Block Plan 818.09 and 

the Proposed Elevations 818.15, but have also considered other plans as supplied.  

 

Based on my experience, I consider the site to have all the characteristics and layout 

of a formal garden. The location and form of the structural elements e.g. glasshouses, 

south-facing walls, suggest this has possibly changed in context from a kitchen garden 

to domestic / private amenity space. The layout of planting, formally maintained lawns 

and the woody / tree species composition is currently consistent with that of a garden.  

 

I can confirm that the tree survey has been carried out in accordance with 

BS5837:2012 Trees in relation to design, demolition and construction – 

Recommendations by Aspect Tree Consultancy. The trees have been accurately 

surveyed (Aspect Ref: 05942) with the tree attribute information corresponding to the 

tree constraints plan (Aspect Ref: 05942 TCP 27.02.23).  

 

I can confirm that there are no trees within the moderate (B) or high (A) categories 

(BS5837) within the application area. Trees within the low (C) category (T1 – T5,G8, 

G9, T10, H12, S13  

& T16) and trees which are unsuitable for retention (T6) have been identified in the 

application area.  

 

Offsite trees in third-party ownership have been identified as T7 (high category), G11 

(moderate category) and G14 (moderate quality). These trees have been specified for 

retention with limited management which accords with BS3998:2010 Tree work – 

Recommendations.  

 

Woodland W15 is not within the application area and has been categorised within the 

moderate (B) category, and is retained.  

 

The Arboricultural Impact Assessment Report Ref: 05942 AIA 13.03.23 has been 

submitted and provides a comprehensive and professionally objective representation 

of the trees and their relationship to their surroundings and the development. I will refer 

to this document as the AIA.  

 

I can confirm that T6 is dead. The removal of T6 has been specified. Apple trees T2, 

T3, T5, T10 & T16 are live trees and are actively managed by pruning consistent with 

my knowledge of fruit production.  

 

Image 2 within the AIA clearly show two cut apple tree stumps, one of which is hollow. 

I am unable to confirm if the removal of the trees was pre-empted by a failure or 

damage incident.  

 

Page 20



The Devon County Council Ecologist has referred the query relating to the potential 

Priority Habitat status of the alleged ‘ancient’ orchard to the applicants ecological 

consultant for further consideration.  

 

I carried out a desktop assessment on the 13th April 2023 using the Defra Magic Map 

service. This has not identified any published records referring to the apple trees being 

within the priority habitat (Traditional Orchard). Further clarification of this position 

should be made by a qualified ecologist as this is not strictly an arboricultural issue.  

 

I am in agreement with the Aspect report findings related to the estimated age of the 

apple trees (Mitchell methodology) and concur that these trees are not ‘veteran’ trees 

based on their age or attributes. Based on my experience of working within orchards 

in the south-west of England, I have also estimated their age in the 25 – 40 year range.  

 

The development proposal requires the removal of a number of trees and shrub 

planted areas. These have been identified in the Tree Protection Plan (Aspect Ref: 

05942 TPP 13.03.23). Trees specified for retention are clearly indicated within areas 

enclosed by tree protection measures with works areas requiring arboricultural method 

statements (AMS) identified.  

 

Tree removals and their relative impact on amenity and local landscape character 

have been assessed in the Aspect AIA in sections 6.3 – 6.5 and I am in agreement 

with this assessment.  

 

T4 (Chusan Palm) has been identified for transplanting. An AMS will be required for 

this operation with a transplanting location identified on site (if retained within the 

property)  

 

Proposed works within the root protection area of T7 will require further detailed 

discussions to ensure the AMS is properly specified and structured to ensure this high-

quality tree remains undamaged during any potential development process.  

 

Crown management works to T7 have been specified to address overhang above the 

proposed development area. Tree management works have also been specified to 

G11 to prevent future spatial relationship conflicts with the proposed eastern elevation 

of the proposed flats. These works are broadly acceptable and accord with good 

arboricultural practice.  

 

G9 has been identified for thinning from a group of 6 Chusan palms to 3 retained 

specimens. This work is broadly acceptable as a management objective.  

 

Based on the scale / layout of the proposed development and the information provided, 

I have no arboricultural objections to the application. The proposed layout and 

elevations will not lead to future conflict or pressure to fell or prune G11 or W15.  

Page 21



 

The proposed vehicle access will require cyclical maintenance to ensure high-sided 

vehicles can access the property. This management work can be addressed through 

existing tree maintenance contracts in place with the council following the initial 

pruning being undertaken as part of the development. The spatial relationship of T7 to 

the existing dwelling is established.  

 

Planning conditions should be applied to secure the pre-commencement installation 

of tree protection measures and the submission of (for approval by the LPA) of an 

arboricultural method statement for works within the root protection area of T7. T4 will 

require and arboricultural method statement for transplanting, replanting and 

aftercare. 

 

Response dated 30/06/23: 

 

I have reviewed the proposed planting and think the use of ornamental cherry and 

dwarf pine is less than ideal. I think this is a missed opportunity to include statement 

trees which will help to soften and integrate the building into the surrounding area.  

 

I would suggest replacing the cherry with Magnolia grandiflora ‘Praecox’ which has 

evergreen foliage and flowering attributes. The dwarf pine should be replaced with a 

columnar conifer e.g. Irish Yew, which thrives locally and is pruning tolerant to maintain 

its shape. Equally, Dawn Redwood is an interesting deciduous species which might 

add interest.  

 

Happy to discuss with the landscape architect if required, but larger trees will be 

essential to this project in my view. 

 

Response dated 14/07/23 following the submission of an updated landscaping 

scheme: 

 

Many thanks for the updated plans and information. Thanks to the project architect for 

taking on board my comments and incorporating them into the revised design.  

 

I would suggest incorporating an additional apple tree in the line of the trees on the 

northern boundary to meet the ecologists requirements. The ultimate height / spread 

of the apple trees might be controlled by pruning, which is traditional management and 

corresponds with apple tree management already existing on this property.  

I wouldn’t want to see the formal planting arrangement altered as I am satisfied with 

the updated planting locations, species choice and rationale for the overall visual / 

conservation benefits to the project. 

 

Response dated 24/07/23: 

 

Page 22



Thank you for the additional information / representation from Dartforest Ltd dated 21st 

July 2023. I have reviewed the comprehensive information and concluded that this 

does not alter my professional assessment of the development proposal or my advice 

already provided on this application. To that effect, I will not be providing any updated 

comments. 

 

Devon County Council’s Ecologist: 

 

Response dated 08/02/23: 

 

Further clarification required prior to determination. 

 

The ecology surveys submitted as part of this application were undertaken in April and 

May 2021, which means at the time of submission (October 2022), the results of these 

surveys were 17 months in age. CIEEM guidelines on the ‘Lifespan of Ecological 

Reports and Surveys (April 2019)’ states that data which is between 12 months and 

18 months in age, whilst likely to be valid in most cases, there is the following 

exception: Where a site may offer existing or new features which could be utilised by 

a mobile species within a short timeframe. This exception may well be applicable in 

this instance given the building onsite could now offer additional features which can 

be used by bats, which were not present during the 2021 surveys. Clarification is 

therefore required by the consultant ecologist on the validity of the results of the 2021 

ecology reports. 

 

The LPA ecologist has received communication from the PTES that the part of site 

which forms Target Note 4 in the Preliminary Ecological Assessment is designated as 

a traditional orchard (i.e. priority and potentially irreplaceable habitat). The consultee 

from PTES states that ‘The site meets the criteria for Traditional Orchard Priority 

Habitat being 5 or more standard fruit trees in a group managed without chemicals. 

There has been an orchard on this site for well over a century, so adding to the 

importance of the habitat. The 5 or 6 existing fruit trees are likely to have veteran 

features such as crevices in the bark and hollowing heartwood, so should be treated 

as “ancient or veteran trees” as per paragraph 180(c) of the NPPF’ Clarification and 

justification is required from the consultant ecologist as to whether this habitat does 

represent the priority habitat of ‘traditional/ancient orchard’ and whether the fruit trees 

present onsite have veteran features. 

 

As per published national guidelines, 2 bat emergence surveys are required in order 

to establish presence/likely absence of bats on structures which offer ‘moderate bat 

roosting potential’. Clarification and justification is required from the consultant 

ecologist as to why only one emergence survey was undertaken on both buildings, 

given the description of the buildings as offering ‘low-medium’ roosting potential. 

 

Page 23



Details on the proposed reptile receptor site should be provided to the LPA for 

comment. 

 

Clarification is required from the consultant ecologist as to whether badgers are to be 

impacted by the proposals and what mitigation measures (if any) are required. 

 

Response dated 17/07/23 following the submission of further information: 

 

Ok subject to conditions. 

 

It is the view of the LPA ecologist that there are no ecological policy or legislative 

reasons for refusal of this planning application. 

 

Historic England: 

 

Response dated 26/01/23 following a request to consider listing the site: 

 

The walled garden and its associated structures at Singleton Gardens, Torquay, dating 

to the mid-C19 with alterations and losses, do not meet the criteria for listing in a 

national context. 

 

Response dated 11/07/23 following a request for further consideration of listing: 

 

After examining all the records and other relevant information and having carefully 

considered the historic interest of the case, the criteria for the registration of the walled 

garden associated with the property known as Singleton Gardens, Torquay, Devon 

are not fulfilled. 

 

Devon CPRE: 

 

Response dated 23/02/23: 

 

Devon CPRE objects to this planning application.  

 

The National Planning Policy Framework (2021) (NPPF) highlights that the 

environmental objective of sustainable development should be pursued in a “positive 

way” (paragraphs 8 and 9 of the NPPF), and Devon CPRE would like to emphasise 

that this site has been identified by the community as having natural and historic built 

environment qualities worthy of protection and enhancement, which should guide 

decision making.  

 

Local planning policy is clear regarding the need for new development to contribute to 

local character and distinctiveness (Policy SS10 and DE1), with Policy NC1 specifying 

that development should not result in the loss or deterioration of habitats, with the 

Page 24



emphasis upon conservation and enhancement. Trees also have an important role to 

play and Local Plan Policy C4 highlights this.  

 

Given the significant number of representations raised by not only the community, but 

specialists including an arboriculturalist, concerns are raised that the proposal does 

not accord with national or local planning policy. It should therefore be refused. 

 

The Victorian Society: 

 

Response dated 02/02/23: 

 

Singleton Gardens is a historic walled garden within the Lincombes Conservation 

Area. This area is defined by numerous large villas dating from the early C19 onwards, 

notable examples being Meadfoot Lodge and Singleton which neighbour the site and 

are Grade II listed. It is likely that Singleton Gardens was built as a walled garden to 

serve one of these properties and therefore has a historical connection with the nearby 

listed buildings and the understanding of the development of the Conservation Area. 

 

Historically the gardens contained a well, glasshouses and other ancillary buildings. 

Currently, a modest dwelling occupies the site. The proposals would see the 

redevelopment of the walled garden with new dwellings, including a 4-storey building 

containing 7 apartments, and associated landscaping. This would seriously alter the 

character of the walled garden, harming its historic legibility in connection to nearby 

historic villas, and the contribution it makes to the Conservation Area. 

 

The NPPF states: 

‘Local planning authorities should look for opportunities for new development 

within Conservation Areas and World Heritage Sites, and within the setting of 

heritage assets, to enhance or better reveal their significance.’ (para 206) 

 

This proposal would harm the legibility of the Conservation Area and its historic 

character. We recommend that the proposal is reconsidered and options are explored 

which would preserve more of the site’s character and legibility as a historic walled 

garden. 

 

Building Control: 

 

Response dated 30/01/23: 

 

For information a new Part R of the Building Regulations came into force in June 2022 

covering a requirement for EVCP’s to all new buildings and changes of use etc.  

 

Each unit of accommodation, if provided with an associated parking space should 

have access to a EVCP. It is preferable to have EVCP’s outside of covered parking 

Page 25



however where this cannot be facilitated then the EVCP’s need to be included within, 

this is specified in Regulation 44D(4). The requirements of S1 and Regulation 44D are 

applicable and the agent should refer, this is regarding the required amount of EVCP’s 

for this development.  

 

Regarding the safety, Section 6 of the Approved Document S to Requirement S1 

provides the relevant design and installation standards expected for ECVP’s. We 

would expect these to be followed regarding the design, installation and 

commissioning. 

 

Housing Strategy and Enabling Officer: 

 

Response dated 14/12/23: 

 

The nine dwellings to be constructed within garden of the property will be subject to 

Policy H2. For schemes of between 6 to 10 dwellings, there is a requirement to provide 

15% affordable usually as a commuted sum. This equates to the equivalent 1.35 

dwellings. The methodology for calculation of the commuted sum is set out in the 

Planning Contributions and Affordable Housing SPD.  

 

The applicant has presented a viability assessment which indicates that the 

development cannot support contributions. This will need to be independently verified 

and if the development cannot support contributions then the Council should include 

an overage provision within the section 106 agreement.    

 

Response dated 24/04/23 following an independent viability assessment: 

 

The calculation of the commuted payment due for the scheme is £136,500 as 

calculated under the 2017 Planning Obligations SDP under transitional arrangements.  

 

The Council has now instructed and received an independent viability assessment of 

the scheme from our consultant. This assessment asserts that the scheme can 

support an off-site contribution in lieu of onsite provision of affordable housing of 

£100,000.  

 

We would therefore advise that the application is only compliant with Policy H2 if the 

funds available to support a commuted payment in lieu of affordable housing are 

payable to the Council and secured by way of the section 106 agreement. We are 

happy to accept a viability review mechanism if the consent is granted and should 

there be material changes affecting future scheme viability. This mechanism and 

criterium should be set out within the section 106 agreement. 

 

Planning Officer note: 

 

Page 26



Following receipt of the independent viability assessment, the applicant submitted a 

critique of the assessment from their viability expert. The independent assessor 

subsequently considered this information and a revised estimated CIL liability figure. 

They concluded that the scheme could support an affordable housing contribution of 

£65,000 and recommended a late viability review clause. 

 

The Housing Strategy and Enabling Officer has confirmed that a s106 securing 

£65,000 with a late viability review clause satisfies the affordable housing 

requirements. 

 

Planning Officer/Principal Planner (Delivery) – commenting on heritage matters: 

 

Response dated 20/01/23: 

 

The site currently contains “other key buildings and building groups of architectural 

importance or which make a significant contribution to the townscape” as shown on 

the Lincombes Conservation Area Appraisal (LCAA) mapping and contains prominent 

walls. The existing rendered wall fronting Meadfoot Sea Road currently contributes 

negatively to the Conservation Area (CA) by way of its materiality.  

 

Reviewing the historic mapping, the site appears to have contained terraced walled 

gardens created when the Palk family’s land was divided into plots during the 1830s 

and 1840s. The gardens are likely to have served at kitchen gardens for a 

neighbouring original villa.  

 

Whilst the site does contain some features that contribute positively to the CA, overall 

the site is of relatively low heritage significance. Generally, I agree with the conclusions 

of the submitted Design and Access and Heritage Statements in this regard.  

 

The evolution of the scheme is welcomed and it appears to have responded to and 

overcome the issues with previous proposals on this site. The proposal appears to 

retain key features and would retain the prominent walls. The overall layout and siting 

of the principal element responds to the typical villa type layout, with space around the 

building, sensitive proportions, in-keeping with key and important buildings within the 

CA. The treatment of the elevations and massing have been broken up using a change 

in materials and form to prevent it from appearing overly bulky and oppressive. The 

current scheme also retains the ability to view the trees to the rear, enabling it to be 

assimilated into the background, which is very different to the previous submission.  

 

Undoubtedly the proposal will result in the development of open space within the CA 

which will have an impact on its setting. With regards to the proposal impact on the 

setting of the neighbouring listed buildings, this would be negligible due to the 

development of this part of the CA, the topography of the area and the screening 

afforded protection due to its location.  

Page 27



 

In my view, the proposal would amount to less than substantial harm resulting from 

the development of open space within the CA. I would add that this harm is at the 

minor end of the scale and has been reduced by the sensitive siting, scale and design 

of the scheme as a whole. This harm should be assessed as part of the overall 

planning balance.  

 

Should you be minded to approve the application I would suggest the use of conditions 

relating to:  

 

- Materials  

- Boundary treatment and landscaping  

- Securing details of the windows including frame materials and depth of reveals  

- Any heritage based benefits the scheme would provide are secured at the earliest 

possible phase of the development. This could include hard and soft landscaping, tree 

planting and boundary treatment restoration.  

 

The handling of materials and execution of the detailing will be key with this scheme. 

 

Response dated 08/03/23: 

 

Please see below our comments with regards to the enquiry you have received relating 

to the potential curtilage listing of Singleton Gardens.  

 

Singleton Gardens consists of 2 parcels of land, forming a series of 4 smaller walled 

areas set between a number of historic villas, north of Meadfoot Sea Road.  

 

Curtilage listing ordinarily relates/applies to any buildings or structures in reasonable 

proximity to a listed building, where there is a question relating to the level of 

protection, if any, the building or structure is afforded, assuming they are deemed to 

meet the recognised considerations below.  

 

Given the evidence in front of us and using map regression we have noted the 

interconnection between the Northern parcel of land but not the remaining 3. On this 

basis and when considering the 4 recognised tests (3 Calderdale + Debenhams ruling) 

to determine extent of curtilage listing we have the following comments: 

  

- Physical layout. Established parcels of land likely created at the time of the 

division former agricultural land in the mid 1800s. Boundary treatment and 

historic accesses do not appear to provide certainty and any indication of 

ownership at the time of listing of Meadfoot Lodge and Singleton Manor in 1975.  

- Ownership. As above, no clear ownership with regards to individual listed 

buildings.  

Page 28



- Use or function. Historic mapping appears to show some smaller structures, 

likely glasshouses/greenhouses, within the sites although the number of these 

appears to have fluctuated over time, with many being removed or demolished 

as the site has evolved. The use of site as a whole appears to been walled 

gardens, either separately or connected to each other.  

- Ancillary (Debenhams ruling). Should the sites have been gardens ancillary 

to any of the surrounding villas, this is no longer the case. The two Southern 

most parcels of land belong to, and are ancillary to, Singleton Gardens.  

 

As identified, there are limited structures on the site and the number of these has 

fluctuated over time. These fluctuations have occurred since initial construction and 

also since the listing of the neighbouring properties, Meadfoot Lodge and Singleton 

Manor.  

 

Should the site now known as Singleton Gardens be considered to form part of the 

curtilage of either of the adjacent listed buildings, only the walls and structures on the 

site present at the time of listed would benefit from this level of designation.  

 

Given the above and the uncertainty, we have considered that Singleton Gardens is 

unlikely to be curtilage listed.  

 

The assessment previously provided, gave a clear assessment of the impacts of the 

proposal and indicated the harm and benefits the proposal would result in. 

 

Response dated 05/04/23: 

 

I have reviewed the current application, submitted information, additional information 

from the agent, Mrs Burley, various consultees and my colleague Ross Wise.  

 

For clarity, the Spatial Planning Team benefit from an internal Heritage and Design 

Team made up of highly experienced and qualified officers in architecture, heritage, 

planning and urban design. In particular, there are two officers within the team who 

hold heritage qualifications and were previously in Conservation Officer posts. 

Heritage comments provided as part of this application have been developed through 

a collaborative process drawing on the skills of each officer. Whilst there is no currently 

named Conservation Officer post, these comments are consistent with our approach 

dealing with heritage matters in the bay.  

 

In terms of the submitted information I would make the following observations:  

• The Council has undertaken a broad range of consultation and assessed this 

appropriately. I am satisfied this process has captured the views required to determine 

the application.  

• The submitted heritage statement meets the necessary tests within the NPPF and 

provides an appropriate level of assessment and understanding of the site.  

Page 29



• Historic England, the Council’s Officers and agent for the application have reached 

the same conclusions on curtilage and curtilage listing. I have been engaged in this 

examination process as part of my role within our in-house team.  

 

For further clarification on the use of our in-house team:  

In Historic England’s ‘Managing Significance in Decision Taking in the Historic 

Environment’ Assessing the proposals: 25 In deciding applications for planning 

permission and listed building consent, local planning authorities will need to assess 

the particular significance of the heritage asset(s) which may be affected by the 

proposal and the impact of the proposal on that significance reflecting the approach 

as described in paragraphs 3-5 above. In most cases, to assess significance LPAs will 

need to take expert advice, whether in-house, from shared services or from 

consultants. It is good practice to use professionally accredited experts and to comply 

with relevant standards and guidance (For example, the CIfA Standard and Guidance: 

Archaeological Advice). To find a list of expert groups, see paragraph 19.  

 

To conclude, we have received an appropriate, consistent level of professional advice 

from the agent, from Historic England and utilised our own in-house expertise, I do not 

feel it necessary to add any further comments. 

 

Torbay Council’s Senior Environmental Health Officer: 

 

Response dated 13/12/2022: 

 

I would confirm that I have no objections subject to the inclusion of the following 

condition: 

 

Construction Management Plan: 

No development shall take place until a site specific Construction Management Plan 

has been submitted to and been approved in writing by the Council. The plan must 

demonstrate the adoption and use of the best practicable means to reduce the effects 

of noise, & dust. The plan should include, but not be limited to:  

 

o Procedures for maintaining good neighbour relations including complaint 

management.  

o All works and ancillary operations which are audible at the site boundary, 

or at such other place as may be agreed with the Local Planning 

Authority, shall be carried out only between the following hours:  

 

08:00 Hours and 18:00 Hours on Mondays to Fridays and 08:00 and 

13:00 Hours on Saturdays and; at no time on Sundays and Bank 

Holidays.  

 

Page 30



o Deliveries to and removal of plant, equipment, machinery and waste 

from the site must only take place within the permitted hours detailed 

above.  

o Control measures for dust and other air-borne pollutants.  

 

Reason: In the interests of the amenities of surrounding occupiers during the 

construction of the development 

 

SWISCo’s Waste Client Manager: 

 

Response dated 12/12/2022: 

 

In response to this consultation request, I would like to request more information about 

recycling and waste management from the proposed development.  

 

The location of the bin store is ideal for our collection staff, there would need to be flat 

access with dropped kerbs between the bin store and the place that the collection 

vehicles pull up alongside Singleton Gardens to collect from the public highway.  

 

The plans seem to show individual sets of bins, recycling boxes and food waste bins. 

Individual bins are a suitable solution here, but please be aware that where individual 

bins and boxes are provided, our collection teams would not collect from the bin store 

and instead residents would need to leave their bins and boxes at the curtilage of the 

property for collection and then bring them back in. If communal arrangements are 

used, our collection teams will collect and return the bins and boxes to the bin store, 

providing they are accessible.  

 

I would like to request waste management contributions for this development in line 

with the table below. The level of contribution will depend on which type of solution is 

used here. 

 

WSP on behalf of the Local Highway Authority: 

 

Response dated 12/12/2022: 

 

1.0 DESCRIPTION OF PROPOSAL AND PLANNING HISTORY  

1.1. The proposed development site is located off Meadfoot Sea Road and currently 

comprises of a single residential property and garden. The proposals relate to the 

formation of seven apartments, two attached dwellings and extensions/refurbishments 

to an existing dwelling with associated landscaping and access work.  

1.2. The site has previously had planning permission refused for the formation of nine 

apartments and two semi-detached dwellings with access, garages and parking with 

the demolition of existing outbuildings and alterations and extensions to an existing 

Page 31



dwelling to include a two-storey extension to side (ref. P/2021/0802). The refusal cited 

no specific highway reasons.  

 

2.0 ACCESSIBILITY  

2.1. The site is located off Meadfoot Sea Road approximately 1km south-east from the 

centre of Torquay. There are footways and street lighting present on Meadfoot Sea 

Road for the duration of the pedestrian route between the site and Torquay centre. 

Reviewing the Torbay Cycle Map, it is noted that Meadfoot Sea Road is classified as 

an advisory cycle route which provides onwards connection to an on-road cycle lane 

within Torquay.  

2.2. There are bus stops located on Meadfoot Sea Road approximately 75m west from 

the site, served by the Torbay Buses 64 route, which provides an hourly bus service 

which loops to and from Wellswood. The closest rail station to the site is Torquay 

Station, approximately 2.3km west. Torquay Station is managed by Great Western 

Railway and is situated on the Riviera Line. The station provides onward access to 

Exeter St David’s/Exmouth and Paignton approximately every 30 minutes. Torquay 

Station has 8 bicycle parking spaces.  

2.3. It is concluded that the site is located within an accessible location with pedestrian 

/ cycling and public transport infrastructure within the vicinity of the site potentially 

effectuating a modal shift away from single occupancy car use, thereby reducing the 

vehicular trip generation associated with the development proposals.  

 

3.0 TRIP GENERATION AND HIGHWAY IMPACT ASSESSMENT  

3.1. Due to the small quantum of development proposed, it is considered that the 

proposed development will not result in a severe impact on the capacity of the local 

highway network.  

3.2. The applicant has not provided a review of the latest available five-year Personal 

Injury Collision (PIC) data for the highway network surrounding the site as requested 

at pre-application stage. In order to identify if any trends or clusters of collisions exist, 

with particular reference to cyclists and pedestrians, this information should be 

provided.  

 

4.0 ACCESS AND VISIBILITY SPLAYS  

4.1. The applicant has proposed that a new vehicular and pedestrian access will be 

constructed to the site from Meadfoot Sea Road.  

4.2. The applicant has submitted a drawing (ref. JG06 Rev:1 23.09.22) which 

illustrates visibility splays of an ‘X’ distance of 2.4m and a ‘Y’ distance of 43m can be 

achieved in both the primary and secondary directions. This is commensurate with the 

requirements of a posted speed restriction of 30mph and is considered acceptable.  

4.3. Whilst the provided visibility splay demonstrates the visibility to oncoming 

vehicles, the plan doesn’t however provide the likely visibility of oncoming pedestrians 

along the footway. In order to determine the safety of the access in relation to 

pedestrians, a vertical and horizontal visibility splay with regards to pedestrians should 

be provided.  

Page 32



 

5.0 PROPOSED ACCESS GATES  

5.1. The applicant has submitted a drawing (ref. JG06 Rev:1 23.09.22) which 

illustrates the site access gates opening inwards into the site. This is considered 

acceptable.  

 

6.0 SWEPT PATH ANALYSIS  

6.1. The applicant has submitted a drawing (ref. JG08 Rev:1 23.09.22) which 

illustrates an estate car accessing the site whilst another estate car is waiting to 

egress. This is considered acceptable.  

 

7.0 FIRE ENGINE SWEPT PATH ANALYSIS  

7.1. The applicant has submitted a swept path analysis (ref. JG07 Rev:1 23.09.22) of 

a fire engine accessing and egressing the site in a forward gear. This is considered 

acceptable.  

 

8.0 CAR PARKING  

8.1. The proposed development layout has proposed the following car parking and 

quantum:  

• The (existing) Cottage has two courtyard spaces allocated with one Electric Vehicle 

Charging (EVC) point. (Dwg. 818.10 Proposed site and roof plan).  

• Coach House no1 has one garage and one courtyard space allocated with one EVC 

point.  

• Coach House no2 has two courtyard spaces allocated with one EVC point.  

• There are seven apartments with seven under-croft parking spaces (7 x 1). Space 

nos.4 and 7 have EVC points.  

• Total of 10 residential units, with 14 parking spaces, 13 allocated and 1 courtyard 

visitor space / unallocated.  

 

8.2. Space Nos. 3 and 4 are 3.3m width. As these spaces are adjacent to solid 

structures and therefore require to be a minimum of 3.2m, this width is acceptable.  

8.3. The highway authority would normally seek up to 10% disabled spaces. It is 

assumed that Space no.7 meets the requirement within Appendix F due to the 

additional space on one side. Confirmation is sought that this is intended to be an 

accessible space for disabled persons.  

8.4. Based upon policy TA3 and Appendix F of the Torbay Local Plan (2012 – 2030) 

the car park provision is acceptable.  

 

9.0 CYCLE STORAGE  

9.1. The applicant has submitted updated layout plans (ref. 818.11 and 818.19, 

05.10.22 ) which identifies the provision of secure and covered cycle storage within 

the apartments and houses. Seven cycle spaces are provided within the apartment 

building and two spaces per house, which meets the requirement within policy TA3 

and Appendix F of the Torbay Local Plan (2012 – 2030). However, six spaces are 

Page 33



provided by means of vertical racking within the apartment building which may not be 

suitable for all bike users. It is noted that one cycle space is provided adjacent to 

allocated car space No.1 which is not vertical. Therefore, alternative provision of cycle 

storage should be considered to ensure that bike users of all abilities are able to store 

their cycles.  

 

10.0 REFUSE STRATEGY  

10.1. The applicant has submitted a proposed site and roof plan (ref. 818.10, 05.10.22) 

which illustrates the provision of a bin store to the west of the gated access and the 

Design & Access Statement 2022 states that vehicle tracking has been updated and 

concludes that all spaces and layouts can be readily used by refuse vehicles. Vehicle 

tracking has only been provided for an estate car and a Fire Engine. Swept Path 

analysis for a refuse vehicle should be provided for review by the highway authority.  

 

11.0 CONCLUSION  

11.1. Based upon the information submitted at the time of writing the applicant will be 

required to:  

o Provide a review of the latest available five-year PIC data for the highway network 

surrounding the site;  

o Provide a visibility splay plan relating to the visibility of pedestrians from the vehicle 

access;  

o Confirm an accessible car parking space is provided; and  

o Provide Swept Path analysis drawings for refuse vehicles. 

 

Response dated 10/01/2023 following the receipt of further information: 

 

1.0 BACKGROUND  

1.1. A response to this planning application was previously issued by the Local 

Highway Authority on the 12th December 2022. Within the previous response issued 

by the Local Highway Authority it was requested that the applicant provide the 

following additional information in support of the planning application:  

• A review of the latest available five-year PIC data for the highway network 

surrounding the site;  

• A vertical and horizontal visibility splay plan relating to the visibility of 

pedestrians from the vehicle access;  

• Confirmation that an accessible car parking space is provided; and  

• Provision of Swept Path analysis drawings for refuse vehicles.  

 

1.2. The applicant has since provided an email to the Local Highway Authority (dated 

03/01/2023) containing additional information in support of the planning application. 

This response will consider the information provided in the aforementioned email.  

 

2.0 PERSONAL INJURY COLLISION DATA  

Page 34



2.1. The applicant has provided a review of the latest available five-year Personal 

Injury Collision (PIC) data for the highway network surrounding the site as requested. 

The collision data presented has been reviewed and it has been determined that there 

does not exist any clusters or trends within the collision data. Therefore, the Highway 

Authority considers that the proposed development will not result in an increase in 

Highway Safety concerns.  

 

3.0 VISIBILITY SPLAYS  

3.1. A plan showing a 2m x 2m pedestrian visibility splay from the site access has 

been provided (drawing 818.PED), along with comments within the email. The plan 

and comments provided are accepted by the Highway Authority.  

 

4.0 CAR PARKING  

4.1. Confirmation was sought relating to an accessible car park space for disabled 

users. Additional information provided states that space no7 meets the requirement 

for an accessible, along with three other car park spaces and therefore it is accepted 

that accessible car parking spaces are provided within the development.  

 

5.0 REFUSE STRATEGY  

5.1. Additional information relating to the waste strategy has been provided and has 

confirmed that “waste would be handled from the bin store for collection on the street 

a short distance away, as with all other properties in the locale”. Therefore it is 

accepted that a swept path analysis drawing for refuse vehicles is not required.  

 

6.0 CONCLUSION  

6.1. In conclusion, the email provided by the Applicant (dated 03/01/2023) addressed 

the previously raised concerns and therefore the Highway Authority has no objection 

to the scheme. 

 

Police Designing Out Crime Officer: 

 

Response dated 30/11/22: 

 

As the security element of the building regulations, namely Approved Document Q 

(ADQ), sits outside the decision making process for the planning authority the following 

is to inform the applicant:-  

 

ADQ creates security requirements in relation to all new dwellings. All doors that 

provide entry into a building, including garage doors where there is a connecting door 

to the dwelling, and all ground floor, basement and other easily accessible windows, 

including roof lights, must be shown to have been manufactured to a design that has 

been tested to an acceptable security standard i.e. PAS 24.  

 

Page 35



As such it is recommended that all external doors and easily accessible windows are 

sourced from a Secured by Design (SBD) member-company List of Member 

Companies (Alphabetical). The requirements of SBD are that doors Accredited 

Product Search for Doors and windows Accredited Product Search for Windows are 

not only tested to meet PAS 24 (2022) standard by the product manufacturer, but 

independent third-party certification from a UKAS accredited independent third-party 

certification authority is also in place, thus exceeding the requirements of ADQ and 

reducing much time and effort in establishing provenance of non SBD approved 

products.  

 

Secured By Design is a free from charge police owned crime prevention initiative 

which aims to improve the security of buildings and their immediate surroundings in 

order to provide safer places and more secure places.  

 

The following comments below are regarding the apartment building.  

 

It is recommended that for the block of flats a visitor door entry system along with an 

access control system is installed to the entrances, which has a visual as well as audio 

function. The system should allow the occupants to electronically release the door 

from their own property. Please note we would not support the use of tradesperson 

button or time release mechanism due to evidence of unauthorised access to 

communal developments and anti-social behaviour associated with these.  

 

It is recommended that lobby area is created to be a secure area which prevents 

onward movement throughout the apartment building. Within this lobby area it would 

be beneficial to install a mail delivery system for the residents. This should be robust 

in construction, with the individual letter boxes have a maximum aperture size of 

260mm x 40mm, have anti-fishing properties.  

 

Communal areas (such as communal entrance lobbies, landings, corridors stairwell 

and underground parking) to the apartment building should have 24 hour lighting which 

is switched using a photoelectric cell. These could be dimmed during hours of low 

occupancy.  

 

Parking  

It is appreciated that the parking provision for the proposed scheme is likely to meet 

the requirements of local planning policy e.g., one space per apartment but given that 

each apartment has 2 bedrooms the one space allocated per apartment is likely to 

prove insufficient and could result in parking elsewhere. The ‘elsewhere’ has a real 

potential in creating vehicle and parking related problems which the police can spend 

a lot of time dealing with.  

 

The lighting within the under croft parking should be to a standard of BS5489-1:2020. 

It should provide an even light with no dark areas so that residents feel safe to use it. 

Page 36



To assist with the lighting the walls and ceilings could be painted in a light colour finish 

to maximise the effectiveness of the lighting.  

 

It would be recommended the internal door giving access from the car park to the 

lower ground floor lobby area is on the access control system to prevent unauthorised 

access into the building through via the car park. However, it should have the ability in 

the event of a fire alarm to unlock to allow for a means of escape if required.  

 

There is a concern regarding the proposed installation of the EV charging points within 

the under croft parking, given the potential fire risk from charging electric vehicles 

within this enclosed space with residential units above it. It must have the necessary 

fire mitigation services. 

 

 

Planning Officer Assessment 

 

Key Issues/Material Considerations 

 

1. Policies Relating to Housing Development 

2. Design, Visual Appearance and the Character of the Area  

3. Heritage 

4. Impact on Residential Amenity 

5. Impact on Highway Safety 

6. Trees 

7. Ecology and Biodiversity 

8. Flood Risk and Drainage 

9. Affordable Housing Contributions 

10. Designing Out Crime 

11. Low Carbon Development 

12. Other material considerations including housing supply and the NPPF 

 

1. Policies Relating to Housing Development  

The proposal is for the formation of seven apartments and two attached dwellings with 

a revised access and parking provision. The proposal includes the demolition of 

existing outbuildings, namely the greenhouse and a pitched roof outbuilding. 

Alterations and extensions to the existing dwelling are also proposed to include a 

single storey and two storey extension.  

 

There is a pressing need for homes in Torbay. The Government’s Standard Method 

Local Housing Need figure indicates a need for 605 dwellings a year.  The Housing 

and Economic Needs Assessment (2022) indicates a comparable level of need and 

that there are around 1600 households on the waiting list for housing. At April 2023, 

the Council’s recent housing delivery was about 75% of its requirement and the 

Page 37



Council is only able to demonstrate about 2.2 year’s supply of deliverable housing 

sites. This is a significant shortfall.  

 

Policies SS12, SS13 and H1 of the Local Plan seek to provide sufficient housing in 

Torbay and to maintain a five year land supply. Policies SS13 and SS3 of the Local 

Plan set out a “presumption in favour of sustainable development” for housing 

separate to the NPPF.  This is returned to later in relation to the NPPF and operation 

of the Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development; but it is noted that the Local 

Plan contains policies that seeks to give favourable consideration to new housing 

(subject to other considerations) separately from the NPPF.  

 

Policy H1 of the Local Plan states that proposals for new homes within Strategic 

Delivery Areas, and elsewhere within the built-up area, will be supported subject to 

consistency with other policies in the Local Plan. Proposals for new homes on 

unallocated sites, including the renewal of existing permissions, will be assessed on 

the basis of set criteria, proportionate to the scale of the proposal.  

 

It is worth noting that although the proposal is of relatively modest scale, which will 

affect the weight attached to the shortfall in the overall balancing exercise.  However, 

a significant proportion of Torbay’s housing arises from sites of fewer than 10 dwellings 

every year (the average 2012-23 is 121 dwellings a year on sites of 1-9 dwellings, of 

which 111 a year are from Torquay). It will be important in terms of ongoing supply 

that small sites continue to arise, (subject to detailed assessment of their impact).   

 

Policy SDT1 of the Local Plan sets a target of 3955 dwellings for the Torquay 

Neighbourhood Plan area over the period 2012-30 (about 220 a year), with the main 

foci being the town centre and Waterfront and Torquay Gateway.  The Lincombes is 

not specifically mentioned in Policy SDT1 but all development is required to (inter alia) 

conserve or enhance the historic and natural environment.   

 

The site is not allocated for housing in Policy TH1 of the Torquay Neighbourhood Plan. 

Policy TS4 of the Neighbourhood Plan directs development towards brownfield sites. 

It only supports development of greenfield sites where allocated or the loss is required 

to meet the “strategic economic policies within the Local Plan”. 

 

This broad position on housing is subject to a detailed assessment of the proposal’s 

performance against policies in the Local and Neighbourhood Plan on a wider range 

of matters. This carried out below.   

 

2. Design, Visual Appearance and the Character of the Area  

Paragraph 126 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states that good 

design is a key aspect of sustainable development, creates better places in which to 

live and work and helps make development acceptable to communities. In addition, 

paragraph 134 states that ‘development that is not well designed should be refused, 

Page 38



especially where it fails to reflect local design and government guidance on design’. 

Policy DE1 of the Local Plan states that proposals will be assessed against a range of 

criteria relating to their function, visual appeal, and quality of public space. Policy TH8 

of the Neighbourhood Plan requires that developments be of good quality design, 

respect the local character in terms of height, scale and bulk, and reflect the identity 

of its surroundings. 

 

The application site includes a modest, two storey, residential dwelling with large 

grounds including a dilapidated greenhouse and a disused outbuilding. The dwelling 

has uPVC openings and poor quality extensions. The grounds of the plot gradually 

raise up from south to north forming terraces separated by stone walls. The natural 

stone walls define the site due east, west and north, whilst the southern boundary, 

along Meadfoot Sea Road, is a rendered wall. The existing dwelling occupies the 

south-western corner of the site. The building is built in the boundary walls and has an 

existing vehicular access at the south-east corner off Meadfoot Sea Road. 

 

The site is within the Lincombes Conservation Area and is adjacent to ‘Singleton’ 

(Grade II listed) and opposite ‘Palm Grove’ (Grade II listed) which are listed buildings. 

The Grade II listed Meadfoot Lodge and Grade II listed wall and gate piers to the west 

of Meadfoot Lodge are located to the north west of the site. Within the Lincombes 

Conservation Area map, the dwelling, greenhouse and an outbuilding are noted as 

other key buildings of architectural importance which make a significant contribution 

to the townscape. Policy SS10 of the Local Plan states that proposals will be assessed, 

amongst other things, in terms of the impact on listed and historic buildings, and their 

settings, and in terms of the need to conserve and enhance the distinctive character 

and appearance of Torbay's Conservation Areas.  

 

The proposal is for formation of seven apartments and two attached dwellings with a 

revised access and parking provision. The proposal includes the demolition of existing 

outbuildings, namely the greenhouse and a pitched roof outbuilding. Alterations and 

extensions to the existing dwelling are also proposed to include a single storey and 

two storey extension.  

 

The proposed apartment block would be four storeys in height, with a maximum 

approximate height of 12.2m from the south elevation, with the lower ground floor built 

into a re-built stone boundary wall which runs horizontally through the site and would 

be sited in the rear section of the plot. The proposed apartment block would have an 

asymmetrical appearance. The south elevation features the lower ground floor level in 

limestone, with breaks in the stone for the vehicular access to the undercroft parking 

area, the pedestrian access to the flats and openings serving the lower ground floor 

level flat. This elevation features two predominant two storey rendered blocks with 

openings serving the flats. A central vertical block finished in zinc effect vertical 

cladding is proposed alongside two recessed blocks, also finished in zinc effect vertical 

cladding at the top, second floor level. The rear north elevation features a similar 

Page 39



arrangement but due to the topography, the lower ground floor level is built into the 

land. The eastern side elevation features a lower ground floor level of limestone which 

adjoins the attached dwelling proposed to the south of the apartment block. The upper 

ground floor and first floor feature render whilst the recessed second floor level 

features zinc effect vertical cladding. The western side elevation is built into the 

topography of the land with three, two storey rendered blocks apparent at upper 

ground floor and first floor level and a recessed second floor level finished in zinc effect 

vertical cladding. Powder coated aluminium framed doors and windows are proposed 

throughout the building with dark grey pressed metal rainwater goods. Glass and 

stainless steel balustrading is proposed around the building serving patio/terraces 

formed at upper ground floor and second floor level and Juliet balconies at first floor 

level.  

 

The two proposed three bedroom attached dwellings would have two storeys and a 

single storey section attaching to the boundary wall facing Meadfoot Sea Road, whilst 

the northern elevation of the dwelling will attach to the rear apartment block and 

boundary wall. The proposed dwellings would have a flat roof with one integral garage 

serving the northern dwelling (C.H 1). The two storey section would have an 

approximate maximum height of 6.05m, whilst the single storey section would have an 

approximate maximum height of 3.15m. The proposed finish of the dwellings would 

include limestone at ground floor level, with the first floor finished in zinc effect vertical 

cladding, with powder coated aluminium openings and solid vertical larch plank doors 

serving the integral garage. The single storey flat roof will feature a sedum roof. 

 

The proposal also includes alterations and extensions to the existing dwelling 

‘Singleton Gardens’ to include a two storey extension to the northern side elevation 

and a single storey extension to the eastern front elevation of the dwelling, including 

a new pitched roof which will replace a section of existing flat roof. The proposal 

includes a render finish, slate roofs and powder coated aluminium openings to the 

existing dwelling.  

 

The proposal seeks to block up the existing vehicular access and retain a pedestrian 

access in this location whilst forming a new central vehicular access with a set back 

gate for vehicle entry and a separate pedestrian access gate. The existing rendered 

wall with concrete capping facing Meadfoot Sea Road will be replaced with a stone 

wall. Internally within the courtyard area, a bin store will be formed alongside a 

courtyard parking area with pockets of planting and vegetation to break up and soften 

the appearance. The retained dwelling and two attached dwellings will feature private 

outside amenity space. The courtyard will lead to an undercroft parking area serving 

the apartments and a separate pedestrian entrance into the apartment building. The 

apartments will be served by a number of private terrace areas and gardens in addition 

to a shared garden at the rear. 

 

Page 40



National and local planning policy emphasises the importance of design. It should be 

noted that the applicant entered into two pre-application enquiries and two Torbay 

Design Review Panel workshops (the reports from the Design Review Panels can be 

read in full on application P/2021/0802) prior to submitting application P/2021/0802 for 

the formation of 9 apartments & 2 semi-detached dwellings with access, garages & 

parking. Demolition of existing outbuildings. Alterations & extensions to existing 

dwelling to include 2 storey extension to side. This application was refused by the 

planning committee in March 2022 (the reasons for refusal can be read in the ‘relevant 

planning history’ section of this report). Following the refusal, the applicant entered 

into a further pre-application enquiry and the current proposal has sought to overcome 

concerns raised by the Design Review Panel, the reasons for refusal of P/2021/0802 

and comments made at the pre-application stage.  

 

This part of Meadfoot Sea Road is characterised by the most significant buildings 

being ‘Italianate’ in their architectural language, with complex accretive massing, 

heavy articulated eaves detailing and multiple localised symmetries. The plot to 

building relationships and ratios are noteworthy with large villas set back from the main 

frontage and sitting within generous gardens, visible verdant landscape and orientated 

somewhat to gain sea views. The streetscene and locality benefits from mature trees, 

including an off-site tree (T7 London Plane) owned by Torbay Council, adjacent to 

where the proposed access would be to serve the development.  

 

The proposed apartment block refused via P/2021/0802 was considered to be similar 

to that discussed at the Design Review Panel second workshop, where concerns were 

expressed that the south-western elevation presents a symmetrical façade that leads 

to an incongruous set of relationships that does not generate a satisfying architectural 

design and leads to a “deceitful composition”. The Panel’s report stated that “The lack 

of variation in height / massing seemed to be a distinct departure from the character 

of the Conservation Area”. The committee report of P/2021/0802 considered that the 

proposed apartment block would have an unrealistic and unbroken scale and massing 

that would be highly visible from within the Lincombes Conservation Area. It would 

present itself as an overtly dominant mass within the locality which lacks attention to 

detail and high quality design. 

 

The revised design put forward with this current application has presented an 

asymmetrical design with variations in height, massing and material composition. The 

articulation within the building design is considered to help to reduce the bulk and 

massing and has moved away from the previously presented symmetrical 

appearance. The overall datum ridge height at 54.50 is lower than that of the adjacent 

Meadville at 58.81 and Osbourne House. The adjacent White Lodge has a ridge height 

of 50.07 and the apartment block will therefore at its highest point sit 4.43m higher. 

Given the topography, the road slopes from west to east, and the height of the 

apartment block will follow a natural stepping down in height, and the height is 

therefore considered to fit comfortably within the streetscene. 

Page 41



   

The proposal would retain the feature of prominent walls within the site by utilising a 

limestone wall running east to west in the design of the apartment block which will 

replace the existing internal dividing wall. The existing rendered wall with concrete 

capping facing Meadfoot Sea Road would be replaced with a stone wall. The existing 

wall varies in height with a staggered section next to the existing dwelling. The height 

of the existing wall varies from approximately 3.52m high at its highest point next to 

the dwelling and measures approximately 1.8m high next to the existing entrance pier. 

The replacement wall will measure approximately 2.2m high next to the existing 

dwelling and varies in height as it follows the topography. The replacement wall is 

considered to result in an improved visual appearance to the streetscene due to the 

use of materials. The overall layout and siting of the principal elements of the 

development are considered to respond to the typical villa type layout, with space 

around the building, sensitive proportions, in-keeping with key and important buildings 

within the Conservation Area. The proposal also retains the ability to view the trees to 

the rear, enabling it to be assimilated into the background. Overall, the size, scale, 

appearance and massing are considered to be acceptable for the context of the site. 

 

The two proposed attached dwellings are modern in design and appearance, spanning 

two stories but with a single storey section adjacent to Meadfoot Sea Road. The lower 

single storey height helps to reduce the dominance of the building from the streetscene 

and attaching to the boundary wall and utilising matching local limestone walling aids 

in assimilating the building into the site context. Whilst the design is modern in 

appearance, this acknowledges and uses design features such as the materials and 

massing features of the apartment block which results in an appearance of a smaller 

block, related to the apartment block in design characteristics, but ancillary in scale. 

The attached dwellings would therefore appear coherent and directly related to the 

apartment block structure within the site. The existing dwelling on the site directly 

abuts and adjoins the boundary wall facing Meadfoot Sea Road and the attached 

dwellings mimic this design. The result is a courtyard framed by the retained dwelling 

and attached dwellings which lead to the larger, central apartment building. Overall, 

the size, scale, appearance and massing of the two attached dwellings are considered 

to be acceptable for the context of the site and would not result in an overly dominant 

built form when viewed from the streetscene. The siting and layout have allowed a 

courtyard parking area which features pockets of planting which significantly break up 

the built form and hard surfacing within the site. All the units have sufficient garden 

space or access to open space, and it is considered that the balance of hard and soft 

landscaping is acceptable.   

 

The alterations and extensions to the existing dwelling ‘Singleton Gardens’ are 

considered to result in an acceptable size, scale and visual appearance. The existing 

two storey flat roof element is considered to result in a poor visual appearance and the 

alteration and extension of this existing element to form a pitched roof is considered 

to appear visually coherent. Whilst the extension will result in a higher ridge height, in 

Page 42



this instance given the flat roof sits above the eaves level of the existing pitched roof, 

and the pitched roof sits adjacent to Meadfoot Sea Road, a steeping up of height 

further into the plot is considered to be an acceptable design rationale. The existing 

single storey flat roof element on the eastern front elevation will be rebuilt and 

extended with a single storey pitched roof extension with overhang. This appears 

subordinate to the main two storey elements of the building and the design as a whole 

is considered to result in an acceptable visual appearance.  

 

The development as a whole will not be dominant and visually intrusive and the overall 

size, scale, massing and visual appearance is considered to result in an acceptable 

visual appearance that retains local distinctiveness and sense of place and is in 

keeping with the character and appearance of the area. The development as a whole 

is considered to accord with Policy DE1 of the Local Plan and Policy TH8 of the 

Torquay Neighbourhood Plan. 

 

Planning conditions are recommended to secure landscaping, suitable boundary 

treatments, materials and window and door details to ensure that a suitable form of 

development is undertaken and to secure high quality details to reflect the context. A 

condition removing certain permitted development rights is also recommended given 

the sensitive location of the site and the potential for these works to negatively impact 

on the character and appearance of the development. 

 

3. Heritage 

Section 72 of The Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (1990 

Act) sets out the general duty as respects Conservation Areas, which requires Local 

Authorities to pay special attention to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the 

character or appearance of that area. Similarly, Section 66 of the 1990 Act sets out 

the general duty as respects listed buildings, which requires Local Authorities to have 

special regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features 

of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses.  

 

Paragraph 199 of the NPPF states that: 

 

When considering the impact of a proposed development on the significance of 

a designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset’s 

conservation (and the more important the asset, the greater the weight should 

be). This is irrespective of whether any potential harm amounts to substantial 

harm, total loss or less than substantial harm to its significance.  

 

The site is situated within the Lincombes Conservation Area. Within the Lincombes 

Conservation Area map, the dwelling, greenhouse and an outbuilding are noted as 

other key buildings of architectural importance which make a significant contribution 

to the townscape. The site is adjacent to ‘Singleton’ (Grade II listed) and ‘Palm Grove’ 

(Grade II listed) is located on the opposite side of Meadfoot Sea Road and to the north 

Page 43



west the nearby Meadfoot Lodge and wall and gate piers to the west of Meadfoot 

Lodge are Grade II listed. The buildings listed as ‘other key buildings of architectural 

importance which make a significant contribution to the townscape’ within the 

Lincombes Conservation Area map are considered to constitute non designated 

heritage assets due to their contribution to the Conservation Area and these include, 

but are not limited to, Osbourne House, Delamere Court and Marstan Hotel. The 

application has been supported by a heritage significance assessment which analyses 

the site, the historic environment records, the heritage value and significance of the 

site and assess and discusses the design response put forward, with reference to 

policy and heritage considerations.   

 

During the course of the application Historic England were approached with a request 

to add the site to the Register of Parks and Gardens of Special Historic Interest in 

England. A decision was made on the 26th January 2023 not to list the site. Historic 

England in their consideration confirmed: 

 

The walled garden at Singleton Gardens historically had some connection to 

one of the grand mid-C19 villas nearby, most probably the house known as 

Singleton. The walled gardens would have yielded vegetables and top-fruits for 

the owners, and the historic presence of glasshouses perhaps suggests a 

desire to impress through the cultivation of tropical crops. This connection is of 

some local interest, and the surviving boundary walls and open spaces 

expressed through their former use contribute to the appearance and interest 

of the Lincombes Conservation Area. However, the layout and features shown 

on mapping from the C19 to the post-war period have largely been lost. The 

garden structures in the south-west corner of the southern garden have been 

altered and converted to a modern house. The ‘icehouse’ has some 

architectural merit, but it has also been altered and alongside vagaries about 

its purpose, it cannot itself have any claims to special interest. Additionally, the 

separation in ownership in the post-war years has divorced the garden of any 

contextual connection to Singleton. Any natural or biodiverse interest which the 

gardens have is not relevant to this listing assessment. Therefore, judged 

against the criteria for listing the walled garden and its associated structures at 

Singleton Gardens, Torquay do not merit listing for the following principal 

reasons: 

 

Lack of architectural interest:  

* most of the garden features and structures, which would have been standard 

in a small walled garden such as this, have been lost or altered;  

* the ‘icehouse’ has some architectural merit, but alterations and uncertainty of 

use reduces any claims to special interest.  

 

Lack of historic interest:  

* any historic association and connection with Singleton has been lost;  

Page 44



* the contribution of the garden to this area of Torquay and its villa residences 

is of local rather than national interest.  

 

CONCLUSION The walled garden and its associated structures at Singleton 

Gardens, Torquay, dating to the mid-C19 with alterations and losses, do not 

meet the criteria for listing in a national context. 

 

Following this decision, a further request was made to Historic England to reconsider 

listing the site. A decision was made on the 11th July 2023 not to list the site with the 

following comments made: 

 

Singleton Gardens is understood to have been constructed between 1836 and 

1861 and is therefore part of the initial period of villa development in Torquay. 

Other villas on the Palk estate with walled gardens, such as at the neighbouring 

Osborne Villa, and at Vomero (1838) in the Warberries area, are shown on the 

1880 OS map but they were not of a comparable size. These and other smaller 

walled gardens have largely been lost to development pressures, so the 

survival of the boundary walls to two of the three compartments of the walled 

garden for Singleton is a rarity for the area.  

 

However, any significance of the walled garden as a surviving C19 walled 

garden needs to be carefully balanced against its surviving fabric and layout. 

The structures that do survive (walls and bothy structure) do not display 

particularly interesting or unusual elements of construction or function. Other 

elements including the glasshouse bases and gardener’s cottage are now 

fragmentary, as successive changes have been made to their rather modest 

historic fabric. The layout of the walled garden and its inter-relationship with its 

immediate surroundings has also largely been lost reducing the impact of the 

walled garden within its marine landscape and therefore any claims to interest 

for this. It does not survive as a particularly good or well preserved example of 

a walled garden.  

 

Claims have been made for the significance of Torquay’s mid-C19 planned 

suburban villa landscape as part of the national trend in the development of 

seaside resorts in the C18 and C19, and that the construction and survival of 

the walled garden at Singleton contributes to this significance. It is clear that 

the scale and quality of the villa developments in the Warberries and Lincombes 

areas of Torquay over a short period of time is notable, and this interest is 

reflected in those areas being designated as separate conservation areas, 

within which many of the C19 villas and their associated boundary walls and 

gate piers are listed. Smaller details such as street signs, granite kerbs, cobbled 

surfaces all contribute to the history and character of the conservation area, as 

do the boundary walls and open spaces of the walled garden at Singleton. 

Torquay’s place within the contextual history of suburban coastal and urban 

Page 45



villa developments of the time is undeniably of importance, but it is not 

considered that this was uniquely innovative, particularly at the level as is 

claimed. The recognition of this at conservation area level is regarded as being 

an appropriate designation.  

 

Claims for historic association have also been made for the walled garden. The 

only known significant figure associated with Singleton and its walled garden is 

Reverend Canon Alan Campbell Don KCVO (1885-1963), who, with his brother 

was put in trust of Singleton in the early 1940s, selling the garden in 1945. At 

no point did the Dons live at Singleton and therefore no claims to special 

associative historic interest can be made. Wider claims have been made for the 

town with various notable visitors and personalities attached but none of these 

relate directly to Singleton or its walled garden.  

 

In terms of the significance of the suburban villa landscape in Torquay, this 

interest is recognised by many of the villas being listed at Grade II, and the 

designation of conservation areas. The history of the walled garden associated 

with Singleton adds an important layer to the understanding of the area, 

although little specific documentation is currently known to survive. Whilst it is 

recognised that Singleton Gardens is an unusual survivor, any claims to rarity 

or uniqueness are rather unaccomplished. With this in mind, and considering 

the considerable losses to its historic fabric, associated structures and layout, 

the walled garden known as Singleton Gardens is not considered to meet the 

criteria for Registration.  

 

CONCLUSION  

After examining all the records and other relevant information and having 

carefully considered the historic interest of the case, the criteria for the 

registration of the walled garden associated with the property known as 

Singleton Gardens, Torquay, Devon are not fulfilled.  

 

REASONS FOR DESIGNATION DECISION  

The walled garden associated with the property known as Singleton Gardens, 

Torquay, Devon is not recommended for inclusion on the Register of Historic 

Parks and Gardens for the following principal reasons:  

 

Historic interest:  

* the features of the walled garden are modest for this type of structure and 

gardens of the period and it does not survive as a notable example of a 

particularly important phase of garden development;  

* Singleton and its walled garden contribute to an understanding of the early-

C19 development of Torquay and the walled garden is recognised as being an 

uncommon survivor, however this is not sufficient to raise the level of interest 

to that required for national designation.  

Page 46



 

Degree of survival:  

* the fabric of the walled garden has been significantly eroded by cumulative 

post-war changes and loss;  

* the loss of the pathway layout within the walled garden and removal of the 

access from Singleton has reduced the understanding of the patterns of 

movement around the garden. 

 

The Council has assessed if the site should be considered curtilage listed and has 

considered the detailed representations received as part of the consultation period in 

its consideration on this issue, including the comments made by Historic England.  

 

Section 1 (5) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 

states that any object or structure within the curtilage of a listed building which, 

although not fixed to the building, forms part of the land and has done so since before 

1st July 1948, shall be treated as part of the building.  The object or structure is 

considered to be part of the listed building and is listed (these structures are often 

called “curtilage listed”). This only applies to objects or structures ancillary and 

subordinate to the listed building itself (Debenhams plc v Westminster City Council 

(1987) AC 396). 

 

In the case of Methuen-Campbell v Walters [1979] QB 525 the court held that property 

will be within the curtilage of another property if it is so intimately associated as to form 

part and parcel of it and this will depend on the circumstances of every case.  The 

curtilage may be confined to a small area around the principal property but not 

necessarily so and again this will depend on all the circumstances, including the nature 

and location of the properties. 

 

In Attorney-General, ex rel Sutcliffe, Rouse and Hughes v Calderdale Borough Council 

[1983] JPL 310, the Court of Appeal concluded that the following factors should be 

taken into account in determining whether or not a structure or object was within the 

curtilage of the principal listed building: 

 

 The physical layout of the listed building and the structure or object. 

 The ownership of the listed building and the structure or object, both past and 

present. 

 The use or function of the listed building and the structure or object, both past 

and present. 

 

In Hampshire CC v Blackbushe Airport Limited [2021] EWCA Civ 398, the court held 

that the land must be so intimately connected with the building as to lead to the 

conclusion that the former is in truth part and parcel of the latter. 

 

Page 47



 

The question is whether the structures within the application site were within the 

curtilage of any listed building when that building was listed. 

 

Singleton was Listed Grade II on 10 January 1975.  The listing states that it preserves 

its C19 garden plot. Meadfoot Lodge was listed Grade II on 2 May 1974.  The listing 

entry states that the building was already in use as holiday flats. 

 

Singleton Gardens consists of 2 parcels of land, forming a series of 4 smaller walled 

areas set between a number of historic villas, north of Meadfoot Sea Road. On the 

basis of the evidence we have, our conclusions on the curtilage listing of the site are 

as follows: 

 

Meadfoot Lodge: 

 

Singleton Gardens does not appear to be within the curtilage of Meadfoot Lodge.  

Meadfoot Lodge is recorded as being in use as flats when it was listed.   There is no 

known connection between Singleton Gardens and Meadfoot Lodge on the basis of 

ownership, physical layout or use/function.  As noted below it appears that Singleton 

Gardens was sold off from Singleton in 1945.   

 

Singleton:  

  

- Physical layout: Reviewing the available historic documents, the title plan to 

Singleton indicates that it has laid out gardens and appears unconnected with 

Singleton Gardens. It is also separated by a belt of mature trees indicating the length 

of time this separation has been in place. There is a linear common boundary running 

from Lincombe Drive to Meadfoot Sea Road which would also appear to show 

separation.  The issue is whether the layout means Singleton Gardens is so intimately 

associated as to form part and parcel of Singleton. Reviewing the layout of both sites 

(whether or not used together or in common ownership) it appears that the layout does 

not demonstrate intimate association. The listing of Singleton refers to the retention of 

its garden plot.  It does not refer to any walled garden greenhouses or market 

garden.  Whilst not conclusive this strongly indicates that Singleton Gardens was not 

considered to be part of the listing of Singleton. 

 

- Ownership: The title to Singleton contains the following entry: The land has the 

benefit of the following rights reserved by a Conveyance of Singleton Gardens 

adjoining the south-east corner of the land in this title dated 14 September 1945.  The 

title to Singleton Gardens contains a corresponding entry that the land is subject to the 

provisions of the 1945 conveyance.  This shows that Singleton Gardens was sold off 

in 1945 prior to Singleton being listed.   

  

Page 48



- Use or function. Historic mapping appears to show some smaller structures, likely 

glasshouses/greenhouses, within the sites although the number of these appears to 

have fluctuated over time, with many being removed or demolished as the site has 

evolved. The use of site as a whole following its sale in 1945, appears to have been 

walled gardens completely separate to Singleton.   

 

Only ancillary structures would be curtilage listed.  As mentioned above the use as a 

walled garden appears to be independent of any listed building.  In addition, Singleton 

Gardens itself is an independent dwelling.  If the use commenced prior to the listing of 

Singleton then it would not be curtilage listed in any event. 

  

On the basis of the evidence we have, we consider that the structures in Singleton 

Gardens are not curtilage listed.   

   

For clarity, listed building consent is required to carry out works to demolish, alter or 

extend a curtilage listed building, if the works would affect the character of the principal 

listed building as a building of special architectural or historic interest.  To proceed 

without consent, if it is required, is a criminal offence.  If listed building consent is 

required the developer will have to apply for that separately.  Whilst we consider that 

the structures in Singleton Gardens are not curtilage listed any uncertainty as to the 

precise extent of the curtilage of Singleton does not prevent the Council from 

determining this application.  We have concluded (below) that the proposed demolition 

and alteration of these structures is considered to be acceptable given their state of 

disrepair and low level of special interest and historic fabric, and that the proposal’s 

impact on the setting of Singleton is considered to be negligible.   

 

The outbuildings proposed for demolition include the greenhouse, which the 

accompanying heritage assessment states it dates to the period between 1933 and 

1953. The timbers do not suggest anything like the kind of quality that one might expect 

of Victorian glasshouses and its orientation and juxtaposition with the cottage suggest 

a more modern use. It is of limited heritage value and has been badly repaired and 

altered over the course of the 20th century. Within the wider grounds, a number of 

brick and stone outbuildings appear to be late 19th- early 20th century in date, 

extended and altered with modern roofs and in various states of dilapidation. The small 

outbuilding on the west boundary is also proposed to be demolished. The heritage 

assessment states that this may have at one time been a pen or lean-to structure 

affixed to the wall and is visible on early mapping. However, its present roof is shallow 

pitched and tiled, with rebuilt gables. The walls are in poor condition and appear to be 

added to the earlier boundary. The building is of limited heritage value and may be 

retained and restored, or removed to better reveal the garden plot walls behind. 

Historic England in their consideration of the listing note that ‘The structures that do 

survive (walls and bothy structure) do not display particularly interesting or unusual 

elements of construction or function. Other elements including the glasshouse bases 

and gardener’s cottage are now fragmentary, as successive changes have been made 

Page 49



to their rather modest historic fabric. The ‘icehouse’ [outbuilding on the west boundary] 

has some architectural merit, but it has also been altered and alongside vagaries about 

its purpose, it cannot itself have any claims to special interest.’ The proposed 

demolition of these structures is therefore considered to be acceptable given their 

state of disrepair and low level of special interest and historic fabric. The replacement 

of the horizontal stone dividing wall with a rebuilt stone wall, which the development 

will be built into and attach to, is considered to retain the characteristic of the walled 

garden and separation within the site, therefore not resulting in a detriment to the 

historic significance of this feature. The northern, eastern and western boundary walls 

will be retained. Objectors have stated that the perimeter wall along Meadfoot Sea 

Road contributes to that vista and character of the area. The southern boundary wall 

facing Meadfoot Sea Road will be replaced with a stone wall which is considered to 

result in an improved visual appearance to the streetscene within the context of the 

Conservation Area.      

 

Overall, it is not considered that the development will have a significant impact on 

heritage issues related to the loss of the walled garden and landscaping, loss and 

alterations to stone walls and the perimeter walls and any historic links to Singleton 

Manor. 

 

Objectors suggest that the development will interrupt the character and appearance 

of the streetscene and erode the quality of this part of the Conservation Area and that 

it will impact on the open vista. The Victorian Society has noted that the development 

would seriously alter the character of the walled garden, harming its historic legibility 

in connection to nearby historic villas, and the contribution it makes to the 

Conservation Area. They recommend that the proposal is reconsidered, and options 

are explored which would preserve more of the site’s character and legibility as a 

historic walled garden.  

 

Explanatory notes 4.4.24 of Policy SS10 of the Local Plan states that ‘the integration 

of Torbay’s heritage assets with modern development forms an important part of the 

maintenance and development of Torbay’s unique character. Urban renewal, 

regeneration, and preservation of the historic environment can give rise to competing 

pressures. Careful development management is essential to ensure heritage assets 

and key features are conserved, while ensuring good quality development which 

contributes to the community good.’ The proposal as a whole will result in the 

development of garden space within the Conservation Area which will have a negative 

impact, and resultant harm to this designated heritage asset. The existing open space 

within the site, in addition to the host dwelling are considered to positively contribute 

to the significance of the Conservation Area. Whilst the development of this garden 

which provides an open aspect is considered to result in harm to Conservation Area, 

the development as a whole is not considered to be overly dominant, nor visually 

intrusive and the overall size, scale, massing and visual appearance, including that of 

the apartment block, attached dwelling, extended host dwelling and associated works 

Page 50



within the site and to the boundary are considered to result in an acceptable visual 

appearance that retains local distinctiveness and sense of place and is in keeping with 

the character and appearance of the area. The harm to the Conservation Area is 

therefore considered to be limited to the loss of the open aspect of the garden. The 

proposal is considered to result in sympathetic development which contributes to the 

local character and distinctiveness of the area whilst retaining the ability to view the 

trees to the rear, enabling it to be assimilated into the background. Overall, the size, 

scale, appearance and massing are considered to be acceptable for the context of the 

site and the proposal is considered to accord with Policy SS10.6 and SS10.8 of the 

Torbay Local Plan, however the proposal will fail to conserve and enhance the 

Conservation Area contrary to Policy SS10.3 of the Torbay Local Plan.  

 

With regards to the proposal’s impact on the setting of the nearby listed buildings, 

including, but not limited to, Palm Grove, Singleton and Meadfoot Lodge, this is 

considered to be negligible. Given the separation distance and intervening features, 

including that of Meadville, from the application site to Meadfoot Lodge and the listed 

walls and gate piers to the west of Meadfoot Lodge, there is considered to be a limited 

appreciable relationship or intervisibility. The proposal is therefore considered to 

maintain the setting of these listed buildings/structures. Similarly, given the separation 

distance, topography and landscape features including tree screening from the 

application site to Singleton, there is considered to be a limited appreciable 

relationship or intervisibility. The proposal is therefore considered to maintain the 

setting of this listed building. The application site and proposed works will be visible 

from Palm Grove and from the streetscene when considering the setting of Palm 

Grove. The new stone southern boundary wall is considered to improve the setting of 

this listed building. Whilst the development will be visible from and will be perceived in 

the context of Palm Grove, given the sensitive siting, scale and design of the scheme 

as a whole, the proposal is not considered to result in harm to the significance and 

setting of Palm Grove. The proposal is therefore considered to accord with Policy 

SS10.1 of the Torbay Local Plan. 

 

The proposal is considered to have an acceptable impact to the setting of the nearby 

non designated heritage assets due to the sensitive siting, scale, massing and visual 

appearance of the development as a whole. 

 

The Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires that special 

attention shall be paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or 

appearance of the Lincombes Conservation Area. The proposal has followed a 

sequence of refinements and responded to comments relating to heritage by officers 

and the Design Review Panel (DRP) following the pre-application enquiry process, 

DRP and the reasons for refusal of application P/2021/0802. The proposed 

development has incorporated mitigation measures to reduce the effects on both 

townscape character and visual amenity, and to help integrate the development into 

its surroundings. These include sympathetic materials and architectural treatment, and 

Page 51



the proportions of each element have been fully considered and are considered to 

assimilate into the site to ensure the proposed built form is in keeping with the 

surroundings. Overall, it is considered that the proposal would amount to less than 

substantial harm resulting from the development of the garden which provides an open 

aspect within the Conservation Area and this harm is considered to be at the minor 

end of the scale as it has been reduced by the sensitive siting, scale and design of the 

scheme as a whole. In addition, the existing rendered wall with concrete capping 

facing Meadfoot Sea Road would be replaced with a stone wall which will result in an 

improved visual appearance to the streetscene and consequent enhancement to the 

Conservation Area. 

 

Paragraph 202 of the NPPF states: 

 

Where a development proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the 

significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed 

against the public benefits of the proposal including, where appropriate, 

securing its optimum viable use.  

 

Given the loss of garden which provides an open aspect within the Conservation Area, 

it is considered that the proposal will not sustain and enhance the Lincombes 

Conservation Area, contrary to Policy SS10 of the Local Plan. Explanatory notes 

4.4.30 of Policy SS10 of the Local Plan states that ‘Policy SS10 seeks to ensure that 

heritage assets are safeguarded for the future, and where possible enhanced both for 

their own merits and as part of regeneration projects. It is also sufficiently flexible to 

ensure that any harm to the significance of a historic asset can be weighed against 

the wider benefits of an application, for example social, economic and environmental 

enhancement’. 

 

Objectors have questioned the quality of the heritage assessment and criticised 

internal officer advice on conservation, assessment and appraisal.  This was dealt with 

in the consultation response dated 05/04/23 (located in the summary of consultation 

responses above). Officers are satisfied that we have the necessary expertise within 

the department, coupled with advice via the listing consideration process from Historic 

England, to deal with the heritage issues raised by this development.   

 

The harm to the Conservation Area and the public benefits of the proposal will be 

weighed up in the planning balance and conclusion sections of this report as required 

by Policy SS10.7 of the Local Plan and the NPPF.  

 

4. Impact on Residential Amenity 

Policy DE3 of the Local Plan states that development proposals should be designed 

to provide a good level of amenity for future residents and will be assessed in terms 

Page 52



of the impact of noise, nuisance, visual intrusion, overlooking and privacy, light and air 

pollution, provision of useable amenity space, and an adequate internal living space.  

 

Internal Living Space 

Policy DE3 of the Local Plan requires that new residential units provide adequate 

internal floor space in order to achieve a pleasant and healthy environment. The 

Neighbourhood Plan is largely silent on the matter of amenity. The NPPF guides that 

decisions should ensure that developments create places that are safe, inclusive and 

accessible and which promote health and well-being, with a high standard of amenity 

for existing and future users. 

 

Policy DE3 sets out the minimum floor space standards for new dwellings and 

apartments. The proposed residential units feature the following approximate floor 

areas: 

 

Apartments: 

1. 4 bed (inc. one single) – 122.57sqm 

2. 3 bed (inc. two single) – 86.15sqm 

3. 3 bed – 111.28sqm 

4. 3 bed (inc. two single) – 86.23sqm 

5. 3 bed – 111.37sqm 

6. 3 bed (inc. two single) – 71.35sqm  

7. 2 bed (inc. one single) – 63.87sqm 

 

Attached dwellings: 

1. 3 bed – 141.39sqm 

2. 3 bed (inc. one single) – 98.75sqm 

 

Existing dwelling: 

3 bedroom (plus study) – 123.69sqm 

 

All units comply with the minimum floor space requirements apart from apartment unit 

6. Unit 6 features a floor area of approximately 71.35sqm, whereas the minimum floor 

area set out in Policy DE3 states that a flat of this size should be a minimum of 74sqm. 

Whilst the floor area of this one unit is marginally below the recommended floor area, 

the unit is considered to have a usable layout for all day to day needs, adequate light 

and outlook and a private outside terrace. Therefore, whilst the floor area is slightly 

below standards, the quality of the internal environment is considered to be 

satisfactory.  

 

All other units across the site are considered to provide a good quality internal 

environment for future occupiers with habitable rooms served by adequate light and 

outlook and layouts set out in a functional manner. Therefore, the proposed residential 

accommodation is considered to comply with Policy DE3 of the Local Plan in this 

Page 53



regard. 

 

External Amenity Space 

Policy THW4 of the Torquay Neighbourhood Plan states that all new houses shall have 

not less than 20 square metres of outside space and must have garden areas with not 

less than 10 square metres space suitable for growing plants or the equivalent 

allocated communal growing space within an easy walk. Flats or apartments must 

have either a balcony of not less than 10 square metres and as appropriate to the size 

of the home or a communal green area of not less than 10 square metres per unit 

within the curtilage of the property.   

 

The proposed layout provides a communal outdoor amenity space for the apartment 

block as well as providing apartments 1, 2, 3, 6 and 7 with private outside space. The 

provision exceeds the requirements of Policy THW4.  

 

The two proposed attached dwellings and the existing dwelling would also benefit from 

their own individual outdoor amenity spaces which exceed the requirements of Policy 

THW4.  

 

Neighbour Amenity 

To the west/ south west of the proposed apartment block is the block of flats; 

Meadville. The block of flats also features a garage block in the south east corner of 

the plot directly adjacent to the existing host dwelling on the application site. The 

proposed apartment block, at its closest point above ground level, would be sited 

approximately 21.17m from the closest point of the Meadville block of flats. The closest 

point is the projection at upper ground floor and first floor level of the proposed 

apartment building, and this is not sited directly opposite the closest section of 

Meadville. The closest section of the proposed apartment building directly adjacent 

Meadville has a separation distance of approximately 22.35m. Given the separation 

distances between the proposed apartment building and Meadville, coupled with the 

orientation and siting of the buildings and the boundary treatments and existing 

vegetation, the proposed apartment building is not considered to result in a loss of 

amenity to occupiers of these flats. Given the siting and orientation of the proposed 

apartment building, in combination with the landscaping and boundary treatment, the 

proposal is not considered to result in an unacceptable level of overlooking and loss 

of privacy to private outside areas associated with the flats.  

 

The extension to the host dwelling Singleton Gardens will extend the dwelling along 

the shared west boundary with Meadville and the ridge height of the extension will be 

higher than the adjacent wall and garages. Given the extension will sit adjacent to the 

existing block of garages with hardstanding parking area to the west of the garages, 

combined with the separation distance to the nearest habitable room within Meadville, 

the extension and alterations to the host dwelling are not considered to result in a loss 

of amenity to the occupiers of the flats and the associated grounds. 

Page 54



 

The proposed apartment block will be sited approximately 29.3m at its closest point at 

lower ground floor level to the dwelling; White Lodge. Given the separation distances 

between the proposed apartment building and White Lodge, coupled with the 

orientation of the buildings and the boundary treatments and existing vegetation, the 

proposed apartment building is not considered to result in a loss of amenity to 

occupiers of this dwelling. Given the separation distance of approximately 31.1m from 

the nearest proposed attached dwelling to White Lodge, the proposal is not considered 

to result in a loss of their amenity. Given the separation distance and boundary 

treatment, the attached dwellings are not considered to result in an unacceptable level 

of overlooking or otherwise loss of amenity to White Lodge’s outside amenity space.     

 

The proposed apartment block and attached dwellings would primarily face towards 

the internal access driveway and landscaping serving Osborne House rather than the 

private outside space directly next to the dwelling which is likely to be the most utilised. 

As such the proposal is not considered to result in an unacceptable level of overlooking 

and loss of privacy to private outside areas associated with this dwelling.  

 

The properties to the south, including Delamere Court and Palm Grove are considered 

to be a sufficient distance away given the separation distance and Meadfoot Sea Road 

being in-between that there would not be a detrimental impact on the amenity of 

neighbours, in terms of their outlook, privacy, or access to natural light. 

 

Overall, given its siting, scale, and design of the proposal, it is considered that the 

proposal would not result in any unacceptable harm to the amenities of any nearby 

neighbour, in terms of their outlook, privacy, overbearing impact or access to natural 

light. More generally in terms of the finished development the residential use aligns 

with the residential uses nearby and the additional residential units would not result in 

undue noise or general disturbance for existing occupiers in the area.  

 

A planning condition is recommended to secure a Construction Method Statement 

prior to the commencement of the development to ensure there is oversight of the 

demolition and construction period.  

 

5. Impact on Highway Safety 

Policy DE3 of the Local Plan specifies that new development proposals should have 

satisfactory provision for off-road motor vehicle parking, bicycles and storage of 

containers for waste and recycling. Policy TA1 sets out promoting improvements to 

road safety. Policy TA2 of the Local Plan states all development proposals should 

make appropriate provision for works and/or contributions to ensure an adequate level 

of accessibility and safety, and to satisfy the transport needs of the development. 

Policy TA3 of the Local Plan details that the Council will require appropriate provision 

of car, commercial vehicle and cycle parking spaces in all new development. Policy 

Page 55



TH9 of the Torquay Neighbourhood Plan states that all housing developments must 

meet the guideline parking requirements contained in the Local Plan unless it can be 

shown that there is not likely to be an increase in on-street parking arising from the 

development or, the development is within the town centre and an easy walk of a 

public car park which will be available to residents for the foreseeable future. Policy 

TH9 goes on to state that new major developments must contribute to better 

pedestrian/cycle links where possible and encourage modal shift towards active travel.  

 

The proposal includes a new access point from Meadfoot Sea Road and provides a 

total of 14 on-site parking spaces.  

 

The Local Highway Authority have been consulted on the application. They have 

confirmed that the applicant has submitted a drawing which illustrates visibility splays 

of an ‘X’ distance of 2.4m and a ‘Y’ distance of 43 metres can be achieved in both the 

primary and secondary directions. This is commensurate with the requirements of a 

posted speed restriction of 30mph and is considered acceptable. A plan showing a 2m 

x 2m pedestrian visibility splay from the site access has been provided and this is 

accepted by the Highway Authority. The proposed plans also illustrate that the site 

access gates which open inwards into the site which is considered acceptable. The 

swept path analyses demonstrate that large vehicles including fire vehicles can access 

and egress the site in a forward gear, which is considered to be acceptable.  

 

Appendix F of the Local Plan states that the proposed development should provide 

one off-street parking space per apartment and two off-street parking spaces per 

dwelling, totalling 13 off-street parking spaces, plus an additional parking space for 

visitors. The parking provision of 14 spaces is therefore in accordance with the Local 

Plan. Appendix F states that parking spaces should be 4.8 metres by 2.4 metres and 

the adopted Highways Standing Advice states that where a parking space is adjacent 

to a solid obstruction such as a retaining wall, the minimum width of a parking space 

should be 3.2 metres and should not be reduced.    

 

In terms of the undercroft parking, the proposal details four 5.1 metre by 2.5 metre 

spaces for parking spaces 2, 5 and 6. Parking spaces 3, 4 and 7 have been enlarged 

to 5.1 metres by 3.3 metres and space 1 measures 5.1 metres by 2.5 metres with an 

adjacent width of 1.15 metres to accord with and exceed the standing advice guidance 

in relation to parking next to walls. Space 7 would fulfil the requirements of a disabled 

space. The undercroft parking also accommodates a 6.3 metre back-to-back distance 

between opposing parking spaces for manoeuvring which is acceptable.  

 

Garages should have a minimum internal measurement of 6 metres by 3.3 metres to 

qualify as a full parking space. The proposed integral garage serving the northern 

attached dwelling adheres to this requirement with an internal space of 7 metres by 

3.3 metres.  

 

Page 56



The courtyard parking serving the two attached dwellings, the host dwelling; Singleton 

Gardens and the 1 visitors space all meet the minimum dimension set out in Appendix 

F.  

 

Whilst concerns relating to the amount of parking provision have been raised by the 

Police Designing Out Crime Officer, the provision is in accordance with Policy TA3 

and Appendix F of the Local Plan and the Highways Engineer has confirmed no 

objection to the proposal. A planning condition is recommended to ensure the parking 

provision is provided prior to occupation. 

 

Appendix F also states that 1 electric vehicle charging point (EVCP) should be 

provided for each dwelling and 20% of parking spaces for flatted development should 

have EVCP’s. Each flat is served by an EVCP, and 1 EVCP has been provided for 

each of the attached dwellings and the host dwelling resulting in 10 EVCP’s across 

the site which exceeds the requirements of Appendix F of the Local Plan. A planning 

condition is recommended to secure the details and installation of the charging points 

prior to occupation. The Police Designing Out Crime Officer has raised a concern 

regarding the proposed installation of the EVCP’s within the undercroft parking area, 

given the potential fire risk from charging electric vehicles within this enclosed space 

with residential units above it and has noted it must have the necessary fire mitigation 

services. The Council’s Building Control Officer has confirmed that Part R of the 

Building Regulations came into force in June 2022 covering a requirement for EVCP’s 

to all new buildings and changes of use etc. Regarding the safety, Section 6 of the 

Approved Document S to Requirement S1 provides the relevant design and 

installation standards expected for ECVP’s. The Officer has therefore confirmed that 

they would expect these to be followed regarding the design, installation and 

commissioning. Therefore, providing the building regulations requirements are 

followed, there is no safety reason for not allowing EVCP’s within the undercroft 

parking area. 

 

In terms of sustainable modes of transport, Appendix F states that at least 2 covered 

and secure cycle storage spaces should be provided per dwellings and at least 1 

covered and secure cycle space should be provided per flat. The proposed plans detail 

internal cycle storage within the two attached dwellings, an external area for bike 

storage under the single storey canopy of the extended host dwelling and cycle 

storage within the lower ground floor of the apartment block in addition to an area of 

cycle storage in the undercroft parking area.    

 

The Highways Engineer has confirmed that seven cycle spaces are provided within 

the apartment building and two spaces per house, which meets the requirement within 

policy TA3 and Appendix F of the Torbay Local Plan. However, six spaces are 

provided by means of vertical racking within the apartment building which may not be 

suitable for all bike users. It is noted that one cycle space is provided adjacent to 

allocated car space No.1 which is not vertical. Therefore, alternative provision of cycle 

Page 57



storage should be considered to ensure that bike users of all abilities are able to store 

their cycles. It is considered that there is sufficient space to provide suitable bike 

storage and therefore a planning condition is recommended to secure the final details 

of the proposed bike storage to ensure compliance with policy and to ensure its 

installation prior to fist occupation.  

 

Policy W1 of the Local Plan states that as a minimum, all developments should make 

provision for appropriate storage, recycling, treatment and removal of waste likely to 

be generated and with particular reference to residential developments, they should 

provide adequate space within the curtilage for waste and accessible kerbside recycle 

bins and boxes. The proposal provides bin storage within a communal bin storage 

area within the courtyard.  

 

SWISCo's Waste Client Manager has confirmed that the location of the bin store is 

acceptable for collection staff. There would need to be flat access with dropped kerbs 

between the bin store and the place that the collection vehicles pull up alongside 

Singleton Gardens to collect from the public highway. The plans show individual sets 

of bins, recycling boxes and food waste bins. Individual bins are a suitable solution 

here, but the collection teams would not collect from the bin store and instead residents 

would need to leave their bins and boxes at the curtilage of the property for collection 

and then bring them back in. The agent has confirmed that waste and recycling will be 

presented for collection on the street and the waste vehicles will therefore not need to 

access the site. The Highways Engineer has confirmed this is acceptable. 

 

A planning condition requiring the installation of the bin storage prior to first occupation 

is therefore recommended to ensure adequate facilities are provided.  

 

Subject to the aforementioned planning conditions, the proposal would have an 

acceptable impact in terms of highway safety and waste, and would comply with 

Policies TA1, TA2, TA3 and W1 of the Local Plan and Policy TH9 of the Torquay 

Neighbourhood Plan. 

 

6. Trees 

Policy C4 of the Local Plan states that development will not be permitted when it would 

seriously harm, either directly or indirectly, protected trees or veteran trees, 

hedgerows, ancient woodlands or other natural features of significant landscape, 

historic or nature conservation value. Policy C4 goes on to state that development 

proposals should seek to retain and protect existing hedgerows, trees and natural 

landscape features wherever possible, particularly where they serve an important 

biodiversity role. 

 

The site is protected by a 1973.01 Area TPO and lies within the Lincombes 

Conservation Area. Both the TPO and Conservation Area provide statutory protection 

to the trees impacted by the development.  

Page 58



 

The Council's Green Infrastructure Manager and Senior Tree Officer has been 

consulted on the proposal and has stated that the submitted arboricultural information 

correctly identifies the trees and categorises them accordingly.   

 

The Officer has confirmed that tree T6 is dead and the removal of T6 has been 

specified. Apple trees T2, T3, T5, T10 & T16 are live trees and are actively managed 

by pruning consistent with the Officer’s knowledge of fruit production. Image 2 within 

the arboricultural impact assessment (AIA) clearly show two cut apple tree stumps, 

one of which is hollow. The Officer has confirmed they are unable to confirm if the 

removal of the trees was pre-empted by a failure or damage incident.  

 

A representation has been received from the People’s Trust for Endangered Species 

(PTES) indicating that the site meets the criteria for Traditional Orchard Priority Habitat 

being 5 or more standard fruit trees in a group managed without chemicals. The 

Orchard Biodiversity Officer on behalf of the PTES states that there has been an 

orchard on this site for well over a century, so adding to the importance of the habitat. 

They comment that the 5 or 6 existing fruit trees are likely to have veteran features 

such as crevices in the bark and hollowing heartwood, so should be treated as “ancient 

or veteran trees” as per paragraph 180(c) of the NPPF.  

 

The Senior Tree Officer notes they have carried out a desktop assessment on the 13th 

April 2023 using the Defra Magic Map service. This has not identified any published 

records referring to the apple trees being within the priority habitat (Traditional 

Orchard). The Officer confirms they are in agreement with the Aspect report findings 

related to the estimated age of the apple trees (Mitchell methodology) and concur that 

these trees are not ‘veteran’ trees based on their age or attributes. Based on the 

Officer’s experience of working within orchards in the south-west of England, they also 

estimated their age in the 25 – 40 year range.  

 

The Devon County Council Ecologist (DCC Ecologist) has confirmed that the proposal 

will lead to the loss of 6 fruit trees aged between 20-40 years old, on amenity grassland 

of low ecological value. Clarification has been provided by the consultant ecologist 

and Council’s Senior Tree Officer which confirms that none of the fruit trees onsite are 

ancient or veteran and do not constitute irreplaceable habitat as per the NPPF. The 

fruit trees have limited arboricultural value (defined as category C and U) and the 

habitats onsite are not deemed by the consultant ecologist to be currently species rich 

or of high ecological value. The proposal will result in the loss of these fruit trees and 

there is no opportunity given the size of the site and number of houses proposed to 

avoid this loss. Evidence from tithe maps shows that there has been an orchard on 

this site for over a century. When compared with the JNCC Habitat description for the 

Traditional Orchard priority habitat, it is clear that the site does not represent priority 

habitat. This is because the site has been historically managed as a garden and does 

not possess other habitat features associated with priority habitat orchards (for 

example scrub or a pond), and crucially, the site does not include a permanent grass 

sward that is usually grazed by cattle or sheep or cut for hay. When taking the above 

Page 59



into account, the DCC Ecologist agrees with the consultant ecologist and Senior Tree 

Officer that the site is not an example of priority habitat. 

 

Devon CPRE have objected to the proposal, noting it does not accord with national or 

local planning policy and that the NPPF highlights that the environmental objective of 

sustainable development should be pursued in a “positive way” (paragraphs 8 and 9), 

and that this site has been identified by the community as having natural and historic 

built environment qualities worthy of protection and enhancement, which should guide 

decision making.  

 

The Senior Tree Officer has confirmed that the development proposal requires the 

removal of a number of trees and shrub planted areas. These have been identified in 

the Tree Protection Plan (Aspect Ref: 05942 TPP 13.03.23). Trees specified for 

retention are clearly indicated within areas enclosed by tree protection measures with 

works areas requiring arboricultural method statements (AMS) identified. Tree 

removals and their relative impact on amenity and local landscape character have 

been assessed in the Aspect AIA in sections 6.3 – 6.5 and the Officer is in agreement 

with this assessment. T4 (Chusan Palm) has been identified for transplanting and an 

arboricultural method statement (AMS) will be required for this operation with a 

transplanting location identified on site. Proposed works within the root protection area 

of T7 will require further detailed discussions to ensure the AMS is properly specified 

and structured to ensure this high-quality tree remains undamaged during any 

potential development process. Crown management works to T7 have been specified 

to address overhang above the proposed development area. Tree management works 

have also been specified to G11 to prevent future spatial relationship conflicts with the 

proposed flats. These works are broadly acceptable and accord with good 

arboricultural practice. G9 has been identified for thinning from a group of 6 Chusan 

palms to 3 retained specimens. This work is broadly acceptable as a management 

objective. The Officer concludes that based on the scale and layout of the proposed 

development and the information provided, there are no arboricultural objections to 

the application. The proposed layout and elevations will not lead to future conflict or 

pressure to fell or prune G11 or W15. The proposed vehicle access will require cyclical 

maintenance to ensure high-sided vehicles can access the property. This 

management work can be addressed through existing tree maintenance contracts in 

place with the Council following the initial pruning being undertaken as part of the 

development. The spatial relationship of T7 to the existing dwelling is established.  

 

The Officer recommends that planning conditions should be applied to secure the pre-

commencement installation of tree protection measures and the submission of an 

arboricultural method statement for works within the root protection area of T7. T4 will 

require an arboricultural method statement for transplanting, replanting and aftercare. 

With the addition of these recommended conditions the proposal is considered to have 

an acceptable impact on trees in accordance with Policy C4 of the Local Plan. 

 

7. Impact on Ecology and Biodiversity 

Page 60



Policy NC1 of the Local Plan states that all development should positively incorporate 

and promote biodiversity features, proportionate to their scale. Policy TE5 of the 

Torquay Neighbourhood Plan cites that where there may be an impact development 

should be accompanied by an assessment of impacts upon any existing protected 

species or habitats and as necessary provide mitigating arrangements in order to 

protect and enhance those species and habitats. Guidance within the NPPF provides 

similar guidance to the above in that planning decisions should contribute to and 

enhance the natural and local environment and includes guidance towards minimising 

impacts on and providing net gains for biodiversity (Paragraph 174). 

 

The application is supported by a Preliminary Ecological Appraisal, a Bat 

Emergence/Activity Survey and a Reptile Presence/Likely absence Survey all dated 

May 2021.  

 

Following comments from the DCC Ecologist and comments from members of the 

public including Dartforest Ltd, a Preliminary Ecological Appraisal Update (February 

2023) and Bat Emergence/Activity Survey (May 2023) were submitted.  

 

The Preliminary Ecological Appraisal Update and Bat Emergence/Activity Survey 

reports confirmed that the survey visit did not observe any bats or evidence of bats in 

either building, although the potential roost features (prf’s)/potential access points 

(pap’s) as identified in 2021 are still present. As a result, both buildings are still 

considered as having bat roost potential. An emergence survey conducted in 2021 did 

not observe any bat emergence and the update survey conducted on the 3rd May 2023 

observed no bats emerging from either building. A single Common pipistrelle 

(Pipistrellus pipistrellus), was observed foraging intermittently within the curtilage for 

the entire survey. As the survey did not observe any bats emerging from either 

building, the report concludes that no further surveys are required to prove their 

presence/likely absence. There is still habitat present which is suitable for Slow worms 

(Anguis fragilis); a presence/likely absence conducted in 2021 observed one juvenile 

Slow worm and assessed the site as having at least a low breeding population. 

Mitigation and compensation measures are recommended to ensure the legislation 

which protects them is not contravened. No evidence of nesting birds was observed 

although they will need to be considered typically between March-August inclusive if 

found nesting in buildings or nesting in a location where they are likely to be disturbed. 

There are no priority habitats within the survey area and there was no evidence of 

other protected species such as Badger (Meles meles).  

 

The DCC Ecologist has considered the information submitted by the applicant’s 

consultant ecologist and the information submitted via objections, including that from 

Dartforest Ldt. As noted in the trees section of the report, the DCC Ecologist does not 

believe that the site meets the criteria for a priority habitat orchard and no other priority 

/ protected species associated with the orchard trees and grassland will be impacted 

(e.g. lichens). The trees onsite to be lost to development also do not contain features 

Page 61



suitable in supporting bat roosts. The habitat onsite is not of significant wildlife value 

and therefore the habitat loss associated with this application is not deemed by the 

DCC Ecologist to be contrary to local or national planning policy or legislation. Habitat 

compensation is possible as set out within the application and the landscape plan 

submitted by the applicant (Drawing Number: Drawing-818-M1 Rev D), shows the 

inclusion of 5no. Malus species to provide fruit and habitat to replace the fruit trees to 

be removed by development (including those that are dead).This landscape scheme 

is deemed sufficient in mitigation against the loss of the fruit trees onsite and at the 

very least provides a no net loss in biodiversity. The long term management of the 

proposed landscape features should be secured via a LEMP and a condition is 

recommended to ensure this.  

 

A single Common pipistrelle was observed foraging intermittently within the curtilage 

for the entire bat emergence survey and foraging and commuting bats may be 

negatively impacted by this development. The DCC Ecologist confirms that 

replacement bat foraging habitat is to be provided through the landscaping scheme 

which is suitable for the bat species recorded utilising the site and a condition requiring 

detail of external lighting is proposed to ensure an acceptable impact on bats. The 

reports submitted by the consultant ecologist are considered to be satisfactory as they 

have provided sufficient ecological rationale for the deviation away from published 

guidance in this instance. It is also noted that the site temperatures during the survey 

(as detailed in Page 6 of the submitted ecology report) were 13C at the time of survey, 

which is deemed suitable and in line with guidance.  

 

Vegetation removal and building demolition should be undertaken during winter, 

outside the bird nesting season unless the developer has been advised by a suitably 

qualified ecologist that the works will not disturb nesting birds and a condition is 

recommended to ensure this is adhered to.  

 

3 integrated multi-species bird boxes, 6 integrated sparrow terraces and 1 integrated 

swift box are recommended to ensure further bird nesting opportunities and this will 

be secured by condition. 

 

The 2023 walkover showed the site remained suitable for reptiles. Reptile refugia were 

placed amongst habitat suitable for reptiles on April 14th 2021. The refugia (corrugated 

tin sheets) were placed and left in situ for a four day period before the first survey date 

of 20th April 2021 with another four surveys carried out on the 26th, 28th, 30th & 5th 

May 2021. The survey found a single juvenile Slow worn and as a result the survey 

area is confirmed to be supporting at least a breeding population of Slow worms. 

Reptiles are assumed present in all suitable habitat. A translocation of reptiles will 

occur as per the reptile mitigation strategy report and the DCC Ecologist has confirmed 

this is acceptable and can be secured via condition. 

 

Page 62



Given the location of the site and surrounding land use and nature of the proposals, it 

is deemed unlikely that badgers or their setts would be impacted by the proposals. 

The consultant ecologist has confirmed that both the original PEA and the recent site 

visit did not observe any evidence of use by Badgers within the site boundary or in any 

area to be impacted by proposals. The site has tall stone walls around its perimeter 

which do not allow access for them and therefore it is deemed very unlikely that 

badgers will be impacted. The DCC Ecologist recommends the covering of 

trenches/suitably positioned planks to permit escape and capping of pipework 

overnight to prevent entrapment which will need to be secured via a CEMP condition. 

It is also recommended that a condition is added, that no more than 6 weeks prior to 

the commencement of any site works, a repeat survey for the presence of badgers on 

the site and surrounding suitable habitat, with associated mitigation/compensation 

measures is submitted to the Local Planning Authority.  

 

Both the DCC Ecologist and Senior Tree Officer have confirmed that the landscaping 

scheme, which has been revised during the course of the application to alter planting 

in accordance with the recommendations of these Officers, is acceptable and will 

result in a good quality scheme which softens and integrate the buildings into the 

surrounding area, whilst providing ecological mitigation and no net loss in biodiversity. 

A condition is therefore recommended to secure this landscaping to ensure it 

successfully establishes and is retained.  

 

With the conditions recommended, the DCC Ecologist confirms that it is their view that 

there are no ecological policy or legislative reasons for refusal of this planning 

application and the proposal is considered to accord with Policy NC1 of the Local Plan 

and Policy TE5 of the Torquay Neighbourhood Plan and the NPPF. 

 

8. Impact on Flood Risk and Drainage 

Policy ER1 of the Local Plan states that proposals should maintain or enhance the 

prevailing water flow regime on-site, including an allowance for climate change, and 

ensure the risk of flooding is not increased elsewhere.  

 

The site is located within the Critical Drainage Area and the application is 

accompanied by a Flood Risk Assessment. The Council's Drainage Engineer has 

been consulted on the scheme. The Officer originally noted that further information 

was required as the detailed drainage scheme submitted related to the previously 

proposed development. 

 

Further information was subsequently submitted to address the Officer’s comments 

and having considered this revised information, the Officer has confirmed that 

providing the surface water drainage is constructed in accordance with the submitted 

documents, there are no objections on drainage grounds or flood risk to planning 

permission being granted for this development. 

Page 63



 

A planning condition is therefore recommended to secure the surface water drainage 

and with the addition of this condition the proposal is considered to accord with Policy 

ER1 of the Local Plan. 

 

9. Affordable Housing Contributions 

Paragraph 64 of the NPPF states that provision of affordable housing should not be 

sought for residential developments that are not major developments, other than in 

designated rural areas (where policies may set out a lower threshold of 5 units or 

fewer). The Planning Contributions and Affordable Housing SPD (2017 and 2022) 

have agreed to apply the NPPF threshold as a material consideration, despite the 

starting point being Policy H2 of the Local Plan.  The current proposal is major in 

nature, as the new floor area created exceeds 1,000m2, and therefore it triggers the 

requirement for affordable housing contributions in Policy H2 of the Local Plan. 

  

The proposal falls within the threshold for affordable housing contributions as outlined 

in Policy H2 of the Local Plan which seeks affordable housing contributions on 

greenfield sites of three dwellings or more. For a net increase of 9 dwellings, it would 

have an affordable housing target of 15% which is usually sought through a commuted 

payment.  

 

The Council’s Hosing Strategy and Enabling Officer has confirmed that the calculation 
of the commuted payment due for the scheme is £136,500 as calculated under the 
2017 Planning Obligations SDP under transitional arrangements.  
 

The applicant has submitted a viability assessment which concludes that it is not viable 

to provide affordable housing contributions. At the expense of the applicant, this 

information has been independently assessed. The conclusion of the independent 

assessment was that the scheme can support a contribution of £65,000. The report 

recommends that a late viability review clause is added to the s106 to allow gross 

development value to be reassessed at the completion of the proposed scheme.   

 

The applicant has agreed to a s106 legal agreement to secure the required 

contribution and therefore the proposal is considered to accord with Policy H2 of the 

Local Plan and the NPPF, which allow for viability considerations to be taken into 

account.   

 

10. Designing Out Crime  

Policy SS11 of the Local Plan seeks that development proposals should help to reduce 

and prevent crime and the fear of crime whilst designing out opportunities for crime, 

antisocial behaviour, disorder and community conflict. Policy TH2 of the Torquay 

Neighbourhood Plan states that new development should provide for a safe 

Page 64



environment and consider opportunities to prevent crime or the fear of crime from 

undermining quality of life or community cohesion. 

 

The proposal does not include a scheme of designing-out crime measures. Therefore 

it is considered that a planning condition should be employed to secure a scheme of 

such prior to occupation. Subject to the use of this condition, the proposal is 

considered to be in accordance with Policy SS11 of the Local Plan, and TH2 of the 

Torquay Neighbourhood Plan. 

 

11. Low Carbon Development 

Policy SS14 of the Local Plan seeks major development to minimise carbon emissions 

and the use of natural resources, which includes the consideration of construction 

methods and materials. Policy ES1 of the Local Plan states that the Local Plan will 

seek to ensure that carbon emissions associated with energy use from new and 

existing buildings (space heating, cooling, lighting and other energy consumption) are 

limited. All major development proposals should make it clear how low-carbon design 

has been achieved, and how the following sequential energy hierarchy has been 

applied in doing so. Proposals should identify ways in which the development will 

maximise opportunities to achieve the following: 

 

1. Conserve energy by reducing energy demand through siting and design. This 

includes the use of building orientation, layout and landscaping to optimise solar 

gain, ventilation and cooling; 

2. Use energy efficiently within the fabric of the building; 

3. Incorporate the use of decentralised heat, cooling and power systems; and 

4. Use on-site or near-site renewable technologies to achieve further reductions in 

carbon emissions. 

 

The applicant has submitted a completed Torbay Sustainability Checklist. A number 

of sustainability measures are outlined within this document including that the 

development will prioritise a ‘fabric first’, passive approach. The reuse of local stone 

from the site has been adopted within the design, reducing off site transport and 

carbon emissions. Where required, new stone will be sourced locally. Existing 

boundary walls will be retained, with stone reused where discrete demolition is 

required. The central stone wall dividing the former garden plots will be reused on site 

reducing the amount of new material required. The sensitive restoration and retrofitting 

of the existing premises (Singleton Gardens) will substantially improve the energy 

efficiency of this building. This lowers embodied carbon by reusing the existing 

structural shell. The passive solar design of spaces will allow sunlight into living rooms. 

Bedrooms are prioritised at the rear (north) side to create cooler, more temperature 

stable rooms. This also means that daylighting opportunities are focused more to 

rooms requiring high levels of task lighting. All fabric will meet or exceed modern 

elemental U value and Psi value requirements. Spaces have been designed for 

Page 65



passive solar control and to make use of high thermal mass for temperature lag time 

effect. Private gardens face south east and south west allowing a variety of potential 

shading options in peak summer time. Bedrooms are prioritised at the cooler rear of 

the site, shaded by orientation and trees. This creates a more comfortable temperature 

for sleeping. 

 

The proposals exceeds the Appendix F requirements for EVCP, with 1 charging point 

provided per unit which will encourage low carbon electric car usage. Also, the new 

development will promote healthy living by securing suitable storage areas for bikes 

to give the future occupants a chance for active and healthy living.  

 

A planning condition is recommended to ensure that the development adheres to the 

measures stated within the submitted Torbay Sustainability Checklist. With the 

addition of this condition the proposal is considered to accord with Policies SS14 and 

ES1 of the Local Plan.  

 

12. Loss of a community facility and potential use of site for horticulture 

Paragraph 93 of the NPPF states that: 

To provide the social, recreational and cultural facilities and services the 

community needs, planning policies and decisions should: 

(a) plan positively for the provision and use of shared spaces, community 

facilities (such as local shops, meeting places, sports venues, open space, 

cultural buildings, public houses and places of worship) and other local services 

to enhance the sustainability of communities and residential environments; 

(b) take into account and support the delivery of local strategies to improve 

health, social and cultural well-being for all sections of the community; 

(c) guard against the unnecessary loss of valued facilities and services, 

particularly where this would reduce the community’s ability to meet its day-to-

day needs; 

(d) ensure that established shops, facilities and services are able to develop 

and modernise, and are retained for the benefit of the community; and 

(e) ensure an integrated approach to considering the location of housing, 

economic uses and community facilities and services. 

 

An application to register Singleton Gardens as an Asset of Community Value has 

been rejected by the Council  but it is still necessary to consider the objections that 

have been received related to the loss of potential use as a community garden, and 

for associated community projects, that the proposal will not add to the local 

community and that the site should be restored for use for horticulture or as a 

community garden.   

Page 66



 

The site is privately owned and is not currently in use for community purposes or for 

horticulture.  The planning history shows that development proposals have been 

promoted since 2019.  It is unclear when any substantive community or horticultural 

use ended before 2019.  Singleton Gardens has been a private house with a large 

garden for some time.  Both the horticultural use and any community use appear to 

have been minor.  Reference is made to fruit and vegetables being able to be 

purchased from a shelf behind the door on Meadfoot Sea Road (no doubt like many 

proprietors selling surplus produce by the roadside). Any community use appears to 

have ended many years ago.  There is no policy requirement for a community use or 

horticultural use in the area. There does not appear to be a realistic prospect of the 

site being used for community purposes or for a horticultural use in the future. 

 

13. Other material considerations including housing supply and the NPPF 

 

Consideration of Compliance with Policy H1 of the Local Plan: 

 

Policy H1 states that proposals for new homes within Strategic Delivery Areas, and 

elsewhere within the built-up area, will be supported subject to consistency with other 

Policies in this Plan. Policy H1 continues, proposals for new homes on unallocated 

sites will be assessed on the following criteria, proportionate to the scale of the 

proposal: 

 

1. The need to provide a range of homes, including family homes, affordable homes, 

and opportunities for self-build homes, to meet the full objectively assessed needs as 

far as is consistent with other policies in the NPPF, Local Plan and neighbourhood 

plans;  

 

Comment: The proposal seeks permission for a range of homes and apartments (a 

mixture of two (1x), three (5x) and four (1x) bedroom apartments) and three dwellings 

(3 bedrooms) and will provide a contribution to affordable housing. It is considered that 

this criteria is met. 

 

2. The maintenance of a rolling 5 year supply of deliverable sites; 

 

Comment: The Council cannot demonstrate the maintenance of a 5 year supply of 

deliverable sites. 

 

3. The opportunity to create mixed, balanced and prosperous communities, including 

employment provision, with good access to social and environmental infrastructure;  

 

Page 67



Comment:  The development will provide a range of unit sizes within an accessible 

location (1km from the centre of Torquay) with pedestrian / cycling and public transport 

infrastructure within the vicinity of the site. It is considered that this criteria is met. 

  

4. The creation of high quality living environments, including the protection of the 

amenity, recreation opportunities and access to facilities of all residents;  

 

Comment:  The development will provide a high quality living environment close to the 

centre of Torquay and Meadfoot Beach, whilst protecting amenity.  It is considered that 

this criteria is met. 

 

5. The capacity of physical, social and environmental infrastructure, including 

highways and sewerage, to accommodate development;  

 

Comment:  The development is acceptable in terms of any impact on infrastructure 

(see comments on highways and drainage above) given its small scale and its 

proximity to the services in Torquay town centre. Objectors have mentioned the impact 

on the NHS but the development is very small scale and is considered unlikely to have 

any material impact. It is considered that this criteria is met. 

 

6. The objective to maximise the re-use of urban brownfield land and promote urban  

regeneration, whilst creating prosperous and liveable urban areas;  

 

Comment:  Development in the curtilage of a dwelling is defined in the NPPF as being 

a greenfield site.  However, the site is within the built up area and affects an existing 

building whose lawful use is as a dwellinghouse. Whilst the proposal does not utilise 

brownfield land it provides homes within the built up area, thereby helping to create 

prosperous and liveable urban areas. The proposal is not considered to conflict with 

this criteria.  

 

7. The landscape and biodiversity impacts of the proposal and the objective to achieve 

a net gain in biodiversity;  

 

Comment: The proposal is considered to have an acceptable impact on trees and a 

suitable landscaping scheme has been put forward which is considered to integrate 

the development into the surrounding area. The DCC Ecologist has confirmed that the 

proposal will provide appropriate ecological mitigation and no net loss in biodiversity, 

confirming it is their view that there are no ecological policy or legislative reasons for 

refusal of this planning application. Whilst a quantified level of net gain has not been 

specified, given no net loss will occur, the proposal is not considered to conflict with 

this criteria.   

 

8. The objective to reduce the need to travel by car, whilst making appropriate 

arrangements for vehicle ownership;  

Page 68



 

Comment:  Parking is policy compliant and EVCP’s in excess of policy requirements 

are proposed. The site is in an accessible location (1km from the centre of Torquay) 

with pedestrian / cycling and public transport infrastructure within the vicinity. It is 

considered that this criteria is met. 

 

9. Consistency with other Policies in the Local Plan and neighbourhood plans. 

 

Comment The proposals are consistent with the Local Plan and Neighbourhood Plan 

Policies except in relation to the loss of garden space which provides an open aspect 

within the Conservation Area, which will not sustain and enhance Lincombes 

Conservation Area, contrary to Policy SS10 of the Local Plan. 

 

Sustainability  

 

Policy SS3 of the Local Plan establishes the presumption in favour of sustainable 

development. The NPPF definition of sustainability has three aspects which are 

economic, social and environmental. Each of which shall be discussed in turn: 

 

The Economic Role  

 

Housing development is recognised as an important driver of economic growth and 

there would be economic benefits to the construction industry from the proposed 

development.   

 

Once the dwellings are occupied there would be an increase in the level of disposable 

income from the occupants some which would be likely to be spent in the local area 

and an increase in the demand for local goods and services. 

 

The site is not located in a core tourism investment area and impacts from the 

development on tourism are considered to be negligible. 

 

There are no adverse economic impacts that would arise from this development. 

 

In respect of the economic element of sustainable development the balance is 

considered to be in favour of the development. 

 

The Social Role 

 

The principal social benefit of the proposed development would be the provision of 

additional housing. Given the NPPF priority to significantly boost the supply of housing, 

the residential units to be provided must carry weight in this balance.  The weight 

attached to the shortfall is a matter for the decision maker, acting reasonably.  Because 

Page 69



the application is for only 9 dwellings, but there is a significant shortfall, it is 

recommended that moderate weight be given to the boost in housing supply.  

 

The proposal will secure £65,000 towards affordable housing to meet the housing 

needs of local people.    

 

On balance, the social impacts of the development weigh in favour of the development. 

 

The Environmental Role 

 

With respect to the environmental role of sustainable development, for reasons set out 

in this report there is considered to be less than substantial harm to the identified 

heritage asset of the Lincombes Conservation Area. This harm is considered to be at 

the minor end of the scale. 

 

Other elements that are considered to be especially relevant to the proposed 

development are impacts on trees, biodiversity and drainage. A landscaping scheme 

has been submitted which results in no net loss of biodiversity and the proposal also 

provides low carbon and energy efficiency measures. These matters have been 

considered in detail above and weigh in favour of the proposal.  

 

The proposed development is located in a sustainable location within close proximity 

to local amenities and public transportation links. This weighs in favour of the proposal.  

 

It is concluded that the environmental impacts of the development, due to the adverse 

impact on the heritage asset weigh against the development, however the positive 

elements of the proposal in terms of a sustainable location, low carbon and energy 

efficiency measures, landscaping and drainage weigh in favour. 

 

Statement on Human Rights and Equalities Issues 

Human Rights Act - The development has been assessed against the provisions of 

the Act, and in particular Article 1 of the First Protocol and Article 8 of the Act. This Act 

gives further effect to the rights included in the European Convention on Human 

Rights. In arriving at this recommendation, due regard has been given to the 

applicant's reasonable development rights and expectations which have been 

balanced and weighed against the wider community interests, as expressed through 

third party interests / the Development Plan and Central Government Guidance. 

 

Equalities Act - In arriving at this recommendation, due regard has been given to the 

provisions of the Equalities Act 2010, particularly the Public Sector Equality Duty and 

Section 149. The Equality Act 2010 requires public bodies to have due regard to the 

need to eliminate discrimination, advance equality of opportunity and foster good 

relations between different people when carrying out their activities. Protected 

characteristics are age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, 

Page 70



race/ethnicity, religion or belief (or lack of), sex and sexual orientation. 

 

Local Finance Considerations  

S106: 

Policy H2 of the Local Plan sates that developments of over 3 residential units on 

greenfield sites should provide 15% affordable housing. The applicant has agreed to 

a S.106 legal agreement to secure £65,000 towards affordable housing contributions. 

 

CIL:  

The land is situated in Charging Zone 2 in the Council's CIL Charging Schedule; this 

means that all new floorspace will be charged at a rate of £70/sqm.   

 

The estimated CIL liability is £116,690.73. This figure is indexed linked and the final 

figure will be calculated on the day of the decision.  

 

An informative can be imposed, should consent be granted, to explain the 

applicant's/developer's/ landowner's obligations under the CIL Regulations. 

 

CIL is a “Local Finance Consideration” relevant to determining applications.  However, 

in the officer’s assessment, it is not a determining factor (either way) in the planning 

balance assessment below.  

 

EIA/HRA 

EIA:  

Due to the scale, nature and location this development will not have significant effects 

on the environment and therefore is not considered to be EIA development. 

 

HRA: 

Not applicable. 

 

Planning Balance 

This report gives consideration to the key planning issues, the merits of the proposal 

and development plan policies.  

 

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 places a duty on 

local planning authorities to determine proposals in accordance with the development 

plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.   

 

Development Plans often contain policies that pull in different directions and it is 

sometimes difficult to come to a view whether a proposal is in accordance with the 

development plan “taken as a whole”.  Whilst the proposal is supported by policies in 

the Local Plan that seek to boost housing supply, there are conflicts with the historic 

environment (Policy SS10 of the Local Plan). Whilst the harm to the character and 

appearance of the Conservation Area has been assessed as being “less than 

Page 71



substantial” it is sufficient to render the proposal not in accordance with the 

development plan.   

 

As noted above, the Council has less than 5 years housing land supply and on this 

basis the development plan must be “deemed” to be out of date. At 2.17 years supply, 

the shortfall is serious and must be given significant weight in the planning balance.  

However, the proposal is for only 9 dwellings, which reduces the weight that should 

be given to the proposal, and this weight is considered to be moderate. Out of date 

policies can still carry weight in the planning balance, but in practice attention shifts to 

other material considerations, especially the Presumption in Favour of Sustainable 

Development which is set out in paragraph 11(d) of the NPPF.   

 

Paragraph 11 of the NPPF states: 

 

Plans and decisions should apply a presumption in favour of sustainable development.  

 

For decision-taking this means:  

c) approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date development plan 

without delay; or  

d) where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which are 

most important for determining the application are out-of-date [footnote 8], granting 

permission unless:  

 

i. the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of particular 

importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed [footnote 

7]; or 

ii. any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 

benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole. 

 

The first issue is whether the application of NPPF policies related to heritage assets 

provides a clear reason for refusing the development.   

 

Paragraph 197 of the NPPF states: 

 

In determining applications, local planning authorities should take account of: 

 

(a) the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage 

assets and putting them to viable uses consistent with their conservation;  

 

(b) the positive contribution that conservation of heritage assets can make to 

sustainable communities including their economic vitality; and 

 

(c) the desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local 

character and distinctiveness. 

Page 72



 

Paragraph 199 of the NPPF states: 

 

When considering the impact of a proposed development on the significance of 

a designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset’s 

conservation (and the more important the asset, the greater the weight should 

be). This is irrespective of whether any potential harm amounts to substantial 

harm, total loss or less than substantial harm to its significance. 

 

Paragraph 202 of the NPPF states: 

 

Where a development proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the 

significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed 

against the public benefits of the proposal. 

 

When taking account of the Government’s objective of significantly boosting the supply 

of homes and the role of the construction industry in supporting economic growth, 

along with the acknowledged important contribution that small sites can make to 

meeting the housing requirement of an area and the Council’s housing land supply 

situation, the cumulative public benefits of the proposed scheme attract moderate 

weight. On that basis, although the proposal amounts to about 1.2% of the homes that 

the Standard Method require every year (9/(605+20%), there is a case to afford it more 

weight given Torbay’s reliance on small urban sites.  

   

Great weight should be given to the conservation of designated heritage assets. The 

Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires that special 

attention shall be paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or 

appearance of the Lincombes Conservation Area. However, in this case the harm 

identified to the designated heritage asset of the Lincombes Conservation Area from 

the proposal is assessed as the minor end of less than substantial harm.  

 

The public benefits in the form of the economic and social benefits include the 

economic growth and associated economic benefits to the construction industry from 

the proposed development, the proposal would also result in additional disposable 

income from the occupants. The proposal would provide housing where there is a lack 

of 5 year housing land supply and this would be located within a sustainable location. 

The proposal would also make a £65,000 contribution to affordable housing provision 

via a commuted sum payment secured via a s106. Other matters that weigh in favour 

include a landscaping and drainage scheme and the proposal promotes low carbon 

and energy efficiency measures in the building construction and promotion of EVCP 

and cycle storage. 

 

The development of the garden which provides an open aspect within the 

Conservation Area will result in less than substantial harm to the Conservation Area 

Page 73



however the development put forward is considered to be sensitively designed in 

terms of layout, siting, massing and appearance which limits the harm caused.  

 

Paragraph 202 of the NPPF indicates that proposals that result in less than substantial 

harm to the significance of designated heritage assets should be weighed against the 

public benefits of the proposal, including where appropriate securing its optimal viable 

use.  The level of harm identified is less than the threshold that would constitute a 

“clear reason” for refusal under paragraph 11(d)(i) of the Framework and the 

accompanying footnote 7.   

 

Attention then turns to Paragraph 11(d)(ii) which directs decision makers to grant 

permission unless any adverse effects of doing so would significantly and 

demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the framework taken as 

a whole. This can include a consideration of development plan policies.   

 

On balance, the public benefits of the scheme as a whole, when weighed against the 

level of harm caused, are considered to justify the proposal and the proposal is 

considered to represent sustainable development when considering the Local Plan, 

Neighbourhood Plan and NPPF taken as a whole as the adverse effects of granting 

planning permission would not significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits. 

 

Other than the harm to the Conservation Area, there are no other adverse impacts of 

granting planning permission which would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 

benefits of the development. 

 

In addition, the public benefits are a material consideration which weigh in favour of 

granting planning permission notwithstanding conflicts with some aspects of the 

development plan.    

 

The Draft NPPF   

 

For completeness, it is noted that the Government published a draft NPPF in 

December 2022, which was accompanied by a Written Statement by Michael Gove. 

The Government also published its Long term Plan for Housing in July 2022.  These 

changes could have a significant effect on the operation of five year housing supply 

and the weight given to Neighbourhood Plans.  The above does complicate the 

situation, since government policy pulls in different directions.   However, the 2021 

NPPF remains on the Government’s website with a statement that it “sets out the 

government’s planning policies for England and how they are expected to be applied”. 

The Council has not had formal notification from DLUHC or other government body 

that the 2021 NPPF has been replaced.  It is understood that the 2022 Framework will 

not be published until after the Levelling Up and Regeneration Bill receives Royal 

Assent.  

 

Page 74



On this basis, it is recommended that the council could not be unduly criticised if it 

continues to follow advice in the 2021 NPPF until it is formally replaced, as set out in 

this report.  

 

Conclusions and Reasons for Decision 

 

The Council cannot currently demonstrate a 5-year housing land supply, as sought by 

Government, and the proposal will help with the delivery of housing. Paragraph 11 of 

the NPPF outlines that decisions should apply a presumption in favour of sustainable 

development. Local Plan policies SS3, SS13 and H1 also place importance on 

maintaining five year housing supply. The provision of housing is a benefit, which 

officers have given moderate weight within the overall planning balance. In the 

absence of 5-year housing land supply the NPPF advises that the policies most 

important for determining the application should be deemed to be out of date. The 

proposal causes less than substantial harm to the character and appearance of the 

Lincombes Conservation Area.  However, this level of harm has been assessed by 

officers to constitute a lower level of harm than would constitute a “clear reason for 

refusal”. In reaching this judgement regard has been had to the LPA’s legal duty of 

paying special attention to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or 

appearance of the area.   

 

Paragraph 11 (d)(ii) of the NPPF states that where the policies which are most 

important for determining the application are out-of-date, permission should be 

granted unless 'any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably 

outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as 

a whole'.  It should be noted that the absence of a 5 year housing supply, and the 

extent of the shortfall, principally sets a higher benchmark to resist development.  

 

When weighing the public benefits of the scheme against the less than substantial 

harm identified to the Lincombes Conservation Area, it is concluded that the benefits 

outweigh the minor level of less than substantial harm caused. As such it is 

recommended that planning permission be granted. 

 

Officer Recommendation 

Approval: Subject to; 

 

The conditions as outlined below with the final drafting of conditions delegated to the 

Divisional Director of Planning, Housing and Climate Emergency; 

 

The completion of a Section 106 Agreement to secure affordable housing contributions 

of £65,000 with the addition of a late viability review clause to allow gross development 

value to be reassessed at the completion of the proposed scheme.   

 

Page 75



The resolution of any new material considerations that may come to light following 

Planning Committee to be delegated to the Divisional Director of Planning, Housing 

and Climate Emergency, including the addition of any necessary further planning 

conditions or obligations. 

 

Conditions 

 

1. Landscape and Ecological Management Plan (LEMP) 

Prior to the commencement of development (including demolition and ground works) 

or vegetation clearance works a Landscape and Ecological Management Plan (LEMP) 

shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 

content of the LEMP shall be prepared in accordance with the specifications in clause 

11.1 of BS 42020:2013 (or any superseding British Standard) and shall include the 

following: 

 

a) Description and evaluation of features to be managed. 

b) Ecological trends and constraints on site that might influence management. 

c) Aims and objectives of management. 

d) Appropriate management options for achieving aims and objectives. 

e) Prescriptions for management actions. 

f) Preparation of a work schedule (including an annual work plan capable of being 

rolled forward over a five year period). 

g) Details of the body or organisation responsible for implementation of the plan. 

h) On-going monitoring and remedial measures for biodiversity features included in 

the LEMP. 

 

The LEMP shall also include details of the legal and funding mechanism(s) by which 

the long-term implementation of the plan will be secured by the developer with the 

management body(s) responsible for its delivery. 

 

All post-construction site management shall be undertaken in accordance with the 

LEMP. 

 

No dwelling shall be occupied until the approved legal and funding mechanism(s) by 

which the long-term implementation of the approved LEMP will be secured with the 

management body(s) responsible for its delivery have been put in place and evidence 

of this has been provided to the Local Planning Authority. 

 

Reason: In the interests of the amenities of the area and biodiversity in accordance 

with Policies DE1 and NC1 of the Torbay Local Plan, Policy TE5 of the Torquay 

Neighbourhood Plan and paragraphs 58, 109 and 118 of the NPPF. 

 

Page 76



These details are required pre-commencement as specified to ensure that biodiversity 

is not harmed by building operations or vegetation removal. 

 

2. Construction Ecological Environmental Management Plan (CEEMP: 

Biodiversity) 

 

Prior to the commencement of development including ground works or vegetation 

clearance a Construction Ecological Environmental Management Plan (CEEMP: 

Biodiversity) concerning the site shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 

Local Planning Authority. The CEEMP (Biodiversity) shall include the following: 

 

a) Risk assessment of potentially damaging construction activities and identification of 

stages of works. 

b) Identification of "biodiversity protection zones". 

c) Details of working hours; Details of all plant and machinery to be used during site 

clearance and construction stage, including an inventory of all Non-Road Mobile 

Machinery (NRMM); Details of temporary lighting used in construction of for security 

reasons. 

d) Practical measures (both physical measures and sensitive working practices) to 

avoid or reduce impacts during construction 

e) The location and timing of sensitive works to avoid harm to biodiversity features. 

f) The times during construction when specialist ecologists need to be present on site 

to oversee works. 

g) Responsible persons, lines of communication and written notifications of operations 

to the Local Planning Authority. 

h) The role and responsibilities on site of an ecological clerk of works (ECoW) or 

similarly competent person. 

i) Use of protective fences, exclusion barriers and warning signs. 

j) Ongoing monitoring, including compliance checks by a competent person(s) during 

construction and immediately post-completion of construction works. 

 

The approved CEEMP shall be adhered to and implemented throughout the 

construction period strictly in accordance with the approved details.  

 

Reason: In the interests of biodiversity and to minimise impacts on protected species 

in accordance with Policy NC1 of the Torbay Local Plan, Policy TE5 of the Torquay 

Neighbourhood Plan and paragraphs 109 and 118 of the NPPF. 

 

These details are required pre-commencement as specified to ensure that biodiversity 

and protected species are not harmed by building operations or vegetation removal. 

 

3. Construction Method Statement 

No development shall take place, including any works of demolition, until a 

Construction Method Statement has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, 

the Local planning authority. The approved Statement shall be adhered to 

throughout the construction period. The Statement shall provide for:  

Page 77



 

a) The parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors.  

b) Loading and unloading of plant and materials.  

c) Storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development.  

d) The erection and maintenance of security hoarding including decorative displays 

and facilities for public viewing, where appropriate.  

e) Wheel washing facilities.  

f) Measures to control the emission of dust (and other airborne pollutants) and dirt 

during construction.  

g) A scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from demolition and 

construction works, with priority given to reuse of building materials on site wherever 

practicable.  

h) Measures to minimise noise nuisance to neighbours from plant and machinery.  

i) Construction working hours from 08:00 to 18:00 Monday to Friday, 08:00 to 13:00 

on Saturdays and at no time on Sundays or Bank Holidays. Deliveries to and 

removal of plant, equipment, machinery and waste from the site must only take place 

within the permitted hours detailed above.  

j) Procedures for maintaining good neighbour relations including complaint 

management.  

k) Mitigation measures as defined in BS 5528: Parts 1 and 2: 2009 Noise and 

Vibration Control on Construction and Open Sites shall be used to minimise noise 

disturbance from construction works. 

 

Reason: To safeguard the amenity of the locality in accordance with Policy DE3 of 

the Torbay Local Plan. 

 

These details are required pre-commencement as oversight of the development 

period is required from the outset. 

 

4. Tree protection measures 

 

Prior to the commencement of development hereby approved, the protective 

measures as stated in the approved annotated tree protection plan ‘05942 TPP 

13.03.23’ shall be implemented in full.  

 

The Local Planning Authority is to be advised in writing no less than two weeks prior 

to development commencing of the fact that the tree protection measures as 

required are in place and shall include photographic evidence. 

 

Reason: To ensure that the trees are protected from potentially damaging activities 

in accordance with Policies NC1 and C4 of the Torbay Local Plan and Policy TE5 of 

the Torquay Neighbourhood Plan. 

 

This is a condition precedent because the works comprising the development have 

the potential to harm retained trees. Therefore these details need to be agreed 

before work commences. 

Page 78



 

5. Arboricultural method statement 

 

No development shall commence until a Detailed Arboricultural Method Statement 

(“AMS”) following the recommendations contained within BS5837:2012 for works 

within the root protection area of T7 and the transplanting, replanting and aftercare of 

T4 has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

The Detailed Arboricultural Method Statement shall contain full details of the 

following:  

 

(a) Timing and phasing of arboricultural works in relation to the approved 

development;  

(b) Construction exclusion zones;  

(c) Protective barrier fencing;  

(d) Ground protection;  

(e) Details of any works within the RPA (Root Protection Area) and the proposed 

arboricultural supervision; 

(f) Service positions; and, 

(g) details of any special engineering requirements, including 'no dig construction'; 

 

The approved AMS shall be implemented and adhered to throughout the 

construction phase of the development. This condition applies to any trees and 

hedgerows on the site and on land within the ownership and control of the applicant. 

Where trees/hedgerows are not on site and not within the ownership and control of 

the applicant the AMS shall still include on-site protection measures where 

necessary. 

 

The development shall thereafter be carried out in strict accordance with the 

approved details.  

 

Reason: To ensure that all existing trees and hedges on the site and adjoining sites 

are adequately protected while development is in progress, in accordance with 

Policies NC1 and C4 of the Torbay Local Plan and Policy TE5 of the Torquay 

Neighbourhood Plan. 

 

This is a pre-commencement condition because the works comprising the 

development have the potential to harm retained trees and therefore these details 

need to be agreed before work commences. 

 

6. Repeat survey for the presence of badgers 

 

No more than 6 weeks prior to the commencement of any site works, a repeat 

survey for the presence of badgers on the site and surrounding suitable habitat, with 

associated mitigation/compensation measures, shall be submitted to and approved 

in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Works shall then proceed in accordance 

with the approved documents. 

Page 79



 

Reason: To safeguard protected and/or priority species, and to ensure biodiversity 

net gain in accordance with Policy NC1 of the Torbay Local Plan. 

 

7. Boundary treatments 

 

Notwithstanding the approved plans and details, prior to the first occupation of the 

development hereby approved, a scheme of boundary treatment shall be fully 

installed in accordance with details which shall previously have been submitted to 

and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Once provided, the 

approved boundary treatment shall be maintained and retained for the life of the 

development. 

 

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory completion of development in the interests of 

visual and residential amenity and to protect the privacy of future and neighbouring 

occupants in accordance with Policies DE1, SS10 and DE3 of the Torbay Local Plan 

and Policy TH8 of the Torquay Neighbourhood Plan. 

 

8. Stone wall details 

 

Prior to the installation of stone walling materials, sample panel(s) of all new and/or 

reused facing stonework, including in the construction of walls, shall be provided on 

site showing the proposed - 

 

Stone types, sizes, colour, texture face-bond and pointing mortar mix, joint thickness 

and finish profile. The stonework shall be laid on its natural bed and pointed in a lime 

mortar recessed from the outer face of the stone. Machine cut or sawn faces shall 

not be used. 

 

Approval of the materials and methods shall be confirmed in writing by the Local 

Planning Authority prior to installation of the materials and development shall then 

take place in accordance with the approved details. The approved sample panel(s) 

shall be retained on site until the work is completed. 

 

The development shall then proceed in full accordance with the approved details and 

shall be retained as such thereafter. 

 

Reason: In the interest of visual amenity and in accordance with Policies DE1 and 

SS10 of the Torbay Local Plan and Policy TH8 of the Torquay Neighbourhood Plan. 

 

9. Materials 

 

Prior to their installation, technical details and/or samples of the proposed exterior 

materials including wall finishes, roofing materials, eaves, fascias and rainwater 

goods shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

Page 80



The development shall thereafter be constructed in accordance with the approved 

details, and shall be retained as such for the life of the development.   

 

Reason: In the interest of visual amenity and in accordance with Policies DE1 and 

SS10 of the Torbay Local Plan and Policy TH8 of the Torquay Neighbourhood Plan. 

 

10. Window and door details 

 

Notwithstanding the approved plans and details, prior to the installation of new 

windows and doors, the following shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 

the Local Planning Authority: 

 

- Broken sections at a scale of 1:1 and elevations at a scale of 1:10, of all new 

windows and doors 

- Reveal sections, drawn to a scale of 1:1-1:10 

- Sill sections, drawn to a scale of 1:1-1:10  

- Frame and door materials 

 

The development shall then proceed in full accordance with the approved details and 

shall be retained as such thereafter. 

 

Reason: In the interest of visual amenity and in accordance with Policy DE1 and 

SS10 of the Torbay Local Plan and Policy TH8 of the Torquay Neighbourhood Plan. 

 

11. Parking provision 

 

The dwellings (including apartments) hereby approved shall not be occupied or 

brought into use until the courtyard parking area and undercroft parking area at lower 

ground floor level as detailed on approved plans ‘818.10A’ and ‘818.11A’ have been 

provided in full and are available for use. The parking areas shall thereafter be 

permanently retained for the use of parking for the associated dwelling/apartment for 

the life of the development.  

 

Reason: In accordance with highway safety and amenity, and in accordance with 

Policy TA3 of the Torbay Local Plan. 

 

12. EVCP 

 

Prior to the occupation of the new dwellings (including apartments) hereby approved, 

a scheme for the insertion of ten electrical vehicle charging points to be located 

within the site shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 

Authority. Details shall include design, location, specification and a timescale for 

insertion prior to occupation. The approved electrical vehicle charging point shall be 

installed in accordance with the approved details and shall thereafter be available for 

use, maintained and retained for the lifetime of the development.  

 

Page 81



Reason: To ensure the parking provision of the new residential units in accordance 

with the requirements of Policy TA3 of the Torbay Local Plan. 

 

13. Cycle storage 

 

Prior to the first occupation of the new dwellings (including apartments) hereby 

permitted, and notwithstanding the submitted details, provision shall be made for the 

storage of bicycles to ensure that all bicycle users can store their bicycles according 

to details which shall previously have been submitted to and approved in writing by 

the Local Planning Authority. Once provided, the agreed storage arrangements shall 

be retained for the life of the development.  

 

Reason: To ensure adequate bicycle storage facilities are provided to serve the 

development in accordance with Policy TA3 of the Torbay Local Plan. The current 

proposal for vertical bike storage is unacceptable. 

 

14. Designing out crime 

 

Prior to the first use of the development hereby approved, evidence shall be 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority to demonstrate 

that the design of the development meets Secured by Design standards as far 

as practicable. 

 

Reason: In the interests of crime prevention in accordance with Policy DE1 and 

SS11 of the Torbay Local Plan and Policy TH2 of the Torquay Neighbourhood Plan. 

 

15. External lighting 

 

Prior to the installation of any external lighting within the site, full details including 

their design, siting and levels/type of illumination shall be submitted to and approved 

in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The external lighting shall thereafter be 

installed in full accordance with the approved details. No further external lighting 

shall be provided within the site. 

 

Reason: To safeguard protected and/or priority species in accordance with Policy 

NC1 of the Torbay Local Plan. 

 

16. Landscaping 

 

All proposed planting as detailed within plan references ‘818-M1C Rev C’; ‘818-M2C 

Rev C’ and ‘818-M3(B) Rev B’ (the “landscaping scheme”) shall be planted in the 

next planting season following the commencement of the development and 

completed in full prior to the occupation of the development. The landscaping 

scheme shall thereafter be maintained for a period of 5 years from completion of the 

installation of the landscaping scheme. In the event of failure of any trees/plants, 

planted in accordance with the approved scheme, to become established and to 

Page 82



prosper for a period of five years from the date of the completion of the landscaping 

scheme, such trees/plants shall be replaced in the next planting season. The 

planting shall be maintained in accordance with the approved details. 

 

Reason: To secure a landscape scheme that will complement the development in 

the interests of visual amenity, in accordance with Policies SS8, DE1, SS10 and C4 

of the Torbay Local Plan and Policy TH8 of the Torquay Neighbourhood Plan. 

 

17. Reptile mitigation strategy 

 

Development shall be carried out in strict accordance with the mitigation and 

compensation measures set out in the approved ‘Reptile Presence/Likely Absence 

Survey Report #062b21/GLE’ (Green Lane Ecology, May 2021)’. This shall include 

the translocation of reptiles in accordance with the Report. 

 

Reason: To safeguard protected and/or priority species, and to ensure biodiversity 

net gain in accordance with Policy NC1 of the Torbay Local Plan. 

 

18. Ecology Report  

 

The recommendations and mitigation given in the 'Preliminary Ecological Appraisal 

Update #01523/GLE' dated February 2023 and the ’Bat Emergence/Activity Survey 

#04623/GLE’ dated May 2023, shall be followed, including precautions to prevent 

threat of harm during construction works and timings of works.  

 

3 integrated multi-species bird boxes, 6 integrated sparrow terraces and 1 integrated 

swift box shall be installed across the site prior to first occupation of the development 

hereby approved and shall be retained as such thereafter.  

 

Reason: To safeguard protected and/or priority species, and to ensure biodiversity 

net gain in accordance with Policy NC1 of the Torbay Local Plan. 

 

19. Bird nesting season 

 

No vegetation removal including hedgerows, trees or shrubs shall take place 

between 1st March and 31st August inclusive in any given year, unless prior to the 

commencement of works a detailed biodiversity survey by a competent ecologist has 

been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 

survey shall include the details of the check of vegetation for active birds' nests 

immediately before the vegetation is cleared and provided written confirmation that 

no birds will be harmed and/or that there are appropriate measures in place to 

protect nesting birds on the site. The development shall then be carried out in 

accordance with the details submitted.  

 

Reason: In the interests of protected species and in accordance with Policy NC1 of 

the Adopted Torbay Local Plan. 

Page 83



 

20. Bin storage 

 

Prior to the first occupation of the dwellings (including apartments) hereby permitted, 

the bin storage area detailed on approved plan ‘818.10A’ shall be installed and made 

available for use. Once provided, the agreed storage arrangements shall be retained 

for the life of the development.  

 

Reason: In interests of visual amenity and in accordance with Policies W1 and DE1 

of the Torbay Local Plan. 

 

21. Surface water drainage 

 

Surface water drainage shall be provided in accordance with the approved 'Surface 

Water Drainage Design February 2023 – P-2022-1186-9 (Drainage)' prior to first 

occupation of the dwellings (including apartments) hereby approved. Once installed 

the surface water drainage scheme shall be maintained and retained for the life of 

the development.  

 

Reason: In the interests of adapting to climate change and managing flood risk, and 

in order to accord with Policies ER1 and ER2 of the Torbay Local Plan. 

 

22. Sustainability 

 

The construction of the development hereby approved shall be carried out in 

accordance with the details contained in the approved ‘Torbay Sustainability 

Checklist – P-2022-1186-11 (Sustainability Checklist)’. All measures contained within 

the approved document to limit carbon emissions shall be implemented prior to first 

occupation of the development and shall be retained for the lifetime of the 

development.  

 

Reason: In interests of low carbon development and in accordance with Policy SS14 

and ES1 of the Torbay Local Plan. 

 

23. Removal of permitted development rights 

 

Notwithstanding the provisions of Article 3 of the Town and Country Planning 

(General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (As amended) (and any 

Order revoking and re-enacting this Order), no development of the types described 

in the following Classes of Schedule 2 shall be undertaken without the express 

consent in writing of the Local Planning Authority other than those expressly 

authorised by this permission:  

 

(a) Part 1, Class A (Extensions and alterations)  

(b) Part 1, Class AA (Enlargement of a dwellinghouse by construction of additional 

storeys)  

Page 84



(c) Part 1, Class B (Additions to the roof)  

(d) Part 1, Class D (Porches)  

(e) Part 1, Class E (Buildings incidental to the dwellinghouse)  

(f) Part 1, Class F (Hard surfaces incidental to the enjoyment of a dwellinghouse) 

(g) Part 2, Class A (Gates, fences, walls etc)  

 

Reason: In interests of visual and local amenity given the sensitive location of the 

site and the potential for these works to negatively impact on the character and 

appearance of the development, in accordance with Policies DE1 and SS10 of the 

Torbay Local Plan and Policy TH8 of the Torquay Neighbourhood Plan. 

 

Informative(s) 

 

In accordance with the requirements of Article 35(2) of the Town and Country Planning 

(Development Management Procedure) (England) Order, 2015, in determining this 

application, Torbay Council has worked positively with the applicant to ensure that all 

relevant planning concerns have been appropriately resolved. The Council has 

concluded that this application is acceptable for planning approval. 

 

Relevant Policies 

C4 – Trees, Hedgerows and Natural Landscape Features 

DE1 – Design 

DE3 – Development Amenity 

ER1 – Flood Risk 

ER2 – Water Management 

ES1 – Energy  

H1 – Applications for New Homes 

H2 – Affordable Housing 

NC1 – Biodiversity and Geodiversity 

SS3 – Presumption In Favour Of Sustainable Development 

SS10 – Conservation and the Historic Environment 

SS11 – Sustainable Communities 

SS14 – Low Carbon Development and Adaptation to Climate Change 

TA1 – Transport and Accessibility 

TA2 – Development Access 

TA3 – Parking Requirements 

TE5 – Protected Species Habitats and Biodiversity  

TH2 – Designing Out Crime 

TH8 – Established Architecture  

TH9 – Parking Facilities  

TS4 - Support for Brownfield and Greenfield development 

THW4 – Outside Space Provision 

W1 – Waste Hierarchy 

 

Page 85



 

Page 86



 
Application Site Address Molly Malones (gift Shop) 

North Quay 
Roundham Road 
Paignton 
Torbay 
TQ4 6DU 

Proposal Erection of roof canopy with rooflights and glazing to 
enclose existing terrace. Construction of WC 
building. New decking area to North. Installation of 
solar panels. 

Application Number  P/2023/0190 

Applicant/ Agent Mr Nick Bright 

Date Application Valid 17/04/2023 

Decision Due date 12/06/2023 

Extension of Time Date 01/09/2023 

Recommendation  Refusal. 

Reason for Referral to 
Planning Committee 

The application has been referred to Planning 
Committee as the proposed development is on land 
that is registered as a Torbay Council asset and an 
objection has been received, the Council's 
constitution requires that the application be referred 
to the Planning Committee for determination.  

Planning Case Officer Ross Wise 

 

Page 87

Agenda Item 6

http://www.torbay.gov.uk/


 
 
 
Site Details 
 
The site, Molly Malones, North Quay, Roundham Road, Paignton, is a café/takeaway 
kiosk, located on Paignton Harbour. The site is within the Paignton Harbour 
Conservation Area.  
 
The site forms part of the built-up area and is located within the Paignton Seafront 
Area of Special Control of Advertisement. The site is also located within 250m of the 
Roundham Head SSSI 
 
Description of Development 
 
The proposal seeks permission for the erection of a roof canopy with solar panels, 
rooflights and large amounts of glazing to enclose the existing terrace. A new decking 
area to the north and WC structure are also proposed to support the expansion of the 
kiosk. 
 
The application has been referred to Planning Committee as the proposed 

development is on land that is registered as a Torbay Council asset and an objection 

has been received, the Council's constitution requires that the application be referred 

to the Planning Committee for determination.  

 
Relevant Planning Policy Context  
 
Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 places a duty on 
local planning authorities to determine proposals in accordance with the development 
plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  
The following development plan policies and material considerations are relevant to 
this application: 
 
Development Plan 
- The Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030 ("The Local Plan") 
- The Adopted Paignton Neighbourhood Plan (BNP) 
 
Material Considerations 
- National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
- Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) 
- Published standing Advice 
-  Planning matters relevant to the case under consideration, including the 

following advice and representations, planning history, and other matters 
referred to in this report: 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 88



Relevant Planning History  
 
P/2019/1092. Replacement kiosk and construction of decking area for seating. 
Approved 20.01.2020. 
 
P/2020/0579. Replacement of kiosk and construction of decking area for seating 
(Retrospective - resubmission of P/2019/1092). Approved 11.08.2020. 
 
P/2021/0131. Extend decking area. Approved  
 
Summary of Representations  
 
At the time of writing, 1 representation, 1 objection and 2 letters of support have been 
received (these are available to read in full online). Issues raised: 
 
Objections: 
 

- Noise issues. 
 

Support:  
 

- Enhances facilities for locals and tourists year-round. 
- Toilets will reduce pressure on public toilets. 

 
Summary of Consultation Responses 
 
Torbay Harbour Authority: Having reviewed this application and spoken to the 
tenant, I would support the application. The roof canopy will look better than the current 
large umbrellas and will have a lower profile. The addition of a toilet for their customers 
would also be useful as they have events than go past the time that the public toilet 
shuts. This structure would obviously require authorisation from the Harbour Authority 
should planning consent be granted. 
 
Drainage Engineer (Torbay Development Agency): As this development is located 
in Flood Zone 1 and the increase in impermeable area as a result of the development 
is less than 20m2, I have no objections on drainage grounds to planning permission 
being granted. 
 
Community Safety: No response received. 
 
Planning Officer Assessment 
 
Key Issues/Material Considerations 
 
1. Principle of Development 
2. Impact on Heritage Assets and Design 
3. Amenity 
4. Highways, Movement and Parking  
5. Flood Risk and Drainage 
6. Low Carbon Development and Climate Change 

Page 89



 
1. Principle of Development 
The proposal is for the erection of a roof canopy with solar panels, rooflights and large 
amounts of glazing to enclose the existing terrace. A new decking area to the north 
and WC structure are also proposed.  
 
Policy TO1 of the Local Plan supports in principle the improvement of existing and 
provision of new tourist accommodation and attractions, particularly proposals that 
make positive use of Torbay's marine environment, culture, heritage, biodiversity and 
Geopark. As the proposal involves the improvement of an existing tourist facility, it is 
deemed that the principle of the development is acceptable, subject to compliance 
with other relevant Local Plan Policies. Policy TC3 of the Local Plan is applicable to 
this application, however due to the small footprint and the provision of a tourism 
facility and accords with Policy TO1 of the Local Plan, a sequential test is therefore 
not required. 
 
Policy SS4 of the Local Plan supports the regeneration of Torbay and improvement in 
its economic performance, with the aim of achieving a step-change in economic 
prosperity as set out in Torbay's Economic Strategy. The Local Plan supports existing 
businesses, it encourages new businesses and investment in order to create new jobs, 
and it enables expansion and diversification of the economy of the Bay. The Local 
Plan seeks to promote growth in sectors that are particularly important in Torbay, 
including tourism, hotel and catering. The applicant has detailed that the proposal 
would maintain two full-time and four part-time jobs. 
 
Policy PNP4 of the Paignton Neighbourhood Plan is relevant to this application, which 
states that improvement of the seafront will be encouraged, including upgrading the 
public realm and public shelters to provide enhanced seating, weather protection and 
information facilities that improve the tourism offer. It is considered that the proposal 
complies with this policy.  
 
The site is designated within Paignton Harbour as defined by Policy PNP3 of the 
Paignton Neighbourhood Plan. Policy PNP3 states improvement of the harbour will be 
encouraged and development proposals supported where they will, amongst other 
things: 
 

a) Retain the heritage features and 'quaintness' of the harbour; 
b) Continue the mix of traditional use as a working harbour, including commercial 

and residential accommodation; 
c) Attract more tourists. 

 
The proposal would provide a regenerated tourist facility with benefits for the local 
economy and the tourism industry; and would allow for the continued use of a working 
harbour. The proposal is considered to be in accordance with Policy PNP3. 
 
2. Impact on Heritage Assets and Design. 
 
Paragraph 126 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states that good 
design is a key aspect of sustainable development, creates better places in which to 
live and work and helps make development acceptable to communities. In addition, 

Page 90



paragraph 134 states that 'development that is not well designed should be refused, 
especially where it fails to reflect local design and government guidance on design'. 
Policy DE1 of the Local Plan states that proposals will be assessed against a range of 
criteria relating to their function, visual appeal, and quality of public space. Policy 
PNP1 of the Paignton Neighbourhood Plan supports a balanced delivery of growth, 
biodiversity enhancement and more sustainable means of travel. The further 
subsections of Policy PNP1(a-i) provide additional guidelines to which all development 
within the Neighbourhood Plan boundary must adhere to.  
 
Policy SS10 states that development will be required to sustain and enhance those 
monuments, buildings, areas, walls and other features which make up Torbay's built 
and natural setting and heritage, for their own merits and their wider role in the 
character and setting of the Bay. Policy HE1 states that development proposals should 
have special regard to the desirability of preserving any listed building and its setting, 
or any features of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses. 
 
The proposal is for the erection of roof canopy with rooflights and glazing to enclose 
the existing terrace. Within the roofscape would be a small solar array of 5 panels and 
5 roofights. Additionally, a new decking area is to be created to the North and a new 
WC building constructed adjacent to the existing public toilets. 
 
The site is located within the Roundham and Paignton Harbour Conservation Area 
(RPCA). The supplementary mapping contained within the Roundham and Paignton 
Harbour Conservation Area Appraisal (RPCAA) identifies the site within an area of 
open space with largely unrestricted public access. 
 
Surrounding the site are a number of key, important and listed buildings within the 
Conservation Area including Cliff cottage, Harbour Lights restaurant and the Harbour 
itself, all designated with a Grade II status. For the avoidance of doubt, the RPCA and 
the adjacent listed building are designated heritage assets. Unlisted, important and 
key buildings, as identified within the RPCAA are considered to be non-designated 
heritage assets.  
  
Present in this area are a number of significant landmark and key buildings which 
include the former coastguard station, now in use as public toilets, Harbour Lights 
restaurant, which is particularly notable from sea, and 58 Roundham Rd sited on a 
rocky outcrop with its thatch roof. 
 
Paignton Harbour itself is small in scale, unimproved, and described as organic, with 
the walls built in the local red sandstone found in Roundham itself. It is noted as being 
picturesque, also having a greater degree of intimacy than that of the other two Torbay 
harbours. 
 
By introducing a more permanent building with significant amounts of glazing the 
proposal to construct an enclosed expanded seating area would result in the 
intensification of the use and massing of the site when compared to the existing 
situation, albeit within a similar footprint. 
 
It is noted that the existing temporary covering structure does not benefit from planning 
permission and that it was granted relief from enforcement action by central 

Page 91



government during the re-opening period during/after the coronavirus pandemic. The 
existing appearance of the temporary enclosures is detrimental to the local area and 
the identified heritage assets, lacking any demonstrable quality and recognition of the 
sensitivities of the site. 
 
The design of the proposal appears to replicate the appearance of the existing kiosk, 
extending it out into the harbour area, which given the change in levels across the site, 
would now be at high level, measuring between 2.9m-4.8m. The resulting roofscape 
is proposed to be flat and installed with solar panels and roof lights.  
 
Given the significant increase in height at close proximity to the pedestrian route 
through the site, the proposed enclosure of the existing terrace and expansion of the 
seating is considered to resulting an overdevelopment of this area of the harbour, 
creating an overly dominant relationship with the pedestrian route through the site 
which also forms part of the South-West coast path. 
 
The proposed expansion of the kiosk would mask existing features of the site that 
have been identified as making this location distinctive and attractive, further 
concealing the geology and topography of the harbour area, which is described as 
intimate and picturesque. 
 
The negative impacts identified above are also further compounded by the proposed 
addition of a further additional raised seating area in front of the neighbouring listed 
building, Harbour Lights restaurant. This addition is considered to visually clutter the 
elevation detracting from its character, appearance and the quality of its setting. 
 
Further to the above, the proposal is considered to detract from the open and spacious 
nature of the Harbour area which in this case is considered to be a key characteristic 
of the site and its contribution of the Roundham and Paignton Harbour Conservation 
Area and the setting of neighbouring listed buildings, which include Cliff Cottage, 
Harbour Light Restaurant and the harbour itself. 
 
The remaining element of the proposal for consideration is the construction of a W/C 
building to the area currently used for storage of commercial bins, adjacent to the 
former Coastguard station, now in use as public toilets. A replacement location for 
refuse storage has not been identified. Without a suitable location for refuse/recycling 
storage, bins would be left within the harbour area which would detract from its visual 
appearance and would be harmful to the setting of the Conservation Area. 
 
In this instance, the proposed design is considered to overwhelm the original identity 
and typology of the kiosk, with no balance in quality. The resulting poor design and 
impact of overdevelopment identified above results in harm to both the setting of the 
Conservation Area and the setting of the adjacent listed buildings, which as noted 
above, would also be obscured by further proposed outdoor seating and cycle storage.  
 
Para 200 of the NPPF states that any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a 
designated heritage asset (from its alteration or destruction, or from development 
within its setting), should require clear and convincing justification. 
 

Page 92



It is acknowledged that a temporary covering of the seating area currently exists, and 
that the proposal seeks to provide a more permanent solution for this. From public 
vantage points around the harbour area, it is clear that the existing arrangement to 
enclose the seating area is poor quality and the massing masks the rocky outcrop 
which the buildings to the Northwest sit upon. 
 
As the proposal would have a greater degree of permanence when compared to the 
existing situation, its adverse physical impacts would also be greater. It has also not 
been demonstrated that smaller enclosed seating area has been explored, which 
would clearly have a far lesser impact. 
 
Para 202 of the NPPF states that “Where a development proposal will lead to less 
than substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm 
should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal including, where 
appropriate, securing its optimum viable use.”  
 
Due to the topography of the local area, there are a multitude of vantage points to view 
and experience the historic setting of the harbour. In this instance any public benefits 
that may arise from providing a permanently covered seating area to serve the kiosk, 
which would allow customers to appreciate the numerous heritage assets in the area 
is considered to be limited.  Whilst there may be some minor public benefit with 
regards to the benefits the scheme would have for the local economy and tourism 
offer, it can be argued that the same benefits could be achieved through a lesser, more 
sensitive scheme.  
 
Furthermore, Historic England Principles, Policies and Guidance (April 2008) 
regarding integrating conservation with other public interests, identifies that harm 
should have been reduced to the minimum whilst being consistent with achieving the 
objective. In this instance the objective of creating an enclosed seating area could be 
achieved, albeit at a much-reduced scale, without, harm to the heritage assets. 
 
Paragraph 199 of the NPPF states that: 
 
When considering the impact of a proposed development on the significance of a 
designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset’s conservation 
(and the more important the asset, the greater the weight should be). This is 
irrespective of whether any potential harm amounts to substantial harm, total loss or 
less than substantial harm to its significance. 
 
The proposal for the reasons stated above is considered to result in ‘less than 
substantial harm’ to the identified heritage assets, the conservation of which should 
be afforded great weight.  
 
The harm to the identified heritage assets and the public benefits of the proposal will 
be weighed up in the planning balance and conclusion sections of this report. 
 
The proposal for the reasons stated above fails to conserve or enhance the historic 
character and appearance of the setting of the Conservation Area and the identified 
listed buildings. The proposal would result in less than substantial harm to the 
identified heritage assets without any associated heritage benefits.  As such, the 

Page 93



proposal is considered to be contrary to Policies DE1, SS10 and HE1 of the Local 
Plan, Policy PNP1 of the Paignton Neighbourhood Plan and the guidance contained 
within the NPPF. 
 
 
 
3. Amenity 
 
The NPPF guides (Paragraph 130) that decisions should ensure that developments 
create places that are safe, inclusive, and accessible and which promote health and 
well-being, with a high standard of amenity for existing and future users.  Policy DE3 
of the Local Plan states that development proposals should be designed to ensure a 
good level of amenity for future residents or occupiers and should not unduly impact 
upon the amenity of neighbouring and surrounding uses. 
 
The site is located within the harbour area, which is characterised by large amounts 
of outdoor seating used for bars and restaurants. 
 
It is noted that concerns have been raised with regards to the impacts of noise that 
would be generated by the proposed operation of the expanded kiosk. 
 
The proposed permanent enclosure of the external seating area would increase the 
site’s current ability to limit the impact of noise on surrounding premises by providing 
permanent internal space for customers. This is likely to lessen the chances of noise-
based complaints and potential conflicts between neighbouring occupiers, most 
notably with any surrounding residential properties. In this regard, the proposal is not 
considered to adversely impact the amenity afforded to neighbours with regards to 
noise. 
 
It is considered that the proposal would not detrimentally overlook nor invade the 
privacy of adjacent neighbours.  
 
With regards to the construction phase of the proposal development, a planning 
condition requiring the submission of a Construction Method Statement which will 
stipulate construction hours to protect the amenity of adjacent occupiers is 
recommended. This is required prior to commencement as it will confirm how the 
construction process will be managed. Given the siting and orientation of the 
development, it is considered that the proposals would not result in any detrimental 
impact in terms of loss of light or overbearing impact upon adjacent neighbours.  
 
As a result of the siting, scale, and design, it is considered that the proposal would not 
result in any unacceptable harm to the amenities of the occupants of neighbouring 
buildings in terms of their privacy, outlook, or access to natural light. Subject to the 
aforementioned planning conditions, the proposal is considered to accord with Policy 
DE3 of the Local Plan. 
 
4.  Highways, Movement and Parking 
 
The NPPF guides that in assessing specific applications for development it should be 
ensured that a) appropriate opportunities to promote sustainable transport modes can 

Page 94



be – or have been – taken up, given the type of development and its location; b) safe 
and suitable access to the site can be achieved for all users; c) the design of streets, 
parking areas, other transport elements and the content of associated standards 
reflects current national guidance, including the National Design Guide and the 
National Model Design Code and d) any significant impacts from the development on 
the transport network (in terms of capacity and congestion), or on highway safety, can 
be cost effectively mitigated to an acceptable degree (Para 110).  It also furthers (Para 
111) that development should only be prevented or refused on highways grounds if 
there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual cumulative 
impacts on the road network would be severe.  
 
Policy TA1 of the Torbay Local Plan and advice contained within the NPPF principally 
seeks to develop a sustainable model of travel.  This baseline aspiration is there to try 
and meet the travel needs of everyone, whilst also reducing the need for travel and 
thus the environment impact of movement from development.   
 
Policy DE3 of the Local Plan specifies that new development proposals should have 
satisfactory provision for off-road motor vehicle parking, bicycles and storage of 
containers for waste and recycling. Policy TA2 of the Local Plan states all development 
proposals should make appropriate provision for works and/or contributions to ensure 
an adequate level of accessibility and safety, and to satisfy the transport needs of the 
development. Policy TA3 of the Local Plan details that the Council will require 
appropriate provision of car, commercial vehicle and cycle parking spaces in all new 
development. 
 
The proposal to enclose the existing external seating area with a permanent roof 
structure would not increase the capacity of the kiosk. However, it is noted that a 
further additional seating deck area is proposed to the to the Northeast, adjacent to 
the Harbour Lights restaurant. 
 
Given the sites location within the harbour area and the close proximity of locally 
available parking, both on street and in designated car parks, the proposed additional 
seating area is not considered to adversely impact the availability of locally available 
parking spaces. 
 
Additional bicycle storage is proposed within the proposed additional terrace to the 
North. Should planning permission be granted a planning condition is recommended 
to secure the details of the storage provision prior to occupation and its retention 
thereafter. 
 
Policy W1 of the Local Plan states that as a minimum, all developments should make 
provision for appropriate storage, recycling, treatment and removal of waste likely to 
be generated. 
 
It is noted that conditional approval was granted on this site for an earlier iteration of 
the kiosk (P/2020/0579) on the basis that the approved bin storage scheme was to be 
retained for the life of the development. 
 

Page 95



The proposed site layout does not indicate an area for refuse/recycling bin storage 
and has instead proposed to site a new W/C building in the place of existing 
refuse/recycling bin storage. 
 
As such the proposal would result in the loss of the existing refuse/recycling storage 
location, without provision of an alternative location within the site boundary. The 
proposal is considered to be contrary to Policies DE3 and W1 of the Local Plan. 
 
5.  Flood Risk and Drainage 
 
Policy ER1 of the Local Plan states that proposals should maintain or enhance the 
prevailing water flow regime on-site, including an allowance for climate change, and 
ensure the risk of flooding is not increased elsewhere. Policy PNP1(i) of the Paignton 
Neighbourhood Plan states that developments will be required to comply with all 
relevant drainage and flood risk policy. 
 
The site is located on the cusp of Flood Zones 2 and 3. The Council's Drainage 
Engineer raises no objections. The proposal is therefore considered to be in 
accordance with Policies ER1 and PNP1(i) of the Development Plan. 
 
6.  Low Carbon Development and Climate Change  
 
Policy SS14 of the Local Plan relates to ‘Low carbon development and adaptation to 
climate change’ and seeks to minimise carbon emissions and the use of natural 
resources.  Policy ES1 seeks to ensure that carbon emissions associated with existing 
buildings (heating, cooling, lighting and energy consumption) are limited.  
 
The Design and Access Statement notes that the proposal will be constructed with 
modern construction techniques/methods, reducing the proposals carbon footprint. 
The proposal considers the use of renewable energy (Solar Panels) to further enhance 
its self-sufficiency as a business minimising the energy consumption reducing running 
costs. Operational bi-fold doors/glazing & rooflights have been considered to maintain 
natural light whilst presenting the opportunity to open spaces allowing for natural cross 
ventilation during the summer months & closing spaces up in the winter/cooler months 
to provide a sheltered space protected from the elements. 
 
The sustainability measures outlined above are considered reasonable and if 
permission is granted a condition to secure the measures outlined within the Design 
and Access Statement is recommended to ensure compliance with Policy.  With the 
addition of this condition the development is in accordance with Policy SS14 and ES1 
of the Torbay Local Plan and advice contained within the NPPF. 
 
Sustainability 
 
Policy SS3 of the Local Plan establishes the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development. The NPPF definition of sustainability has three aspects which are 
economic, social and environmental. Each of which shall be discussed in turn: 
 
The Economic Role  
 

Page 96



The proposal would enable the continued use of the site as a café/kiosk and would 
provide an opportunity to offer increased year-round capacity within a sustainable 
location.  It is recognised that encouraging investment in businesses in order to create 
and maintain jobs, enables the expansion and diversification of the economy of the 
Bay. Investment and growth in sectors that are particularly important in Torbay, include 
tourism, hotel and catering. 
 
There are no adverse economic impacts that would arise from this development.  In 
respect of the economic element of sustainable development the balance is 
considered to be in favour of the development. 
 
The Social Role  
 
The social impact of the proposal is considered to reside in its capacity to limit the 
impact of noise on surrounding premises by providing permanent internal space for 
customers. This would lessen the chances of noise-based complaints and potential 
conflicts. 
 
Given the sites location within the harbour area, which is characterised by outdoor 
seating, on balance, the social impacts of the development have an overall neutral 
impact on the balance. 
 
The Environmental role  
 
With respect to the environmental role of sustainable development, the elements that 
are considered especially relevant to the proposed development are the impacts on 
heritage. These matters have been considered in detail above. 
 
The identified less than substantial harm to the designated heritage assets is not 
outweighed by any public benefit. As such the planning balance weighs against the 
proposed development. 
 
Sustainability Conclusion 
 
Having regard to the above assessment the proposed development is not considered 
to represent sustainable development. 
 
Statement on Human Rights and Equalities Issues 
 
Human Rights Act - The development has been assessed against the provisions of 
the Act, and in particular Article 1 of the First Protocol and Article 8 of the Act. This Act 
gives further effect to the rights included in the European Convention on Human 
Rights. In arriving at this recommendation, due regard has been given to the 
applicant's reasonable development rights and expectations which have been 
balanced and weighed against the wider community interests, as expressed through 
third party interests / the Development Plan and Central Government Guidance. 
 
Equalities Act - In arriving at this recommendation, due regard has been given to the 
provisions of the Equalities Act 2010, particularly the Public Sector Equality Duty and 
Section 149. The Equality Act 2010 requires public bodies to have due regard to the 

Page 97



need to eliminate discrimination, advance equality of opportunity and foster good 
relations between different people when carrying out their activities. Protected 
characteristics are age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, 
race/ethnicity, religion or belief (or lack of), sex and sexual orientation. 
 
Local Finance Considerations  
 
Affordable Housing:  
 
Not applicable. 
 
CIL: 
 
The CIL liability for this development is Nil. 
 
S106: n/a 
 
EIA/HRA 
 
EIA: 
 
Due to the scale, nature and location this development will not have significant effects 
on the environment and therefore is not considered to be EIA development. 
 
HRA: 
 
Not applicable. 
 
Planning Balance 
 
The planning assessment considers the policy and material considerations in detail. It 
is concluded that the proposal in terms of addressing the Development Plan would 
create a negative impact overall and would not be in keeping with the locality, which 
would have an adverse impact on the surrounding area and the identified designated 
and non-designated heritage assets in terms of its size, scale, and design. 
 
In accordance with Paragraph 199 of the NPPF, great weight should be given to the 

conservation of designated heritage assets, and the harm identified to the heritage 

assets are assessed to be ‘less than substantial harm’. Where less than substantial 

harm is identified to a heritage asset this must be weighed against the public benefits 

of the proposal.  

Whilst there may be some minor public benefit with regards to the benefits the 

scheme would have for the local economy and tourism offer, it can be argued that 

the same benefits could be achieved through a lesser, more sensitive scheme. As a 

result, the identified minor public benefits can only be given little weight in the overall 

balance. 

The minor public benefit identified is therefore not considered to outweigh the 

identified level of harm. 

Page 98



The proposed development is therefore considered to be unacceptable, having 

regard to the Torbay Local Plan, the Paignton Neighbourhood Plan, and all other 

material considerations.   

 
Conclusions and Reasons for Decision 
 
The proposal is considered to be unacceptable, having regard to the Development 
Plan, and all other material considerations. 
 
This conclusion has been reached in relation to section 16(2) of the Planning (Listed 
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 to have special regard to the desirability 
of preserving listed buildings or their setting or any features of special architectural or 
historic interest which they possess and section 72(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings 
and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 to pay special attention to the desirability of 
preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of conservation areas. 
 
Officer Recommendation 
 
Refusal: 
 
The reasons for refusal as outlined below with the final drafting of reasons delegated 
to the Divisional Director of Planning, Housing and Climate Emergency; 
 
The resolution of any new material considerations that may come to light following 
Planning Committee to be delegated to the Divisional Director of Planning, Housing 
and Climate Emergency, including the addition of any necessary further planning 
conditions or obligations. 
 
Reasons: 
 

1. Design.  
The proposed permanence of the structure, massing, expanses of glazing and 
materials are out of character for this location. The proposal would result in an 
overly dominant relationship with the adjacent pedestrian route and lack an 
appropriate response to local topography and features that make the site 
distinctive and attractive. As such the proposed development is contrary to 
Policies HE1 and SS10 of the Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030, Policies 
PNP1 of the Adopted Paignton Neighbourhood Plan 2021-2030 and guidance 
contained within the NPPF.  
 

2. Overdevelopment.  
The proposed enclosure and expansion of the seating results in an overbearing 
impact on south-west coast path that runs beside the site, creating a cramped 
layout and overdeveloped area of the harbourside. As such the proposed 
development is contrary to Policies HE1 and SS10 of the Adopted Torbay Local 
Plan 2012-2030, Policies PNP1, PNP1c and PNP3 of the Adopted Paignton 
Neighbourhood Plan 2021-2030 and guidance contained within the NPPF. 
 

3. Impact on heritage assets. 

Page 99



The poor design, lack of a designated area for refuse/recycling storage and the 
impact of overdevelopment would result in harm to the setting of the identified 
heritage assets, adversely affecting their special historic and architectural 
significance and fails to sustain or enhance the character and appearance of 
the Roundham and Paignton Harbour Conservation Areas it lies within.  As 
such the proposed development is contrary to Policies HE1 and SS10 of the 
Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030, Policies PNP1 and PNP1c of the 
Adopted Paignton Neighbourhood Plan 2021-2030 and guidance contained 
within the NPPF. 
 

4. Waste/recycling storage. 
The proposal would result in the loss of the existing refuse/recycling storage 
location, without provision of an alternative location within the site boundary. As 
such the proposed development is contrary to Policies DE3 and W1 of the 
Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030, Policy PNP1 of the Adopted Paignton 
Neighbourhood Plan 2021-2030 and guidance contained within the NPPF. 
 

 
 
 
Informative(s) 
 
In accordance with the requirements of Article 35(2) of the Town and Country Planning 
(Development Management Procedure) (England) Order, 2015, in determining this 
application, Torbay Council has worked positively with the applicant to ensure that all 
relevant planning concerns have been appropriately resolved. The Council has 
concluded that this application is acceptable for planning approval. 
 
Relevant Policies 
 
Development Plan Relevant Policies 
 
SS1 - Growth Strategy for a prosperous Torbay 
SS3 - Presumption in favour of sustainable development  
SS4 – The economy and employment. 
SS10 – Conservation and the historic environment 
SS14 – Low carbon development and adaption to climate change 
TA1 - Transport and accessibility 
TA2 - Development access 
TA3 - Parking requirements 
TO1 – Tourism, events and culture 
TC3 – Retail Development  
DE1 - Design 
DE3 - Development Amenity 
ER1 - Flood Risk 
ER2 - Water Management 
ES1 - Energy 
HE1 – Listed Buildings 
W1 - Waste management facilities 
PNP1 – Area Wide 

Page 100



PNP1c – Design Principles 
PNP1e – Commercial development 
PNP1h – Sustainable Transport 
PNP3 – Paignton Harbour 
PNP4 – Seafront 

Page 101



 

Application Site 
Address 

43 Thatcher Avenue 
Torquay 
TQ1 2PD 

Proposal Roof alterations from hipped to flat roof, to create first floor 
extension with first floor balcony to the front, replacement 
balustrade to the existing terrace and changes to fenestration. 

Application Number  P/2023/0390 

Applicant N/A 

Agent Mr Paul Rose - PMR Architecture 

Date Application Valid 09.05.2023 

Decision Due date 04.07.2023 

Extension of Time Date 08.09.2023 

Recommendation  Approval 

Reason for Referral to 
Planning Committee 

Returning following a deferral recommendation from Members 
from the previous Planning Committee on 24.07.23 

Planning Case Officer Katie Greer 

 

Location Plan: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 102

Agenda Item 7



August Committee Summary update 

 

The application was deferred from July Committee to obtain further information as 

follows: 

1. whether the proposed thickness of the floor can be reduced and revised plans 

submitted; 

2 whether the proposed height of the ceiling can be reduced and revised plans 

submitted. 

 

Reasons: 

The current design has a detrimental impact to the street scene as a result of the 

massing and height of the current proposed structure. 

 

The applicant has submitted amended plans to show the external height of the 

proposal reduced to 8.35m, resulting in a 0.6m decrease from the proposal shown at 

July Committee. The internal floors have also been reduced in thickness, the first floor 

parapet now measures 0.49m approximately, resulting in a decrease of 0.28m and the 

second floor internal floor thickness now measures 0.48m approximately, resulting in 

a decrease of 0.22m. 

 

Three of the windows to the rear northwestern elevation have been obscurely glazed 

to protect neighbouring amenity, one window remains non-glazed which serves a 

hallway which is a non-habitable room. 

 

Building Control commented as below, which confirms the internal floor heights are 

reasonable. 

 

“The Architect is correct that the U values (insulation value) for the floor of the balcony 

(also acting as a roof to the lower accommodation) has to achieve a figure of 

0.15W/m2K. This is an upgrade in the requirements of the Building Regulations from 

last year meaning additional thicknesses of insulation are required. In addition, due to 

the exposed location there is a requirement to have a 150mm upstand for the damp 

proof roof covering at the threshold of any doors, the Architect shows this. It also 

seems that the client wants a relatively level external terrace to the internal floor level 

meaning the floor finish will need to sit up on pedestals to create the level effect whilst 

still being free draining underneath for rain. The detail shown is quite common around 

and on properties on Thatcher Ave and Whidborne Ave.” 

 

The recommendation is for approval subject to conditions 

 

Previous Committee report July 2023: 

 

Site Details 

The site, 43 Thatcher Avenue, is a detached residential dwelling located along a 

Page 103



residential street. The residential dwelling is modest in scale within a large plot and 

the land slopes downwards to the south towards the coast. To the east and west of 

the site are two dwellings of similar size and to the south of the site, on the opposing 

side of Thatcher Avenue, are large dwellings that sit significantly lower than the 

dwellings to the north. 

 

The dwelling is a double-hipped pitched-roof bungalow with an integrated garage at 

lower ground floor level fronting the street. To the rear there is a subservient double-

gabled rear extension, together with flat-roofed extensions. 

 

The site is located within an existing residential area and is designated as Flood Zone 

1. There are no site-specific designations over the land. 

 

Description of Development 

The proposal is for roof alterations to remove the existing main roof at the front of the 

dwelling and replace it with a flat-roofed roof extension, creating habitable space at 

first floor level.  The proposal also includes the provision of a first-floor balcony to the 

front, and replacement balustrade to the existing ground floor terrace, together with 

changes to the fenestration. 

 

Through revised plans the proposed first floor roof extension is set in from sides and 

finished in standing seam metal cladding, a change from render. The roof extension 

is set in from the sides by 1.21m and will be increasing in height by approximately 

1.9m, making the height of the dwelling 8.9m. 

 

The proposed dwelling would resultantly have two-storeys of accommodation together 

with the existing lower-level integrated parking and would, from the front, present a 

flat-roofed building form.  

 

Relevant Planning Policy Context  

Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 places a duty on 

local planning authorities to determine proposals in accordance with the development 

plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The following development 

plan policies and material considerations are relevant to this application: 

 

Development Plan 

- The Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030 ("The Local Plan") 

- The Adopted Torquay Neighbourhood Plan 2012-2030 

 

Material Considerations 

- National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 

- Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) 

- Published standing Advice 

- Planning matters relevant to the case under consideration, including the 

Page 104



following advice and representations, planning history, and other matters 

referred to in this report: 

 

Relevant Planning History  

P/1979/2679: Sun Lounge, patio doors. Approved 30.11.1979 

P/2000/1145: Alterations and Extensions Including Sun Terrace, Turning/Parking 

Area, Workshop/Garden Store, Dining Room, En-Suite Facilities And Double 

Garage. Approved 09.11.2000 

 

Summary of Representations  

The application was publicised through neighbour notification letters. 

 

10 letters of objection have been received.  

 

Concerns include: 

- Overlooking 

- Over development 

- Impact on Local Area 

- Not in keeping 

- Sets precedent 

- Residential Amenity 

- Noise 

- Loss of light 

 

Summary of Consultation Responses 

 

Torquay Neighbourhood Forum:  

No response received. 

 

Planning Officer Assessment 

 

Key Issues/Material Considerations 

 

1. Principle of Development 

2. Impact on the Character of the Area 

3. Impact on Residential Amenity 

4. Ecology and Biodiversity 

5. Flood Risk and Drainage 

6. Highways 

7. Sustainability 

 

1. Principle of Development 

The proposal is for the roof alterations from a pitched to flat roof, to create first floor 

extension with first floor balcony to the front, replacement balustrade to the existing 

Page 105



terrace and changes to fenestration. In terms of the proposal being householder 

extension/alterations within the built-up area there are no Development Plan policies 

indicating that the proposal is not acceptable in principle.  It is important to note that 

the point of general principle is subject to broader planning policy considerations and 

other relevant material considerations, which will be discussed in more detail below. 

 

2. Impact on Visual Character 

Paragraph 126 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states that good 

design is a key aspect of sustainable development, creates better places in which to 

live and work and helps make development acceptable to communities. In addition, 

paragraph 134 states that 'development that is not well designed should be refused, 

especially where it fails to reflect local design and government guidance on design'. 

Policy DE1 of the Local Plan states that proposals will be assessed against a range of 

criteria relating to their function, visual appeal, and quality of public space. Policy DE5 

of the Local Plan states that extensions to domestic dwellings should not dominate or 

have other adverse effects on the character or appearance of the original dwelling or 

any neighbouring dwellings or on the street scene in general.  Policy TH8 of the 

Neighbourhood Plan requires that developments be of good quality design, respect 

the local character in terms of height, scale and bulk, and reflect the identity of its 

surroundings. 

 

The application proposes the alterations to the roof including the changes from a hip 

to a flat roof by increasing the ridge by approximately 1.9m. This will consist of an 

additional first floor accommodation which will include a balcony at the front and 

replacement balustrades to the existing terrace and changes to fenestration. 

 

The proposals as originally submitted presented concerns in terms of the likely 

detrimental impact upon the street scene and wider area, where the bulk and uniform 

materials would present a stark contrast with the overriding urban form and character 

of the area.  The uniformity of side building lines and the materials presenting a two-

storey rendered modern ‘box-type’ dwelling, with no obvious roof element.  

Following positive and proactive discussions to seek to overcome planning concerns, 

in line with guidance contained the NPPF, revised plans were submitted to reduce the 

upper level (first floor) on the dwelling, bringing it in from each side (1.2m each side), 

creating a more subservient addition to the dwelling. It was also suggested that the 

first floor be finished in an entirely different material to the rest of the dwelling to 

produce, in essence, a roof like feature that would be more sympathetic to the area, 

reflecting the urban form within existing street scene. The proposal before members 

is now for a roof element that is set back from the front and in from the sides and 

finished in a standing seam material to reflect the mid/dark grey of roof tiles/slates in 

the area. 

The existing streetscene is characterised by a mix of contemporary and traditional 

architecture. Contemporary alterations and wholesale redevelopments are 

intermittently present throughout the immediate residential roads and there is an 

Page 106



evolving character to the area as modernism becomes more and more apparent within 

this enclave of mid-20th century traditional building forms. 

 

Considering the revised form of development, and the mixed architectural form of the 

area, the proposal is not considered to have an adverse impact on the surrounding 

area and would sit comfortably between the pitched roof dwelling No.45 and the mixed 

architectural form of No.41, which presents a pitched and flat-roofed form. Due to the 

differing housing types and designs throughout the existing streetscene, including 

modern examples of similar dwellings located along the street, therefore the principle 

of modern design within Thatcher Avenue is considered acceptable.  

 

The additional height is considered acceptable within the immediate context and would 

not present undue conflict with the general rhythm and rise and fall of buildings heights 

following the undulating street levels. 

 

Considering the mixed building forms locally the proposal is considered to respect the 

existing streetscene in terms of its design, scale and bulk and the modern, flat roof 

design of the dwelling would not create a dominating or overbearing structure. The 

formation of the new first floor with balcony to the front is considered to be acceptable 

in terms of its size, scale and design and would be within the existing footprint of the 

dwelling. The plot is considered to be large in size, therefore the plot would comfortably 

accommodate the development without resulting in an overdeveloped or cramped site 

which would not lead to overdevelopment. 

 

The materials proposed for the scheme are a mixture of vertical timber cladding, 

render, standing seam metal cladding, roof tiles, glazed glass balustrades and grey 

UPVc windows. This a mixture of materials that respect the modern and contemporary 

design of the proposal and would maintain the modern style that the applicant is 

wanting to achieve. 

The changes to the fenestration and balustrading is considered to be in keeping with 

the modern contemporary design of the dwelling and would have a positive impact on 

the existing frontage. 

 

Given the siting, scale, and design of the proposal it is considered that the proposal 

would not result in unacceptable harm to the character or visual amenities of the 

locality and would be considered to be in accordance with Policies DE1 and DE5 of 

the Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030, Policy TH8 of the Torquay Neighbourhood Plan and 

the guidance contained in the NPPF. 

 

3. Impact on Residential Amenity 

Policy DE3 of the Local Plan states that development proposals should be designed 

to provide a good level of amenity for future residents and will be assessed in terms 

of the impact of noise, nuisance, visual intrusion, overlooking and privacy, light and air 

pollution, provision of useable amenity space, and an adequate internal living space. 

Page 107



Policy DE5 of the Local Plan states that extensions to domestic dwellings should not 

dominate or have other adverse effects on the character or appearance of the original 

dwelling or any neighbouring dwellings or on the street scene in general.  

 

10 objections have been received by neighbouring properties, with a number of 

representations from the same person. These include concerns regarding loss of light, 

privacy/overlooking, over development, impact on Local Area, not in keeping, setting 

a precedent and noise. 

 

A planning history search shows that a number of recent similar proposals, have been 

approved within the wider immediate street scenes. The proposal, given the 

amendment to the first floor is considered to be an acceptable addition to the dwelling, 

with the first floor balcony being sited within the openness of the public realm of the 

streetscene and would therefore not overlook into private neighbouring amenity space. 

Privacy screens are proposed on both sides of the first floor terrace, which will provide 

some screening into the neighbouring gardens. As previously mentioned given the 

large nature of the plot and the footprint of the dwelling not being enlarged and the first 

floor being reduced in sized, it is not considered to negatively or significantly impact 

neighbouring amenity in terms of loss of light or by being overbearing. 

 

Although the scale and bulk of the development would result in additional bulk to the 

dwelling, it would not be considered to have a material impact on the loss of light or 

outlook to neighbours. The distance between the side elevation of the recessed roof 

element with the side wall of No.41 is 5.2m and the distance between the side 

elevation of the roof extension with the main side gable end of No.45 is 5.7m. The 

height of the dwelling is increasing by 1.9m and together with the change to a flat roof 

form will increase the bulk and mass of the dwelling as experienced by these 

immediate neighbours, however the impact will not present undue harm on their 

amenity levels. The adjacent ground floor window facing the development from No.41 

is at an oblique angle and serves a lounge at ground floor level and is a secondary 

window to that room. The distance and oblique angle limits the impact. The upper floor 

window within No.45 facing the development serves a bedroom and is also a 

secondary window with the main outlook being to the front. Considering the context 

both relationships are considered acceptable and would not be unduly impact amenity 

by loss of light or outlook. 

 

The proposed balustrades on the balconies are all obscurely glazed, and privacy 

screens are proposed on the side north-eastern and south-western elevations of the 

second-floor balcony, this will help protect neighbouring privacy and is considered to 

provide adequate screening. This will also be conditioned as part of the permission so 

that it is retained for the life of the development. The addition of upper floor windows 

would not present any undue impact from overlooking to either properties, or casual 

overlooking of garden areas, which is somewhat characteristic of suburban living. 

 

Page 108



The proposal is considered to be in accordance with Policies DE3 and DE5 of the 

Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030. 

 

4. Impact on Ecology 

Policy NC1 of the Local Plan states that all development should positively incorporate 

and promote biodiversity features, proportionate to their scale. Policy TE5 of the 

Torquay Neighbourhood Plan cites that where there may be an impact development 

should be accompanied by an assessment of impacts upon any existing protected 

species or habitats and as necessary provide mitigating arrangements in order to 

protect and enhance those species and habitats. Guidance within the NPPF provides 

similar guidance to the above in that planning decisions should contribute to and 

enhance the natural and local environment and includes guidance towards minimising 

impacts on and providing net gains for biodiversity (Paragraph 174). 

 

The application has been accompanied by an ecological survey report. The report 

findings stated that there was no evidence of bats on site and no further surveys are 

required. Should planning permission by granted the recommendations of the 

ecological report should be employed through a planning condition. 

 

The proposal therefore complies with Policy NC1 of the Torbay Local Plan 2012-

2030 and Policy TE5 of the Torquay Neighbourhood Plan. 

 

5. Impact on Flood Risk and Drainage 

Policy ER1 of the Local Plan states that proposals should maintain or enhance the 

prevailing water flow regime on-site, including an allowance for climate change, and 

ensure the risk of flooding is not increased elsewhere.  

 

The site is located within the Critical Drainage Area and is accompanied by a Flood 

Risk Assessment. In this instance the development would not impact the existing 

surface water management system and would not increase the risk of flooding, as it 

sits within the existing footprint. 

 

The proposal is therefore considered to be in accordance with Policy ER1 of the 

Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030. 

 

6. Highways 

The proposed development is not impacting the parking provision on site; therefore, 

the proposal is not considered to have any impact on Highway safety. 

 

7. Sustainability 

Policy SS14 of the Local Plan relates to ‘Low carbon development and adaptation to 

climate change’ and seeks major development to minimise carbon emissions and the 

use of natural resources, which includes the consideration of construction methods 

and materials.  Policy ES1 seeks that all major development proposals should make 

it clear how low-carbon design has been achieved, and that proposals should identify 

Page 109



ways in which the development will maximise opportunities.  ES1 also states that the 

retrofit of energy efficiency measures to existing buildings will be encouraged and 

supported, and that opportunities for reducing carbon emissions associated with 

energy use will be sought through the development management process as part of 

the wider conversion/ refurbishment of buildings where planning permission is 

required. 

In order to address the above it is recommended that the applicant submit a statement 

on how this development meets the policy requirement for a low carbon development, 

which will be secured by a [laconditioned onto the permission. 

The development is, for the reasons above and subject to the detailed condition, 

considered suitable for approval, in accordance with Policies SS14 and ES1 of the 

Local Plan. 

Statement on Human Rights and Equalities Issues 

Human Rights Act - The development has been assessed against the provisions of 

the Act, and in particular Article 1 of the First Protocol and Article 8 of the Act. This Act 

gives further effect to the rights included in the European Convention on Human 

Rights. In arriving at this recommendation, due regard has been given to the 

applicant's reasonable development rights and expectations which have been 

balanced and weighed against the wider community interests, as expressed through 

third party interests / the Development Plan and Central Government Guidance. 

 

Equalities Act - In arriving at this recommendation, due regard has been given to the 

provisions of the Equalities Act 2010, particularly the Public Sector Equality Duty and 

Section 149. The Equality Act 2010 requires public bodies to have due regard to the 

need to eliminate discrimination, advance equality of opportunity and foster good 

relations between different people when carrying out their activities. Protected 

characteristics are age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, 

race/ethnicity, religion or belief (or lack of), sex and sexual orientation. 

 

Local Finance Considerations  

S106: Not applicable. 

 

CIL: Not applicable. 

 

EIA/HRA 

EIA: Due to the scale, nature and location this development will not have significant 

effects on the environment and therefore is not considered to be EIA development. 

 

HRA: Not applicable. 

 

Planning Balance 

The planning assessment considers the policy and material considerations in detail. It 

is concluded that the proposal in terms of addressing the Development Plan would 

Page 110



create a positive impact overall and would be in keeping with the existing streetscene, 

which would not have an adverse impact on the surrounding area in terms of its size, 

scale, design and impact on neighbouring amenity. The proposed development is 

considered acceptable, having regard to the Torbay Local Plan, the Torquay 

Neighbourhood Plan, and all other material considerations.  

 

Conclusions and Reasons for Decision 

The proposal is acceptable in principle and would not result in unacceptable harm to 

the character of the area or local amenity. The proposed development is considered 

acceptable, having regard to the Torbay Local Plan, the Torquay Neighbourhood Plan, 

and all other material considerations.  

 

Officer Recommendation 

That planning permission is granted, subject to the conditions stated below.  

 

Conditions 

 

 

1. Matching materials 
The development hereby approved shall be carried out using external  materials 
as specified on the plans 22.69_PL_200A and shall be retained as such 
thereafter. 
 
Reason: In the interests of the appearance of the development and the 
surrounding area in accordance with Policy DE1 of the Adopted Torbay Local 
Plan 2012-2030 and Policy TH8 of the Torquay Neighbourhood Plan.  
 

2. Materials 
Prior to the installation of the cladding to the external walls at first floor level of 
the development, details and specifications of the cladding to be used in the 
construction, should be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out only in accordance 
with the approved details and shall be retained thereafter. 
 
Reason: In the interests of the appearance of the development and the 
surrounding area in accordance with Policy DE1 of the Adopted Torbay Local 
Plan 2012-2030 and Policy TH8 of the Torquay Neighbourhood Plan. 

 

3. Privacy Screens 
Prior to the approved terrace at first floor level being brought into use, the 1.8m 
high obscure glazed privacy screen (to a minimum of Pilkington Level 4 or 
similar standard) shall be erected on the balcony’s north western and 
southwestern side, in accordance with the approved details, and shall be 
maintained and retained as such for the lifetime of the development. The height 
of the privacy screen is measured from the finished floor level of the balcony. 
 

Page 111



Reason: In the interests of adjoining amenity and in accordance with Policy 
DE3 of the Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030 and Policy TH8 of the 
Torquay Neighbourhood Plan. 
 

4. Ecological Recommendations 
The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the 
mitigation measures, recommendations and biodiversity net gain measures set 
out in the approved ecology report P-2023-0390-3, received 05.05.2023. 
 
Reason: In the interests of protected species and in accordance with Policy 
NC1 of the Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030 and Policy TE5 of the 
Torquay Neighbourhood Plan. 
 

5. Sustainability 
Prior to the commencement of the development energy efficiency measures, to 
minimise carbon production during the life of the development, shall be 
submitted and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
development shall be carried out only in accordance with the approved details 
and shall be retained thereafter. 
 
Reason: In the interests of sustainable development, and in accordance with 
Policies SS14 and ES1 of the Torbay Local Plan. 

 

Informative(s) 

 

1. In accordance with the requirements of Article 35(2) of the Town and Country 

Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) Order, 2015, in 

determining this application, Torbay Council has worked positively with the 

applicant to ensure that all relevant planning concerns have been appropriately 

resolved. The Council has concluded that this application is acceptable for planning 

approval. 

 

Relevant Policies 

DE1 – Design 

DE3 – Development Amenity 

DE5 – Domestic Extensions 

ER1 – Flood Risk 

NC1 – Biodiversity and Geodiversity 

TH8 – Established Architecture  

 

 

Page 112


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	Minutes

	5 Singleton Gardens, Torquay (P/2022/1186)
	6 Molly Malones, Paignton (P/2023/0190)
	7 43 Thatcher Avenue, Torquay (P/2023/0390)

